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CASES

ARGUED AND DETERMINED
IN THE

SUPREME COURT

OF

NORTH DAKOTA

ANDREW NYGAARD, Respondent, v. NORTHERN PACIFIC 1
RAILWAY COMPANY, a Foreign Corporation, Appellant.

(178 N. W. 961.)

Trial — questions submitted for special verdict should contain ultimate
facts.

1. Questions submitted to a jury for a special verdict should contain only
the ultimate conclusions of fact in controversy. The questions should be plain,
single, and direct. They should not comprehend issues of law except as issues
of law and fact are necessarily intermingled.

New trial — on motion court may consider its own error in submitting
special verdict.

2. In the preparation and submission of questions for a special verdict, the
trial court exercises its discretion. When it errs, in this discretion, both in
the preparation and submission of such questions to a jury, it may exercise its
discretion concerning its own error upon motion for a new trial.

New trial — court has discretion to grant for error in submission of ques-
tions for special verdict.

3. In an action for personal injuries, where a special verdict was returned
by the jury upon questions proposed that involved questions of fact, questions
of law and of fact intermingled, and conclusions of law without any instrue-
tions to the jury concerning some of the questions of law involved, and where
thereafter the trial court upon motion therefor made its order granting a new
trial, it is held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in so doing.

Opinion filed June 17, 1920. Rehearing denied September 10, 1920.
46 N. D.—1.



2 46 NORTH DAKOTA REPORTS

Action for personal injuries in District Court, Stutsman County,
Coffey, J. :

The defendant has appealed from an order granting a new trial.

Affirmed.

Young, Conmy & Young, for appellant.

Complaint cannot be made of failure to instruct unless there is a re-
quest for further instruction made. State v. Glass, 29 N. D. 620;
North Star Lumber Co. v. Rosenquist, 29 N. D. 567; State ex rel.
People v. Banik, 21 N. D. 425 ; Chrestenson v. Harms, 161 N. W. 346;
Huber v. Seiszler, 37 N. D. 556.

A finding that plaintiff was negligent or defendant negligent, or that
plaintiff had or had not assumed the risk of injury, would be a legal
conclusion on the part of the jury, and not permissible. P. C. & St.
L. R. Co. v. Burger, 124 Ind. 275, 24 N. E. 981; L. N. A. & C. R. Co.
v. Miller, 141 Ind. 533, 37 N. E. 343; Walkup v. May, 9 Ind. App
409, 36 N. E. 917; E. & T. H. R. Co. v. Taft, 2 Ind. App. 237, 28
N. E. 442; C. C. C. & St. L. R. Co. v. Hadley, 12 Ind. App. 516, 40
N. E. 760; Gaston v. Bailey, 14 Ind. App. 581, 43 N. E. 254; Leec
v. C. St. P. M. & O. R. Co. 101 Wis. 352, 77 N. W. 714; Morrison v.
Lee, 13 N. D. 600.

Assuming that additional instructions should have been given with-
out request, the error in this regard was not prejudicial. Boulger v.
N.P.R. Co. (N. D.) 171 N. W. 635; Guild v. Moore, 32 N. D. 432.

Knauf & Knauf, for respondent.

At defendant’s request, the instructions as to the law were omitted
and error created. Louisville ete. v. Frawley, 9 N. E. 594; Louisville
etc. v. Hart, 4 L.R.A. 549; Ward v. Cochran, 18 C. C. A. 7; Moline
Plow Co. v. Gilbert, 3 Dak. 239, 15 N. W. 1; North Star Lbr. Co. v.
Rosenquist, 29 N. D. 566.

All of the issues formed were not submitted. Crick v. Ins. Co. 48
N. W. 198.

The special interrogatory or verdict failing to cover the issues in
the entire case cannot control the right of the plaintiff to a general
verdict. Reed v. Lammel, 42 N. W. 202; Freidman v. R. R. Co. 71
Atl. 901; Pint v. Bauer, 16 N. W. 84; Crich v. Ins. Co. 48 N. W. 199;
Morbey v. R. R. Co. 89 N. W. 105; Hall v. Ratcliff, 24 S. E. 1011;
McDougall v. Ashland, ete., 78 N. W. 330; Baxter v. R. R. Co. 8 N. W.



NYGAARD v. NORTHERN P. R. CO. 3

645; Bank v. Peck, 8 Kan. 660; Clemenston, Special Verdicts, p.
204, :

To entitle one, submitting special inquiries to a jury, to a verdiet
on answers thereto, the inquiries must cover all of the issucs involved
in the case. Morbey v. Ry. Co. 89 N. W. 108,

Broxsown, J. Stafement.—This is an action to recover personal
injuries. The plaintiff, while employed by the defendant upon a pile
driver, as a signal man, was injured on May 18th, 1917, by the break-
ing of a rope which permitted a heavy iron bar to fall upon his back.
This rope was used to hold certain iron braces or arms in place in con-
nection with the work of the pile driver.

The complaint, as amended, alleges that the parties were then en-
gaged in interstate commerce ; that this rope, so used in connection with
the pile driver, was negligently permitted by the defendant to become
old, worn, frazzled and frayed. That it negligently failed to properly
inspect and repair such rope, although warned of and knowing its
dilapidated or frayed condition, for one or more days; that it negli-
gently failed to provide for the plaintiff a safe place to work.

The answer denies negligence on the part of the defendant and al-
leges that the plaintiff’s injury was received because of the ordinary
and usual risks of the work in which he was engaged, which he under-
stood and appreciated, and also because of his own contributing negli-
gence.

At the close of the testimony a request for a special verdict was made.
The court submitted the case accordingly to the jury for a special ver-
dict upon seventeen questions. No general verdict was returned. The
court gave no instructions to the jury whatever, excepting brief defini-
tions of the terms, “negligence,” “proximate cause,” and “ordinary
risk.”

These questions and answers are as follows:

1. Was the rope in question here, in a worn and frayed condition be-
fore the accident? A. No. The rope was old.

2. If you answer question No. 1 in the affirmative, state whether or
not the danger of accident at that time, in continuing to use it in that
condition was apparent and known to the plaintiff. A, Yes.
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3. Did the plaintiff notify Albert Berg the afternoon before the
accident, that the rope in question was in a worn and frayed condition ?
A. Yes.

4. Did Albert Berg tell plaintiff he would repair or get a new rope
by the next afternoon and that the rope in use would be all right till
then? A. No.

5. If you answer question No. 4 “Yes,” then did plaintiff continue
to use the rope in question because of that promise? A.—

6. If your answer to No. 5 is “Yes,” then did plaintiff exercise rea-
sonable care in continuing to use the rope in question, in relying upon
that promise? A. No.

7. Was the rope in question cut and the accident caused on account
of the manner in which the pile line or steel cable was placed, rather
than because of the rope being in a worn and frayed condition? A. Yes.

8. After the operation of straightening the pile was commenced, and
just before the accident happened, did Kebsgaard call to plaintiff and
say ‘“The block is pulling out” or words to that effect, and did plaintiff
look at Kecbsgaard and at tho block and laugh? A. Yes. IHe was
warned.

t 9. If your answer to the preceding question is “Yes” (if answer
is “no” no answer is necessary) then would the accident have happened
if plaintiff had heeded the warning and stopped the operation? A. Mo.

10. Was the accident in question one arising under the ordinary
risks of the kind of work which was being done at that time? A. Yes.

11. Did defendant company furnish the plaintiff with reasonably
safe appliances with which to work at time in question? A. Yes.

12. Was the rope in a worn and frayed condition at the time of
accident, or immediately before accident? A. No. The rope was old.

13. If you answer question No. 12, “Yes,” then was the worn and
frayed condition of the rope in question the proximate cause of plain-
tiff’s injurv? A. No.

14. Has plaintiff sustained permanent injuries by reason of accident
in question? A. Yes.

15. What damage in dollars and cents, if any, has plaintiff sustained
and is reasonably certain to sustain because of injuries, pain, suffering,
loss of time on account of inability to work, and expense for medical
attention growing out of accident in question? A. $7,862.
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16. Was the plaintiff himself negligent in the conduct of his work
here? A. Yes.

17. If you find plaintiff was negligent state in what sum the amount
of his damage should be reduced because of that negligence? A. $500.

TUpon such special verdict, the trial court ordered judgment in favor
of the defendant. Pursuant thereto, judgment of dismissal with costs
was entered. Thereafter, plaintiff made a motion for a,new trial upon
grounds of error at law, occurring during the trial and for failure of
the court to give to the jury instructions as to the law involved. The
trial court vacated the judgment and ordered a new trial. The defend-
ant has appcaled from such order.

Opinion.—The trial court granted a new trial: The final question
therefor is involved whether the trial court in so doing, possessed a
discretion, and whether it abused its discretion.

The jury by their special verdict have found strongly against the
plaintiff. Among the questions submitted to the jury were questions
upon the facts, upon propositions involving mixed questions of law and
fact, and upon law issues alone, or mere conclusions of law. For in-
stance, the questions which required the jury to answer whether the
plaintiff himself was negligent called for a conclusion of law. Its
consideration involved the consideration of a mixed question of law
and fact. See note in 24 L.R.A.(N.S.) 62.

In general effect, the jury found that the defendant was free from
negligence, and that the plaintiff had assumed the risk and was guilty
of contributory negligence, both upon the questions of law and of fact
as submitted.

Under the law, § 7633, Comp. Laws 1913, the duty is imposed upon
the trial court to both prepare and submit the questions for a special
verdict. It possesses a discretion concerning the manner and form of
such questions.

The cause at bar was a jury case. The issues of law therein were
for the court, and the issucs of fact for the jury. Comp. Laws 1913,
§ 7608. The submission of this case for a special verdict, instead of a
general verdict, did not transfer to the jury the issues of law committed
by law to the court.

By statute, the special verdict must present conclusions of evidence
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as established by the evidence and not the evidence to prove it and
these conclusions must be so presented that nothing shall remain for the
court except to draw therefrom conclusions of law. Comp. Laws 1913,
§ 7632. This court has held that the questions for a special verdict
should be plain, single, and direct. That they should contain only
the ultimate conclusions of fact in controversy. Russell v. Meyer, 7
N. D. 335, 47 L.R.A. 637, 75 N. W. 262; Lathrop v. Fargo-Moorhead
Street R. Co. 23 N. D. 251, 136 N. W. 88; Swallow v. First State
Bank, 35 N. D. 608, 161 N. W. 207.

Plainly, questions should not be submitted upon issues of law or that
call for conclusions of law. See note in 24 L.R.A.(N.S.) 30.

In such cases, this court has held that it is not proper for the court
to give general instructions upon the law, as in the case of a general
verdict. Morrison v. Lee, 13 N. D. 591, 598, 102 N. W. 223. That
the court should not charge the jury further than is necessary to assist
in answering the questions submitted. Lathrop v. Fargo-Moorhead
Street R. Co. 23 N. D. 251, 136 N. W. 88. That the jury are not re-
quired to find upon a fact established by the undisputed evidence.
Swallow v. First State Bank, supra.

These holdings, however, do not mean that the trial court may not
instruct, within its discretion, as the circumstances require, concern-
ing the issues upon the pleadings, the burden of proof, the legal rules
for weighing and reconciling testimony, and also the law involved in
material issues of fact submitted. See note in 24 L.R.A.(N.S.) 62.

In this case the trial court gave no instructions whatever excepting
definitions of the terms, “negligence,” “proximate cause,” and “ordi-
nary risk.” In its memorandum opinion, the trial court has justified
its order granting a new trial solely upon the ground that the instruc-
tions, as given, were insufficient for the jury to intelligently answer the
questions propounded. ’

The appellant contends, however, that the particular questions of
fact have been so completely and well answered by the jury upon which
no instructions were or should have been given, that, in any event, fur-
ther instructions would have been of no avail to the plaintiff,

To what extent the answer of the jury upon the particular questions
of fact were in any manner influenced or guided by the particular ques-
tions calling for conclusions of law or issues of mixed law and fact, or,
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to what extent, the finding of the jury that the rope involved was old,
and not in a worn and frayed condition, is affected by the findings of
the jury to the general effect that the plaintiff was negligent and as-
sumed risks and that the defendant furnished reasonably safe appli-
ances, were matters for the consideration of the trial court in its order
for judgment and its order upon the motion for a new trial. This ap-
plies where the trial court has submitted questions for a speeial verdict
not in accordance with the statutory requirements. If the trial court
has discretion in submitting such questions, it likewise has discretion
to review its own error in the exercise of such diseretion.

The trial court has determined that it erred. Although, separately
considered, it may not have erred in its instructions concerning the par-
ticular questions of fact submitted, and in submitting questions calling
for conclusions of law beyond the statutory requirements, and in fail-
ing to instruct sufficiently thereupon, nevertheless, it may not be said
that the trial court has no discretion in reviewing its action, where it
has submitted questions to the jury calling for conclusions of law, and
where it finds that, upon material law matters necessary for the jury
to answer intelligently such questions, it has failed to instruct.

The appellant further maintains that the plaintiff cannot be heard
to question the lack of instruction by reason of his failure to request
the trial court in such respects; this failure, however, may not control
the discretion of the trial court when it deems it proper to exercise its
discretion upon the double problem of having submitted to the jury
more than ultimate questions of fact and in having failed to instruct the
jury upon material law matters necessary for the jury to intelligently
answer such questions.

The appellant further maintains that the trial conrt had no juris-
diction to pass upon the motion for a new trial by reason of the failure
of the plaintiff to particularly specify the items upon which the court
failed to inmstruet. Although the plaintiff should technically have so
specified, the favorable action of the trial court in recognizing the mo-
tion and the specific grounds that might have been specified has cured
the error.

If upon all these matters the trial court should have denied the mo-
tion for a new trial, the contentions of the appellant might be consid-
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cred well taken and the order of the trial court, in such event, should
probably not be disturbed.

The further specification of the appellant that upon the undisputed
testimony the defendant was entitled to a judgment of dismissal is
without merit.

We are of the opinion that the trial comt upon this record, exereised
a discretionary right in granting a new trial and did not abuse its dls-
cretion in so doing.

The order is affirmed with costs to the respondent.

Rosixsox, J., concurs.

GRrACE, J. (concurring specially). This is an appeal from an order
granting a new trial.

It has been repcatedly held by this court that the trial court has a
wide discretion which it may exercise in granting a new trial; and that
where it does exercise that discretion, and does grant a new trial, its
order in that respect will not be disturbed, unless it appears it was a
clear abuse of discretion to have granted and made it.

The only real question presented in this appeal is whether or not the
trial court clearly abused its discretion in granting a new trial. We
are unable to say in this case that it has, and, for this reason, its order
granting a new trial should be affirmed.-

Birpzeryr, J. (dissenting). I dissent. It seems to me to be clear,
from a reading of the instructions given and the special verdict of the
jury, that the jury has disposed of every issue of fact in the case upon
which the liability of the defendant could be based, and that whatever
error there might have been incident to the failure to give more ade-
quate instructions was error favorable to the plaintiff, of which he ean-
not, of course, complain. It is inconceivable that the failure to tell the
jury that the plaintiff sustained the burden of proof was in any way
detrimental to him. The same is true with regard to the absence of
iustructions relating to the credibility of the witnesses and the duty of
the jury to weigh their testimony, for apparently the jury resolved
these questions against the plaintiff. It doubtless would have done so
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all the more readily had it been instructed that it was within its prov-
ince so to do. :

The brief instructions with reference to the mcaning of the terms
“pegligence,” “proximate cause” and “ordinary risks” are, it scems to
me, rather commendable than otherwise. As is indicated in the major-
ity opinion, these terms were properly defined. I fail to see wherein
their meaning might have been made more clear by additional exposi-
tion. We must assume that the jury was composed of intclligent per-
sons capable of understanding the simple language cmployed by the
court in defining these terms. Since a special verdiet was requested,
it was incumbent on the court to avoid, as far as possible, the giving of
instructions that would indicate to the jury the probable effect of their
answers upon the outcome of the litigation. Morrison v. Lee, 13 N. D.
591, 102 N. W. 223; Lathrop v. Fargo-Moorhead Strect R. Co. 23 N.
D. 246, 136 N. W. 88.

In addition to what has been said, and without attempting a state-
ment as to the form of question to be submitted for a special verdiet, I
respectfully dissent from that part of the majority opinion which con-
siders the question of negligence or contributory negligence for the pnr-
pose of a special verdict as a “mixed question of law and fact.” I
understand the question-of negligence to be a question of fact, and it
is none the less so because the law has undertaken to define what shall
constitute negligence. It is an inference ordinarily to be drawn from
facts proved, but it is an inference of fact. This inference must be
drawn by the jury except in those instances where the facts are con-
sistent only with the absence of reasonable care or prudence. The na-
ture of the question is in no wise changed where a special verdict is
asked for. A special verdiet does not authorize a court to draw this
inference of fact in every case. Whenever we say, as we sometimes do,
that there is negligence or contributory negligence as a matter of law,
or that there is no negligence or no contributory negligence as a matter
of law, we adopt the expression as a means of saying that the facts dis-
closed by the evidence are such as to lcave no room for an inference of
fact to the contrary.

In the instant case the jury has found ultimate facts to exist from
which it is clear that the defendant is not liable for the injury which
the plaintiff sustained.
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It further appears in this record, and particularly in the memoran-
dum opinion, that the trial court did not base the order for a new trial
upon any discretionary grounds, but solely on the ground that it erred
in a matter of law. It seems clear to me, for the reasons stated above,
that no error of law had been committed and that there is in fact no
substantial foundation for a new trial. For these reasons I am of the
opinion that it was error to grant it, and that the order appealed from
should be reversed.

I am authorized to say that Mr. Chief Justice CHRISTIANSON con-
curs in this dissent.

MARTHA STEINKE, Appellant, v. H. J. HALVORSON, North-
ern Telephone Company, a Corporation, and Northwestern Tele-
phone Exchange Company, a Corporation, Respondents.

(178 N. W. 964.)

Negligence — complaint for injury from fall into basement stairway held
to state cause of actlion.

1. In an action to recover damages for personal injuries the complaint alleges
that upon a cold day when the air was so filled with flying snow as to obscure
plaintiff’s vision and distract her attention more or less, she approached a
meat market situated in a building owned by one of the defendants and in part
occupied by the other; that there were two doors abutting the street, similar
in appearance and adjacent to each other, but some 30 feet apart, one leading
to the meat market and the other to a stairway leading to the basement of
said building. The plaintiff, mistaking the stairway door for the meat market
door, opened it and, stepping inside, was precipitated to the basement, sustain-
ing injuries. It is held, for reasons stated in the opinion, that the complaint
states a cause of action.

Negligence — facts pleaded held to warrant finding of violation of ordi-
nance against unguarded subterranean passage.

2. Where a city ordinance renders it unlawful to leave open, unguarded, or
uncovered any subterranean passage, or to suffer any opening or place of like
nature to remain in an insecure or other unsafe condition so that persons may
fall into or be otherwise injured by the same, it is held, under the facts pleaded



STEINKE v. HALVORSON 11

in the complaint, that a jury would be warranted in finding that the ordinance
was violated.

Opinion filed June 24, 1920. Rehearing denied September 10, 1920.

Appeal from District Court of Ward Countv, Leighton, J.

Reversed and remanded.

McGee & Goss, for appellant.

“The owner of a building holds it subject to the right of the public
to prescribe reasonable safeguards and regulations for its protection
and the interests of the individual must in such case give in to the re-
quirements necessary for public safety.” Russell v. Fargo, 28 N. D.
300.

“Every person has a right to assume that every other person is obey-
ing ordinances in force in the municipality in which they are staying
and may regulate his conduct accordingly, and he cannot be charged
with contributory negligence for failing to anticipate that the ordi-
nance might be violated.” 19 R. C. L. 883,

A violation of the ordinance is negligence per se. Pittsburg R.
Co. v. Hood, 36 C. C. A. 423; Coolev, Torts, §§ 736, 737; 2 Dill.
Mun. Corp. 4th ed. § 1032 ; Hayes v. Mich. Central, 111 U. S. 410.

Even an excavation entirely outside the strect line, but so near
thereto as to endanger the traveling public, is held to be a nuisance and
the continuance or maintenance thereof actionable. Rowel v. Williams,
29 Towa, 210; Smith v. Leavenworth, 15 Kan. 81; Abilene v. Cowper-
thwait, 52 Kan. 324, 34 Pac. 795; Niblett v. Nashville, 12 Heisk. 684,
27 Am. Rep. 7535 ; City Council v. Hafers, 59 Ga. 151 ; Peoria v. Simp-
son, 110 Ill. 294, 51 Am. Rep. 683; Grove v. Kansas City, 75 Mo.
672 ; Fitzgerald v. Berlin, 51 Wis. 81, 37 Am. Rep. 814, 7 N. W. 836;
Woods v. Groton, 111 Mass. 357; Boucher v. New IHaven, 40 Conn.
456.

Had the city been joined as defendant in this action in proper sea-
son it could have been held. 19 L.R.A.(N.S.) 516 and cases there
cited; Elam v. Mt. Sterling (Ky.) 117 S. W. 250, 20 L.R.A.(N.S.)
513 and extensive note at page 634 to 637, and cases cited in the note;
Smith v. Milwaukee Builders Exch. (Wis.) 30 L.R.A. 504.

“Violation of ordinance in itself gives ground for private right of
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recovery as between private persons.” See exhaustive note in 3 L.R.A.
(N.S.) 186; Sluder v. St. Louis Transit Co.; Stringer v. Ala. R. Co.
99 Ala. 397, 13 So. 75; Alabama R. Co. v. Anderson, 109 Ala. 299,
19 So. 516.

“A railroad company owes to trespassers the same as to others npon
its track the duty of obeying a municipal ordinance.” Erb v. Morasch,
8 Kan. App. 61, 54 Pac. 323; Alabama R. Co. v. Carter, 77 Miss. 511.

L. M. Ellithorpe, for respondent H. J. Halvorson.

“Where a descending stairway was parallel to the sidewalk, and
there was sufficient barrier on the side thereof, the defendant was not
bound to cause a barricr or gate to be maintained at the entrance; and
it was error to submit to the jury the question whether it was negligent
in failing to do so.” Titzgerald v. Berlin, 7 N. W. 836.

“To bolt headlong into a place little known, and where the senses
cannot take note of it, is not the act of a prudent man and there is no
chance for any other inference or deduction concerning it.” Massey v.
Seller, 45 Or. 267, 77 Pac. 397; cited and quoted with approval in
Costello v. Bank, 34 N. D. 141.

Bangs, Hamiton, & Bangs (E. A. Prendergast, of counsel), for
respondents Northern Telephone Company and Northwestern Tele-
phone Exchange Company.

Birvzerr, J. This is an appeal from an order sustaining a demur-
rer to the complaint. The action is one to recover damages for per-
sonal injury alleged to have been sustained as follows: During the
month of February, 1917, the plaintiff had occasion to go to a meat
market situated on First Avenue Southwest, in the eity of Minot, in a
Imilding owned and controlled by the defendants, the defendant North-
western Telephone Exchange Company being lessee.  The day was very
cold and the air was so filled with flying snow as to obscure the plain-
tifl’s vision and to distract her attention more or less. As the plaintiff
approached the public entrance to the meat market, she opened a door
on the south side of the building, belicving this door to be the ene
opening into the meat market, but instead it was another door in the
same building adjacent thereto but some 30 feet from the meat market
door and similar to it in appearance. The door which the plaintiff
opened led to a stairway rnning down to the basement of the build-
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ing, and as the plaintiff opened it and stepped in she fell down the stair-
way and was injured. It is charged that maintaining this stairway
entrance, abutting as it did upon the street and characterized by a sim-
ilarity of appearance to the public entrance to the meat market, was
dangerous and unsafe as to all who, being unfamiliar with the prem-
ises, might enter it by mistake; and that it was negligence on the part
of the defendants to so maintain this entrance.

It is further charged that the maintenance of this basement stairway
. entrance in the manner stated was a violation of § 21 of the municipal
ordinances of the city of Minot, reading as follows:

“It shall be unlawful for any person in the city of Minot to leave or
keep open, uncovered, or unguarded any cellar door, pit, grating, vaul,
or subterranean passage opening from, into, or upon any street, alley,
sidewalk, or public ground within the city of Minot; nor shall it be
lawful for any person to suffer any such door or vault, grating, or other
opening or place of like nature connected with the premises owned or
occupied by him to remain in an insecure or other unsafe condition so
that persons may fall into or be otherwise injured by the same.”

The first and decisive question presented upon this appeal is whether
or not the complaint states facts which, if proved, would sustain a find-
ing by the jury of negligence on the part of the defendants. Regard-
less of the decision upon this question, from a common-law standpoint,
it might also be proper to consider whether or not the ordinance applies.
For if it applics, it may have such a bearing upon the duty of the de-
fendant as either to enlarge the common-law liability or raise a pre-
8umption of negligence, and if it does not apply it is proper to so deter-
ine for the purpose of settling the law of the case for submission to
the jury in case the complaint is otherwise sufficient.

In disposing of the questions raised on this appeal, we find it con-
Venient to notice the contentions of the respondent, as these represent
the attack on the complaint.

Attention is given to the allegation that the plaintiff was an “invitee”
of the Valley Meat Market as this allegation apparently represents an
Attempt on the part of the plaintiff to give color to her presence upon
the premises which might differ somewhat from that of a trespasser,
Sven though unintentionally or merely technically such. Conceding
that if the plaintiff were a licensee upon the defendants’ premizes the
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defendants would owe her a greater duty to protect her from injury
than if she were technically a trespasser, liability is not necessarily
dependent upon the distinction. This will more fully appear from the
discussion to follow. Suffice it to say here that we find it unnecessary
to discuss liability from the standpoint of whether or not the plaintiff
was technically a trespasser.

The respondent relies upon a general rule which may be stated in
substance as follows (quoting from Gibson v. Leonard, 143 Ill. 182—
189, 32 N. W. 183, 36 Am. St. Rep. 376, 17 L.R.A. 588:

“Actionable negligence, or negligence which constitutes a good cause
of action, grows out of a want of ordinary care and skill in respect to
a person to whom the defendant is under an obligation or duty to use
ordinary care and skill. The owner of land and of buildings assumes
no duty to one who is on his premises by permission only, and is a mere
licensee, except that he will refrain from wilful or affirmative acts
which are injurious.”

That this general rule finds proper application in cases where
licensees or trespassers enter upon premises which are so situated with
reference to the public and the avenues of public travel as to involve
no special duty toward those who come upon them out of curiosity or
to subserve some private convenience, there is no room to doubt. Cusick
v. Adams, 115 N. Y. 55, 12 Am. St. Rep. 772, 21 N. E. 673; Moffatt
v. Kenny, 174 Mass. 311, 54 N. E. 851, 6 Am. Neg. Rep. 564. This
principle may also negative liability in cases like the Illinois case of
Gibson v. Leonard, supra, where a licensce is injured through using an
instrumentality such as an elevator that is in an unsafe condition but
toward whom there was no duty to maintain it in a safe condition. But
where a building situated npon a busy public strect is devoted wholly
or in part to retail commercial use and is especially designed with a
view to resort thereto by the public, we are of the opinion that there is
a duty with respect to its construction and the manner of its mainte-
nance that does not attach to premises designed purely for convenience
in carrying on some private business that is not dependent upon the
freedom of public ingress and egress.

We do not consider the general rule above stated and the adjudicated
cases in which the rule has been applied to be in point under the facts
in the instant case, nor has our attention been called to any authority
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which does seem to be in point. Yet we think the distinction suggested
above, based upon location and use, finds support in the cases relied
upon by respondent and even in the English cases where the rule of
nonliability finds its broadest application. In Hardcastle v. South
Yorkshire R. & River Dun Co. 4 Hurlst. & N. 67, 157 Eng. Reprint,
761, 28 L. J. Exch. N. S. 139, 5 Jur. N. S. 150, 7 Week. Rep. 326, it
was held that the defendant was not liable where the plaintiff’s intestate
in the night time had mistakenly deviated from an ancient footpath
and fallen into an unguarded reservoir and drowned—the reservoir be-
ing some 20 feet from the footpath. The court, in rendering the opin-
ion (Pollock, C. B.) drew a distinction based upon the degree of prox-
imity of the reservoir to the footpath, saying: ‘“We think the proper
and true test of legal liability is whether the excavation be substantially
adjoining the way.” This can only be the test of liability provided
some other consideration than the fact of the plaintiff’s being a tres-
passer is decisive. The true principle, then, would seem to be that the
duty is in proportion to the likelihood of injury to those who, at the
time, are making proper use of a public highway and are injured as a
conscquence of the dangerous character of a construction or excavation
adjacent thereto. That the test under the English authoritics is not de-
pendent upon the fact that the excavation is wholly on the land of the
defendant is further illustrated by the case of Hadley v. Taylor, I.R.
1 C. P. 53, 11 Jur. N. S. 979, 13 L.T.N.S. 368, 14 Weck. Rep. 59,
where the hole into which the plaintiff fell was separated from the high-
way by 14 inches. These authorities are commented upon in Beck v.
Carter, 68 N. Y. 283, 23 Am. Rep. 175, and in Sanders v. Reister, 1
Dak. 151, 46 N. W, 680, and the principle recognized. The later New
York case of Cusick v. Adams, supra, seems to give further recognition
to the principle in holding that the defendant was not liable for an
injury occasioned to the plaintiff by using an unsafe bridge which was
a private bridge and not adjacent to the public highway, the last fact
being emphasized. See also 3 Shearm. & Redf. Neg. 6th ed. § 703.
We are unable to perceive any distinction between the liability to
technical trespassers or licensces who are injured by reason of falling
into an unguarded excavation situated in close proximity to an avenuc
of public travel and a liability for so guarding an entrance to an exca-
vation that it is apt to be mistaken for an entrance to a public market.
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It is therefore our opinion that if the facts pleaded are proved, the
jury would be warranted in inferring that the defendant was negligent
in the manner in which it guarded the entrance to the basement where
the alleged injury took place. 3 Shearm. & Redf. Neg. 6th ed. § 704

We have had some difficulty in arriving at a conclusion as to whether
or not, under the facts pleaded, the defendants might be found to have
violated the city ordinance above referred to. It will be noted that the
ordinance purports to render it unlawful to leave open, unguarded, or
uncovered any subterrancan passage or to suffer any opening or place
of like nature to remain in an insecure or other unsafe condition so that
persons may fall into or be otherwise injured by the same. Being of
the opinion that the jury would be warranted in finding the entrance to
the basement to have been improperly guarded and the premises to this
extent to have been in an insecure and unsafe condition, it would seem
to follow that thcy would likewise be justified in concluding that the
ordinance was violated. We thercfore think it would be proper for the
trial court to instruct the jury that if they should find conditions to
exist such as are proscribed in the ordinance, and that the ordinance
was violated thereby, the defendants would be prima facie negligent.

It follows from what has been said that the complaint states a cause
of action. The order appealed from is reversed and the case remanded
for further proccedings.

Curistianson, C'h. J., and Bronsox, J., concur.

Grack, J. (specially concurring). This action, as appears from the
amended complaint, is brought to recover damages for $13,150 for per-
sonal injuries claimed to have been sustained by plaintiff, through the
negligence of the defendants, $3,150 of the damages claimed was for
loss of time, for bills of expenses incurred, such as for hospital, drug,
physicians’ and surgeons’ bills, and other necessary serviees, fees, and
expenses paid and occasioned by the injuries hereinafter set forth, Of
this amount $920 had been paid by defendant Halvorson.

Though the case was presented to this court on demurrer, it will not
be necessary to sct forth the entire amended complaint, to which the de-
murrer is interposed; but, it will suffice to set forth the material facts
and matters alleged and relied upon.

-
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From the amended complaint, it appears that defendant Halvorson,
now and during all the times mentioned, is a resident and citizen of
Minot, North Dakota, and is, and on the 19th of February, 1917, was,
the owner in fee simple of lot twelve (12), Block three (3) of the orig-
inal townsite of the city of Minot; that there was on said lot a brick
building, approximately 140 feet in length, fully covering it, and be-
neath it there was a basement.

That the Northern Telephone Company, on the day of the injury,
and for the yecar prior thereto, was a tenant in said building, and, as
such, did jointly, with the Northwestern Telephone Exchange Com-
pany, and the owner of the premises, occupy and have possession of the
entire basement underneath the building, and of the door, entrance and
stairway leading into the basement, from the south side of the build-
ing; that, on January 1, 1916, the Northwestern Telephone Exchange
Company purchased all of the corporate stock, corporation assets, and
property at Minot, North Dakota, of the Northern Telephone Com-
pany, including its lease of the said building and bascment, and of the
jeint rights of occupancy of the Northern Telephone Company, of and
to said building and basement, and thercby became the owner of the
Northern Telephone Company, defendant, and from and after January
1, 1916, did operate and conduct all of the business done at Minot,
North Dakota, of the Northwestern Telephone Exchange Company, in
the name of, and under and by and through the Northern Telephone
Company, for the use and benefit of the Northwestern Telephone Ex-
change Company, which was controlled, operated, and owned by the
Northern Telephone Company, and as a part thereof, did have the con-
trol, jointly, with said Halvorson, the owner of the building and the
leasehold premises, and the entrance into the stairway and basecment of
the building.

That the side of the building, 140 feet in length, extends along First
avenue; that there are two entrances on that side of the building, the
one where plaintiff was injured, which leads directly to the basement,
and another, 30 feet distant therefrom, which leads into the Valley
Meat Market. Each of the entrances had doors thercon.

On about noon of February 19, 1917, plaintiff went from her place

of employment in Minot, on Main street, toward the Valley Meat Mar-
46 N. D.—2.



18 46 NORTH DAKOTA REPORTS

ket, to purchase meats, and intended to enter the meat market, and
opened the door believed by her to be the door opening into the meat
market, but which was not, but was one of the same exterior appear-
ance, which was the entrance to the basement.

Extending from this door to the basement was a stairway; it was
about 12 fect from the entrance down the stairway to the floor of the
basement.

At the time plaintiff opened the door and stepped into the entrance
leading to the basement, thinking she was entering the meat market,
she was precipitated, with great force and violence down the stairway
to the bottom of the basement, a distance of about 12 feet, and thereby
sustained serious bodily injuries, alleged to be permanent.

Her right arm is alleged to have been broken or fractured in three
places, the elbow joint stiffened, her back and backbone and spinal cord
injured to such an extent as to permanently injure her nervous system,
and to cause her to be permanently hysterical, nervous, and debilitated ;
that the injuries so received have caused in her abdomen a permanent
burning sensation, very painful and disagreeable; that from said fall
and the shock thereof, she has received a nervous disease or nervous mal-
ady of permanent and incurable nature; and that thereby she has suf-
fered great mental and bodily suffering, pain, anguish and agony, and
that she will be permanently incapacitated from work and labor; that
she was confined to bed in the hospital continuously for two months,
and obliged to employ physicians and surgeons, and pay expenses of
travel to hospitals at Minneapolis from Minot, North Dakota, and to
pay physicians’ and surgeons’ fees and drug and hospital bills and ex-
penses, to the amount of approximately $750.

It is further alleged that she will be permanently incapacitated from
working, and that she has lost thirty months from labor to the date of
bringing this action, when otherwise she would have been working at a
monthly wage of $30 per month; and that she is damaged by her loss
of time in the sum of $2,400.

It appears that, at the time of the injury, she was thirty-two years
of age; that prior thereto she was sound in mind and body, and in per-
feet health, and that she was then, and for vears had been employed at
her trade as an expert saleswoman, in dry goods and department stores,
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and earning and receiving, for such services, an average wage of $80
per month.

That the entrance of the Valley Meat Market was a public entrance;
that, on the day of the injury, it was very cold, and the air filled with
flying snow, obscuring the vision and preventing her from seeing ahead
of her, and that her attention was more or less distracted.

The complaint further charges, “that the said door and doorway,
entrance, and stairway and basement, as so kept and maintained, was
dangerous and unsafe to all who, unfamiliar therewith, might enter it,
and was a dangerous pitfall and dangerous trap for the plaintiff, and
for any person unfamiliar therewith, as was the plaintiff; and who
might, believing the said doorway and entrance to be the doorway and
entrance into said meat market, in attempting to enter through it into
said meat market, but, instead, enter said door, and fall down said
stairway into said basement, as did plaintiff, on February 19, 1917.

“And that the defendant, Halvorson, as owner of the said premises,
and the Noithern Telephone Company, the Northwestern Telephone
Exchange Company, tenants thereof, carelessly, negligently, and in
violation of an ordinance of the city of Minot, as hercinafter stated,
and in disregard of the rights of the plaintiff, and all other such per-
sons as might enter said door and doorway, did jointly, negligently, and
unlawfully keep and maintain the said door, doorway, entrance, and
stairway, and such portion of said premises as was immediately adja-
cent thereto, in its open and unguarded condition, as a dangerous pit-
fall and place, dangerous to the safety of the public and the plaintiff,
and all of which was well known to be such to said owner and tenants.

“That it was then and there the duty of the defendants, ITalvorson and
the Northern Telephone Company, and the Northwestern Telephone
Exchange Company, and each and all of them, well knowing that said
Valley Meat Market was an occupant and tenant of said building of the
defendant, Halvorson, and that its customers and invitces might casily
and readily thus enter said doorway and be precipitated down said stair
into said basement, to their great injury, through mistake or inadver-
tence, while going to, and in attempting to enter, and under the belief
that they were entering, said Valley Meat Market,—to know the dan-
gers of said dangerous place threatening such invitees and persons at,
and long prior to the time that the plaintiff entered the same and was

——
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thereby injured, and to discontinue and abolish said dangerous place
and wholly remove its dangers and safegnard plaintiff from said dan-
gers, instead of negligently and unlawfully permitting the same to re-
main as such dangerous place and pitfall, to entrap this plaintiff and
others; that the defendants had, for a long time prior thercto, as plain-
tiff has subscquently been informed and believes, negligently and care-
lessly and in violation of said ordinance, permitted said danger and
dangerous place to exist.”

The ordinance pleaded, provides: “It shall be unlawful for any per-
son in the city of Minot, to leave or keep open, uncovered, or unguarded,
any cellar, door, pit, grating, or any vault or subterrancan passage,
opening from, into, or upon any strect, alley, sidewalk, or public
ground, within the city of Minot; nor shall it be lawful for any person
to suffer any such cellar, door, or vault, grating, or other opening or
place of like nature, connected with the premises, owned or occupied by
him, to remain in an insccure or other unsafe condition, so that per-
sons may fall into, or be otherwise injured by the same.”

It is alleged that the defendants, each and all of them, did, on Feb-
ruary 19, 1917, unlawfully and in violation of said city ordinance, keep
and maintain said premises in the aforesaid condition, with the cellar
door, doorway entrance and stairway, in an insecurc and unsafe condi-
tion, so that the plaintiff did fall into the cellar, through the door en-
trance and down the stairway.

The foregoing substantially sets forth the substance of the com-
plaint. The question presented is (assuming the truth of all that is
stated in the complaint), Has plaintiff a cause of action? Our answer
to this question must be in the affirmative. We are fully convinced the
complaint stated a cause of action, and that the district court erred in
sustaining the demurrer to it.

Leaving the ordinance aside for the present, we will first deter-
mine whether the complaint states a cause of action, exclusive of it; in
other words, Does the complaint state a cause of action against plain-
tiff, at common law? We think it does. We think the allegations of
the complaint were sufficient to show a cause of action against the de-
fendants for ncgligence. In other words, that the negligence of the
defendants, as alleged in the complaint, is actionable.

We think it was the duty of the defendants to use ordinary care to
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keep the premises in question in such proper condition of safety, and
to keep it free from the existence thereon of any dangerous condition,
so that anyone, rightfully entering or being thercon, and while using
ordinary care, would be reasonably safe in person.

The complaint shows there are two doors on the south side of the
building, about 30 feet apart. The doors are similar in exterior ap-
pearance, so that one desiring to enter the meat market might easily
assume the door opening into the basement was the one opening into the
meat market.

The door of the basement opened to a place of great and immediate
danger, while, for the purposes of this appeal, the door to the meat mar-
ket must be presumed to have opened to a place of safety. To main-
tain these entrances in this way, and so that the entrance to the danger-
ous place might readily be taken as the entrance to the place of safety,
constituted actionable negligence.

It was the duty of the owner of the premises, if he were to maintain
an entrance to the basement, to have it in such condition that it was not
s constant source of danger to any person, or the public, who might in-
advertently make the reasonable mistake of assuming the entrance into
the basement was that into the meat market.

The stairway leading into the basement was adjacent to the door.
The owner must have known, or must be held to have known, that, if
anyone inadvertently opened that door and stepped forward, as if to
enter the meat market, where the door was similar in appearance, that
he would be precipitated, with great force and violence, down such stair-
. way of the basement. - ERENPC

The danger was hidden, so that any person, inadvertently entering,
could not know the danger. The door was an invitation to enter; it
was not locked, nor was there any sign thereon, giving any warning of
danger.

If there had been no stairway, or, if the door opened into an clevator
shaft, it would hardly be contended that defendant was not guilty of
negligence ; yet, if either of those conditions existed, it would scarcely
be more dangerous than that which actually existed.

It appears plain that it was the duty of the defendants to keep and
maintain the entrance in question in such safe condition as to protect
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anyone from injury who might inadvertently enter, in the circum-
stances in which plaintiff therein entered.

The meat market was a place of business where anyone, and the pub-
lic in general, might make purchases and transact the kind of business
that was carried on there, and the plaintiff, as well as others, had a
lawful right, in common with others, to enter the meat market and make
such purchases as she desired; and while entering there, she was in no
sense a trespasser, for she did not go on the premises to do an unlawful
act, nor to do a lawful act in an unlawful manner; but she was law-
fully on the premises to do a lawful act; she was not a mere liconsec, as
she had a lawful right to enter and be upon the premises, for the pur-
pose of doing such business as was conducted on it, and which she, in
common with the general public, were invited to do.

The premises were in part used for the conducting of the meat mar-
ket thereon; it was conducted with the knowledge and consent of the
owner of the property; he intended that business to be conducted there.
The conducting of it was an implied invitation to the plaintiff, and all
others who might desire to transact business there, to enter upon the
premises. In such case, the owner is under obligation to use ordinary
care to effect the reasonable security of those who do enter for the pur-
poses of the invitation, and for the transaction of the business to which
the invitation rclated.

In such case, it was the duty of the owner to use ordinary care to
keep the premises in a safe condition, in order that no injury might be
suffered by those invited, while they were on the premises.

The plaintiff had a lawful right to enter upon the premises, the same
as she had a right to enter any other place of business open to the pub-
lic; and she intended to enter the meat market when she inadvertently
entered the door to the bascment.

Taking up now the consideration of the question of whether or not.
plaintiff has a cause of action, by reason of the violation of the ordi-
nance above sct forth, resulting in injury, on the theory that such is
negligence of the owner and occupants, under that part of the ordinance
which provides: “Nor shall it be lawful for any person to suffer any
such cellar, door or vault, grating or other opening or place of like na-
ture, connected with the premises, owned or occupied by him, to remain
in an insecure or other unsafe condition, so that persons may fall into,
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or be otherwise injured by the same,” we think she has a cause of ac-
tion.

We think the complaint sufficiently shows that the door at the en-
trance of the basement was in an insecure and unsafe condition, so that
persons might fall into, or be otherwise injured by the same, for there
was nothing to prevent anyone from inadvertently opening this door
and stepping into the basement, while their thought would be, they
were entering the meat market.

There is nothing to show there was any notice on the door, such as
“Not for public use” or “Keep out,” such as might be some notice to
the public, but we must assume that the doors were entirely unprotected
and unguarded, and that the public had 1o notice of the dangerous con-
dition existing.

It is apparent that the door itself was no protection, for if the door
had not been there, the danger would have been apparent. It would
secm that the entrance was more dangerous with than without the door,
for with the door the danger was hidden.

We are of the opinion that the maintaining of the entrance to the
basement, in the dangerous condition that it was maintained, was a
violation of that part of the ordinance particularly referred to, and, as
such, constitutional actionable negligence ; and that the complaint, in this
regard, states a cause of action.

For the foregoing reasons, we think, the demurrer should have been
overruled.

Rosinson, J. (dissenting). This is an action peculiar to the city of
Minot. The plaintiff appeals from an order sustaining a demurrer to
the complaint. As she avers, on a cold day in February, 1917, when
the flying snow obscured her vision and distracted her attention, she
went along First avenue to her meat market, which was in a building
owned or occupied by the defendants. As she went along the side of
the building she came to a door within 30 feet of her market, and mis-
taking it for the market door, which it resembled, she opened the same,
entered the building, fell down a stairway into the basement and was
geriously injured. The basement stairway she avers was unguarded
and open and unprotected, and it had no railing. She says not a word
concerning the width of the stairway, the manner of its construction or
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as to how it came to be dangerous. Aside from the lack of a railing, it
may have been a perfect and ideal stairway. She says not a word con-
cerning the door which she opened and entered only that it was similar
to the door of the meat market, with a similar entrance and on the same
street.

She avers that at the time of the accident there was in force a city
ordinance which made it unlawful to leave or keep open, uncovered, or
unguarded any cellar door, pit, grating from, into or upon any street.
But manifestly the ordinance has no bearing on this case. The ordi-
nance does not forbid the construction of a basement stairway with a
good door, nor does it require the door to be kept locked, barred, or
bolted. In the opinion of Justice Grace it is said: ‘“The door was an
invitation to a person to enter and there was no sign on it giving a warn-
ing of danger.” DBut that is error. The complaint does not contain a
word concerning a sign on the door, and it is not true that a door is an
invitation to enter it. On the contrary, it is a warning for strangers to
keep away unless it be the door of a bank or business house, with a sign
inviting entrance for business purposes.

As it appears, the plaintiff opened the door and entered. She did
not usge her eyes and look around and notice the difference between a
small basement entrance and the big meat market. As usual, the door
must have opened inward, but she did not hold onto the knob or the
latch of the door and make sure of her footing. She just stepped for-
ward or onto the first landing of the stairway and tumbled or rolled to
the bottom.

Now the questions are: How have the defendants failed to observe
any obligation to the plaintiff? And, if her injury was the result of
her own negligence or the want of ordinary care, on what principle of
law may she recover damages?

“An obligation is a legal duty by which a person is bound to do or not
to do a certain thing.” Comp. Laws, § 5763. ,

“Every person is bound without contract to abstain from injury to
the person or property of another, or infringe upon any of his rights.
Scetion 5942.

“Every person is responsible for, not only the result of his wilful act,
but also for an injury occasioned to another by his want of ordinary
care in the management of his property or person, except so far as the
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latter has wilfully or by want of ordinary care brought the injury upon
himself.” Section 5948.

That is the law of the case. Now the question is, Does the com-
plaint state facts showing an injury occasioned to the plaintiff by the
want of ordinary care in the construction of the basement way or the
door to it; or does it appear that by the want of ordinary care the plain-
tiff brought the injury upon herself. “Negligence is the lack of ordi-
nary care. It imports a want of such attention to the nature and prob-
able consequences of an act or omission as a prudent man ordinarily
bestows on his own concerns.” Section 10358. Does it appecar that in
the act of opening the basement door and advancing onto the stairway
the plaintiff used the care that a prudent man or woman ordinarily
uses? As an excuse, she avers that the day was very cold and the air
was filled with flying snow, obscuring her vision and engaging and dis-
tracting her attention. But that was her own misfortune, and not the
fault of defendants. It shows that she should have been doubly careful.
It was at noonday that she went out from the place of her employment
into the cold and snow. She took the risks of the storm and the risk of
her distracted attention, and the chances are that she took the risk of
fashionable high heeled shoes with narrow pointed toes. To a person
of ordinary prudence and presence of mind, neither the bascment stair-
way nor its closed door presented a trap, a pitfall, or a place of danger.
Certain it is the complaint does not state facts showing any defect in
the construction of the door or the stairway, and whether defective or
not, the plaintiff had no right, license, or occasion to use the same.

In the brief of counsel for defendant this proposition is stated and
well sustained by authorities: “In order to constitute actionable negli-
gence, there must exist two essential elements, namely, a duty or obli-
gation which the defendant is under to protect the plaintiff from in-
jury, and a failure to discharge the duty.” Mecans v. Southern Cali-
fornia R. Co. 144 Cal. 473, 77 Pac. 1002, 17 Am. Neg. Rep. 1, 1 Ann.
Cas. 206; Kennedy v. Chase, 119 Cal. 642, 63 Am. St. Rep. 153, 52
Pac. 33, 3 Am. Neg. Rep. 520; Gibson v. Leonard, 143 Ill. 189, 17
L.R.A. 588, 36 Am. St. Rep. 376, 32 N. E. 182; Cusick v. Adams, 115
N. Y. 59, 12 Am. St. Rep. 772, 21 N. E. 673; Moffatt v. Kenny, 174
Mass. 315, 54 N. E. 850, 6 Am. Neg. Rep. 564; Rooney v. Woolworth,
74 Conn. 720, 52 Atl. 411,
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The correctness of the above rule is conceded by Mr. Justice Dird-
zell, but without any averment of the complaint he assumes that there
was some defect in the construction of the building, the door, or the
stairway. He says: “But when a building situated upon a public
street is devoted wholly or in part to retail commercial use and is
especially designed with resort thereto by the public, that a duty with
respect to its construction and maintenance does attach to the prem-
ises.” No attempt is made to show any specified defect in the construe-
tion of the building, the door, or the stairway or to show that plaintiff
had any leave or license right to open the door or enter upon the stairway.
The conclusion of the learned justice is that the jury would be warrant-
ed in finding that the entrance to the basement to have been improperly
guarded and the premises, to this extent, to have been in an unsafe and
insecure condition. But that refers the decision of the demurrer to the
jury, whereas the question is on the averments of the complaint.
Wherein, by what words, does the complaint allege facts showing that
the entrance to the building was unsafe or insecurc? Does it not show
affirmatively that in opening and entering the door the plaintiff was a
trespasser and that she failed to obscrve ordinary care and prudence ?
Surely on a demurrer we may not refer the question to a jury.

T. B. HUGHES, Plaintiff, Appellant, v. FARGO LLOAN AGENCY,
a Corporation; Citizens Bank of Lishon, a Corporation; and The
First National Bank of Fargo, a Corporation, Defendants, Re-
spondents, and J. C. VINCENT, . Interpleaded Defendant and Re-
spondent.

(178 N. W. 993.)

Judgment — fatal defect in aflidavit for publication rendered defanlt judg-
ment a nullity.

1. In an action to declare a conveyance a trust deed and for an accounting,

where the defendants were not residents of the state, and where an aflidavit

Note.—May jurisdiction of suit to quiet title or remove cloud on title of land
within the territorial jurisdiction rest upon constructive service of process against
& nonresident, see note in 29 L.R.A,(N.S.) 625.
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for publication of the summons was filed which may be construed to state that
defendants were nonresidents, “as affiant is informed and believes,” and which
states the “present postoffice address” of the defendants “as affiant is informed
and believes,” and where the summons and complaint were personally served
upon such defendants in the state of Washington, and thereafter judgment,
upon default was rendered, it is held that such affidavit was fatally defective
and the judgment rendered a nullity.

Process — on service by publication court is confined to proceeding in rem.
2. In such action, the jurisdiction of the court extends only to an equitable
proceeding in rem concerning the title of the land involved.

Estoppel — quieting title — on issue of estoppel and laches, partics in action
to dctermine adverse claims to realty held affected with notice of for-
mer void judgment.

3. In a subsequent action, to determine adverse claims to the real estate in-
volved, in the alleged trust deed, where the defendants and intervener, through
such void judgment, and the plaintiff, as the grantee of the vendee in such
trust deed, claim title or liens upon the land, it is held that all parties are
affected with notice of the void judgment and of the unsettled and undeter-
mined nature and administration of the alleged trusteeship, upon which the
equities of the parties, or their successors in interest, and the questions of
laches and of estoppel, must depend. .

Opinion filed July 3, 1920. Rehearing denied September 10. 1920.

Action to determine adverse claims in Ransom county, Cole, J.

The plaintiff has appealed from a judgment in favor of the defend-
ants and has demanded a trial de novo.

Reversed and remanded for a new trial with directions.

Kvello & Adams, for appellants.

Any deficiency in any of the jurisdictional proceedings is not a mere
defect or technicality; it goes to the very foundation of the power of
the court to act at all. Roberts v. Enderlin Inv. Co. 21 N. D. 504;
Johnson v. Englehard (N. D.) 176 N. W. 134; Dallas v. Luster, 27
N. D. 453.

And exactly the same principal is held in the following cases:
Simensen v. Simensen, 13 N, D. 305; Jablonski v. Piesik, 30 N. 1.
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547; Atwood v. Tucker, 26 N. D. 622 ; Beach v. Beach, 6 Dak. 371, 43
N. W. 701.

Where the proceedings leading up to substituted service, such as the
affidavit for publication of summons, are directly attacked—as was
done here—no presumptions can be indulged to sustain them. Atwood
v. Tucker, 26 N. D. 622; Coughran v. Markley (S. D.) 81 NX. W. 2;
Bathell v. Hoellworth (S. D.) 74 N. W. 231.

It is the general rule, not only in this state but elsewhere, that affida-
vits for publication of summons made on information and belief are in-
sufficient. Dallas v. Luster, 27 N. D. 450; Simensen v. Simensen, 13
N. D. 305; Gibson v. Wagner (Colo.) 36 Pac. 93; Ronig v. Gillett
(Okla.) 62 Pac. 805; 32 Cyc. 480 (39) (41).

Judgments entered without jurisdiction are wholly void and of no
force and effect. Krumenacker v. Andis, 38 N. D. 508 ; Roberts v. En-
derlin Inv. Co. 21 N. D. 594; Atwood v. Tucker, 26 N. D. 622; Jab-
lonski v. Piesik, 30 N. D. 543; Simensen v. Simensen, 13 N, D, 310;
Dallas v. Luster, 27 N. D. 450; Johnson v. Englehard (N. D.) 176 N.
W. 134.

W. J. Clapp, for J. C. Vincent.

A court cannot vacate a judgment or grant a new trial, under § 7660
of the Compiled Laws, when more than six months has expired after
the entry of the judgment. Higgins v. Rudd, 30 N. D. 551.

Appellant’s counsel, Kvello & Adams, are estopped to question de-
fendant’s and respondent’s title, because Kvello was a tenant of Rollo
Curtis, maker of the Fargo Loan Agency mortgage, and under whom
Vincent had deed which was made, delivered, and recorded while Kvcllo
was in possession under such lease. Mpls. Iron Store Co. v. Branum,
36 N. D. 3855; 24 Cyc. 934; 18 Am. & Eng. Enc. Law, 411; Balch v.
Radford (Mich.) 148 N. W. 707; Beck v. Minnesota & W. Grain Co.
(Iowa) 7 L.R.A.(N.S.) 930, 107 N. W. 1032; 16 R. C. L. 649.

Possession by landlord is not essential to the validity of a lease, and
tenant in such case cannot question the title, and all persons claiming
under him are also estopped. McManus v. Malloy (S. D.) 138 N. W.
963.

One partner being the tenant, the partnership is estopped. 2 R. C. L.
963 ; McFadden v. Jenkins (N. D.) 169 N. W. 151.

Jno. D. Farrand, for respondent Fargo Loan Agency.
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The proper procedure to obtain relief from a default judgment is by
motion to vacate the judgment, based on aflidavit of merits and a pro-
poscd verified answer. Racine-Satley Mfg. Co. v. Pavlicek, 21 N. D.
222,130 N. W. 228.

The order vacating was an abuse of discretion. Mougey v. Miller
(N.D.) 169 N. W. 735; 15 R. C. L. § 178, p. 724, and cascs cited;;
Colton v. Rupert, 27 N. W. 520.

Whereunder a judgment rendered on constructive service, certain
lands were found to belong to the debtor, and were subjected to the pay-
ment of the judgment, and a sale was had and the lands sold to a bona
fide purchaser, held that he was entitled to protection, although after-
wards the judgment was vacated and set aside. Keene v. Sallenback,
18 N. W. 75; Hollister v. Mann, 58 N. W, 1126; Citizens State Bank
v. Haymes, 76 N. W. 867; Comp. Laws 1913, § 7768.

Broxsow, J. Statement.—This is an action to determine adverse
claims to a quarter section of land in Ransom county. The trial court
rendered judgment quicting title in the intervener subject to the liens
of defendants’ mortgages. The plaintiff has appealed and has demanded
a trial de novo in this court.

For the consideration of the questions involved, it is necessary to set
forth somewhat in detail the facts appearing in the record. All parties
claim title from Gottlieb Grounitz. In 1891 the land was deecded to
him for a stated consideration of $1,520. In 1899 he dceded this land
to his daughter, Clara. This dced was not recorded. Later, in 1900,
this deed was surrendered and canceled. On July 31, 1902, he gave
a warranty deed, conveying in fee this land and also a house and lot in
Lisbon, North Dakota, owned by him, to his son, Elmer. The father
then had three living children, Elmer, Emil, and Clara, and a grand-
daughter, the child of a deceased son.

In accordance with the testimony of Emil, who contested this deed to
Elmer, his father, shortly after the deed to the daughter, Clara, was sur-
rendered and canceled, told him that he would leave this land in the
hands of either Elmer or himself, to be divided between the three chil-
dren. Concerning the Lisbon property, he testified that his father was
then living there with his sister, and he supposed that he intended that
for her. He does not know what agreement the father had with Elmer,
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nor what the father had in his mind when he decded-the land to Elmer.
Another witness, one Summerfield, testified that he was a next-door
neighbor of the Grounitz family when they lived in Lisbon. That on
one occasion the father told him that Clara wanted to get possession of
all the property, but he did not think it was right. That the two boys
had in a lot of money and hard work and they ought to have their share.
(This apparently was during the time of the deed to the daughter.)
He testificd that later the father told him that he was going to give to
Clara the house and lot, and to deed the farm to one of the boys and
then they can settle it up between them. In another action between the
children concerning the nature of this deed to Elmer (to be considered
hereafter) the district court found that this land and the property in
Lisbon were deeded to Elmer upon the agreement that Elmer would pay
the net proceeds thereof to the father during his lifetime for his main-
tenance and support, and that, upon his death, the property was to be
equally divided among the three children.

The father died about May 1, 1913. From July 31, 1902, to the
time of the father’s death, Elmer operated or rented this land (as the
court found in such action) as the agent of the father.

In 1915, an action (mentioned above) was commenced by Emil
against his brother Elmer, and his sister Clara, in the district court of
Ransom county. The complaint is dated April 20, 1915. It alleges
in substance that the deed from the father to Elmer was a deed in trust
upon the understanding that Elmer would pay to the father the net
procecds thereof, for his maintenance and support during his lifetime,
and, after his death, would divide the property equally among his three
children; that, until the death of the father on or about May 1, 1913,
the father had full control and supervision of the property and reccived
the rents and profits pursuant to such understanding. That since May
1, 1913, Elmer has been in the possession of such property. That since
May 1, 1913, the rcasonable value of the use of the land is $400 annual-
ly, and, of the city property, $20 per month, That the plaintiff Emil
has demanded his undivided one-third interest in the real estate and in
the proceeds. The prayer of such complaint is that this deed be de-
clared a trust deed; that an accounting be had and the amount found
to be due be declared in trust, pursuant to the trust arrangement, for
divizion between the parties equally.
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On MMay 23, 1915, a lis pendens was recorded in the office of .the
register of deeds, to the effect that the object of such action was to de-

clare the deed to Elmer a trust deed and for an accounting between the-

parties. On the same date an affidavit for the publication of the sum-
mons was made. It reads as follows:

State of North Dakota es.
County of Ransom

T. A. Curtis, being first duly sworn, deposcs and says: that he is a
member of the firm of Curtis & Curtis, the attorneys for the plaintiff
in the above-entitled action ; that the defendants are nonresidents of the
state of North Dakota and that the present postoffice address of Elmer
Edward Grounitz is Colbert, Washington, and the present postoffice
address of Clara Hall is Spokane, Washington, as affiant is informed
and believes. :

(Signed)
T. A. Curtis.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 25th, day of May, 1915.
Walter G. Curtis.
Notary Public.

On June 1, 1915, the summons and complaint were served upon
Elmer and Clara in the county of Spokane, Washington, by a deputy
sheriff.

On June 14, 1915, Elmer wrote a letter to Emil, stating, in part, to
the effect that, to his surprise, the summons and complaint were served
~ upon him by the sheriff; that the trip of his father to Germany and his
last sickness was expensive; that he had advanced other moneys to his
father; that he was perfectly willing that Emil should have anything
that was coming to him; that he would try and make out an itemized
statement of all expense and mail it to him ; that he could advertise the
land or Emil could look np a cash buyer; that he advised bim to cancel
the summons. He requested Emil to write him at once. Emil testified
that he received this letter. He did not testify that he answered this
letter. No other correspondence appears in the record, between them.
On August 18, 1915, this action, as upon a default of the defendants
Elmer and Clara, was heard by the district court and findings made.
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In these findings, the court determined that the deed to Elmer was a
trust deed madc upon the agreement hereinbefore stated ; that the father
died about May 1, 1913; that from July 31, 1902 to May 1, 1913,
Elmer, as agent of the father, operated or rented the land, but did not
pay over the net proceeds to the father; that, when the deed was made,
the property in Lisbon was worth $1,500; that since July 31, 1902,
Elmer sold such city property for $800; that Elmer and Clara were
working together, and divided among themselves the proceeds of the sale
of the city property and of the farm; that the reasonable value of the
use of the land for each year since July 31, 1902, was $400; that the
reasonable value of the land was $5,000; that, considering the reason-
able value of the land and the city property plus the interest thereupon,
the defendants have reccived $10,620, or $3,620 more than the reason-
able value of the entire property; that the defendants have received
more than their undivided two-thirds interest. The court, as conclusions
of law, found that the defendants had no interest in the land. That
Emil was the owner; and that the defendants should be restrained and
enjeincd from asserting any interest or lien upon such land. Pursuant
to such findings, on August 19, 1915, judgment was entered.

On February 21, 1916, Emil conveyed the land by warranty deed to
Rolla A. Curtis, a son of one of his attorneys. This deed was recorded
March 24, 1916. On March 15, 1916, Rolla A. Curtis gave a mortgage
for $3,000 to the defendant Fargo Loan Agency. This mortgage was
recorded March 17, 1916. Likewise, on March 15, 1916, he gave an-
other mortgage to such agency for $75. This mortgage was recorded
March 24, 1916. Likewise, on March 15, 1916, he gave another mort-
gage to the defendant Citizens Bank for $500. This mortgage was
recorded April 14, 1916. Likewise, on March 15, 1916, he gave another
mortgage to such Citizens Bank for $150. This mortgage was recorded
April 14, 1916.. On July 24, 1916, Rolla A. Curtis conveyed the land
by warranty deed to one Voisin, This deed was recorded July 28, 1916.

On July 29, 1916, notice of a motion to vacate the judgment above
mentioned was made by Elmer and Clara, the defendants therein. It
was served upon the attorneys for Emil. It was returnable August 8,
1916. It was heard by the court on August 12, 1916. The attorneys
for Emil in such action appeared. Emil testificd that he did not au-
thorize such attorneys to appear for him in the vacation proceedings.
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The motion, entered as a special appearance, attacked the jurisdiction
of the court to render the judgment by reason of the aftidavit for pub-
lication being void through noncompliance with § 7428, Comp. Laws
1913. On September 14, 1916, the court, pursuant to such motion,
entered an order vacating such judgment. *

Prior to such vacation, on August 5, 1916, said Voisin reconveyed by
quitclaim deed the land to Rolla A. Curtis, who, on the same date, con-
veyed the same again to J. C. Vincent, the intervener herein. Both of
such last-named deeds were recorded on August 9, 1916. On the same
day, August 5, 1916, Elmer conveyed the land by warranty deed to the
plaintiff, Hughes. This deed was recorded August 14, 1916.

Concerning the deed to Curtis, Emil testified that he was informed by
his attorney that it was necessary to make a transfer in order to place
a loan on the land. That he received $3,500 for this transfer; that he
should judge the land was worth about $S,000; that he was led to be-
lieve that Curtis was going to place a $3,500 loan on the land ; that this
was understood before the deed was made to said Curtis; that this was
the only way he paid his attorneys for fees earncd in the lawsuit.

Evidence was given in behalf of the Fargo Loan Agency, that two
mortgages were placed on this land, for which it had loaned and paid,
in cash $3,000. The loan came in the form of an application through
the defendant Citizens Bank. That the title was referred to their at-
torney for examination. The attorney for the agency testified that he
had personal knowledge of this loan made to Rolla A, Curtis; that he
examined the title and all the papers in connection with the Emil action,
from the summons and complaint or copics of them to the judgment
and, particularly, the findings and conclusions. That he procured the
copies of the papers and judgment roll which were offered as evidence
in this record. He concluded after such examination, that the title was
good.

Vincent, the intervener, testificd that in purchasing this land he ex-
amined it ; that he traded for it two houses and lots in Lisbon and $1,600
in notes. That the total consideration was $4,700 for the land, in
addition to the $3,500 mortgage then upon it. Ile had the abstract and
someone examined it; that it was pronounced o. k.; that he assuned

that the title down to the time the mortgage was placed on the land was
46 N. D.—3.
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beyond question by reason of the loan being placed by the Targo Loan
Agency. He had no notice of the vacation of the judgment; no person
was authorized to appear for him iu the proceedings to so vacate; that
he examined this land the latter part of July or the fore part of August.
He relied on one Mr. Clow concerning the possession of the land. He
never has been in possession of the land. That he understood that there
was a mutual agreement that the land should be rented, and the rent held
up during the pendency of this action.

One Clow testified that he represented Vincent in the sale of this land
to Vincent ; that he dealt with T. A. Curtis and Voisin; that an agree-
ment was made to rent the land and hold the rent until the real owner
of it was determined. There is no testimony in the record by the plain-
tiff ; neither Elmer nor Clara testified. One of the attorneys for the
plaintiff testified that he and another party rented the land from Elmer
in 1915 and also in 1916. That they made a sort of conditional arrange-
ment with Curtis,—a sort of a lease so as to play safe.

This action herein was instituted on March 10, 1917, against the
Fargo Loan Agency, the Citizens Bank, and also the First National
Bank of Fargo, as defendants. This National Bank had received a
dced, as the record discloses, from Vincent to secure an indebtedness, or
as collateral thereto, but the same was paid and a reconveyance made to
Vincent. Answer was made by the defendants, asserting their lease and
their title through Emil. In February, 1918, by leave of the court, Vin-
cent filed his complaint in intervention, wherein he set up his title
through Emil. The action was tried July 15, 1919. The Citizens Bank
did not appear, and the trial court did not specifically find concerning
its mortgages. Findings were made by the trial court on October 17,
1919. The trial court found that the deed to Elmer was a trust deed
made solely to secure the maintenance of the father, and for the benefit
of Emil, Elmer, and Clara: that on July 31, 1902, Elmer received, for
the benefit of himself and his sister, the rents and profits from the land
and city property conveyed. That he sold such city property and ap-
plied to the use of himself and his sister, Clara, such city property.
That Emil never received from Elmer any of the proceeds from the
sale of the lot, or the use of the land ; that seventy-eight days after this
process was served on Elmer and Clara, the action brought by Emil was
heard by another distriet judge. The proceedings had in that court and
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the transfers heretofore recited are found. That eleven months after the
entry of the judgment of Emil, Elmer and Clara commenced proceed-
ings to vacate the judgment; that the notice thercof was served only on
the attorneys who appeared for the plaintiff in that action ; that no notice
was served on Emil or the defendants and intervener, or in this action,
although their deed and mortgages were of record. That Rolla A.
Curtis made a written lease with one of the attorneys for the plaintiff
herein and another for the season of 1916. That in 1917 the plaintiff
or his grantor made an agreement with Vincent for farming and renting
the premises during the pendency of this action. The court found, as
conclusions of law, that the plaintiff was estopped to dispute the title
and liens of the intervener and defendants because of the great laches
of himself and his vendor in permitting the defendants and intervener
to invest their money and property, and for failure of plaintiff to offer
or do equity. That the judgment of Emil against Elmer and Clara has
ncver been vacated as to any of the defendants, including the intervener,
in this action; that as to these defendants and intervener, the court ac-
quired jurisdiction to hear and determine the action of Emil against
Elmer and Clara. That the mortgages of the Fargo Loan Agency are
valid and subsisting liens upon the land, and the intervener is the owner
thereof, subject to such mortgages. Pursuant to such findings, judg-
ment was entered on October 20, 1919.

O pinton.—The record has been carefully examined. The record facts
have been quite fully set forth. This extensive recital of the record
facts has been deemed necessary in order to demonstrate the error of two
trial courts that have considered the title of this land. These record
facts, when fully set forth, speak more effectively and forcibly than any
argument.

There are three paramount legal questions presented upon this record.
viz.: (1) The nature of the deed from the father to Elmer. (2) The
jurisdiction of the court in the action of Emil against his brother Elmer,
and his sister, Clara. (3) The laches and estoppel of the plaintift or
his grantor, Elmer.

Nadure of the Decd.—This record discloses that the deed from the
father to the son Elmer was in the nature of a trust deed, so far, at
least, as this land involved is concerned. As alleged in Emil's action
against Elmer and Clara, and not denied in the letter of Elmer to
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Emil, and as found by the trial court in that action and in this action,
the trust was the understanding that the father, during his lifetime,
should receive the net proceeds from such land, and thercafter that the
son Elmer should divide such land equally among his three children.
This understanding, apparently a parol understanding, did not create
an express trust. Comp. Laws 1913, § 5364; Cardiff v. Marquis, 17
N. D. 110, 117, 114 N. W. 1088. It did impose, however, by reason
of the confidential relations existing and imposed, a constructive trust,
upon these record facts, which was enforccable in equity. Cardiff v.
Marquis, supra; Hanson v. Svarerud, 18 N. D. 550, 120 N. W. 550.
In equity, upon these record facts, after the death of the father, the
children each possessed a beneficial interest in this land, the legal title
to which Elmer was holding as a trustee.

Jurisdiction of the Court.—The action instituted by Emil against
his brother Elmer and his sister Clara was a suit to declare this deed
a trust deed upon the understanding hereinbefore stated, to have an
accounting between the parties and a distribution between them equally.
The action was not one to determine adverse claims. Its scope, as is
very evident, extended beyond a mere procceding in rem to determine
the title to this land. It involved, beyond the consideration of the re-
spective titles of the parties in this land, the consideration in equity and
in personam of the moneys or property received by Ilmer in operating
this land during the lifetime of his father, and, thereafter, as well as
the moneys received either from the sale or the rent of the city prop-
erty. It involved the consideration of the personal obligation of Elmer
to the plaintiff Emil, as well as to his sister, and the personal judgment
that might be rendered against him by reason of any failure on his
part to fully account for his administration of the trust. The judg-
ment as rendered by the trial court in that action discloses that, beyond
determining the question of the title in the land involved as a procced-
ing in rem, it also determined the personal obligation of Elmer, as a
trustee, and adjudicated the amount thercof. Through its final adju-
dication, the court in effect rendered judgment against Elmer for this
personal obligation, offset it against his equitable interest in the land,
and bodily transferred the real estate title to Emil in this land in ex-
change for the personal obligation owing from Elmer to Emil. Fur-
thermore the judgment perpetually enjoined the defendants Elmer and
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Clara from claiming any interest, lien, or encumbrance upon such land.
Without further discussion, it is plainly evident that the pleading as
filed and the judgment as made comprehended a procedure both ¢n rem
and in personam. See 8 Cyc. 1096; 23 Cyc. 683; 12 C. J. 1226; note
in 29 L.R.A.(N.S.) 625. The court did not have jurisdiction over the
persons of Elmer and Clara. They were nonresidents. The plaintiff
sought to secure jurisdiction by publication of the summons. In lieu
of publication, he personally served the summons and complaint upon
Elmer and Clara. It is elemental that upon such procedure the trial
court had no jurisdiction to render a personal judgment or to consider
matters purely in personam. Its right to exercise jurisdiction was
entirely based upon its jurisdiction over the land involved and its right
to proceed thereby in an action ¢n rem to determine the rights and titles
of such land. See note in 29 L.R.A.(N.S.) 625; Fenton v. Minne-
sota Title Ins. & T. Co. 15 N. D. 365, 372, 125 Am. St. Rep. 599, 109
N. W. 363. The service of the summons and the complaint upon the
defendant in a foreign state did not confer jurisdiction in personam,
Furthermore, in such action upon the pleadings and the lis pendens,
as filed, the affidavit for publication was fatally defective, and con-
ferred no jurisdiction to hear and determine such action. The affida-
vit is susceptible of a construction that the clause “as affiant is
informed and believes” refers to the statement therein that the defend-
ants are nonresidents. The statute providing for service by publica-
tion is a permissive statute. It does not prescribe that the affidavit
may state that the defendant is not a resident of such state upon infor-
mation and belief. The statute further preseribes that the affidavit of
publication shall state the place of defendants’ residence, if known to
the affiant, and, if not known, that fact must be stated. The statute
does not prescribe that it is sufficient to state the present postoffice ad-
dress of the defendants. The place of the residence of a party and
his present postofficc address may be identical, and they may equally
well refer to two different places. The present postoffice address of a
United States Senator may be Washington, District of Columbia; his
residence at the same time may be in Wahpeton, North Dakota. The
present postoffice address of a person may be in San Diego, California,
during three months in the wintcr, when at the same time his legal
residence is at Grand Forks, North Dakota. The personal service of
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the summons and complaint without the state docs not cure the defeets
in the aflidavit for publication. The statutory provision permitting
personal service instead of the publication is an alternative in place of
such publieation. Comp. Laws 1913, § 7431. Tt is not an alternative
for the requisite afidavit of publication. The rule of strict compliance
concerning such aflidavits for publication has been followed in this
state for years. LRoberts v. Enderlin Invest. Co. 21 N. D. 594, 132
N. W. 145; Atwood v. Tucker (Atwood v. Roan) 26 N. D. 622, 51
LR.A(N.S) 597, 145 N. W. 587; Dallas v. Luster, 27 N. D. 430,
147 N. W. 95; Jablonski v. Piesik, 30 N. D. 543, 153 N. W. 27¢;
Krumenacker v. Andis, 38 N. D. 500, 165 N. W, 524; Johnszon v.
Engelhard, 45 N. D. 11, 176 N. W. 134. The judgment as entered in
such action was void, and the trial court properly vacated the same
upon motion made therefor.

Laches or Estoppel.—When the defendant Fargo Loan Ageney nego-
tiated mortgages upon this property, it then had both constructive and
actual notice of the state of the title. It is true that at that time the
judgment of Emil had not been vacated, and no notice to vacate the
same had yet been served. However, such Loan Ageney fully investi-
gated, as its attorney testified, the proceedings in the Emil judgment
from the summons and complaint down to the judgment. It then had
full actual notice that the legal title to such land was in Elmer, except-
ing as affected by this judgment of Emil. It is further to be noted as
a circumstance that the first mortgage of $3,000 was made on March
15, 1917, nine days before the deed of Emil Grounitz to Rolla A. Cur-
tis was recorded. It negotiated this loan with Rolla A. Curtis as mort-
gagar, the son of one of the attornevs for Emil. It is apparent that it
had full notice concerning this title. The intervener Vincent was nego-
tiating for the purchase of this land when there was then pending a
motion to vacate the judgment in the Emil action. His representative
negotiated with one of the attorneys for Emil for this land. His deed
from Rolla Curtis is dated August 5, 1916. On the same date Elmer
deeded the land to the plaintiff. At that time Emil was claiming the
land and had leased it for the year 1916, and under the circumstances
of this pending motion, the lease of Emil, and the proximity of the time
when the deeds were made, in connection with the fact that Vincent
never took possession and made or permitted to be made an arrauge-
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ment for the holding up of the rent during the pendency of this action,
there are strong circumstances which show both his actual and con-
structive knowledge of the state of this title. The fact that the Fargo
Loan Ageney and this intervener were not served with notice of tho
vacation of the judgment is immaterial. As far as this record is con-
cerned it was void on its face. It did not even require a motion to va-
cate such judgment except for record purposes. No laches is shown in
this record which is not equally applicable to both the plaintiff and his
predecessors and the defendants and their predecessors. It might as
well be said that the failure of the intervener and the other defendants
to bring an action concerning this title when Elmer had leased the
land both for 1916 and 1917 and had conveved the same was laches
as to apply, likewise, upon such ground, laches to the plaiutiff.

The question of whether the plaintiff or his predecessor has done
equity or has offered to do equity is entirely a matter that rests upon
the real nature and administration of the trusteeship, and the extent
thereof.

Accordingly, the judgment in the Emil action being void, and the
parties to this action not being chargeable with laches, it follows that
the trusteeship of Elmer with respeet to its full scope is still undeter-
mined and remains unadjudicated. Upon the present record this court
is unable, therefore, to render final judgment. It is proper, therefore,
for a new trial to be granted so that the three children, Emil, Flmer,
and Clara, may be joined as parties and a full hearing had for consid-
ering and determining the nature and the administration of the trustee-
ship and the rights of all the parties, by reason thereof, as successors in
interest, or otherwise, to the land involved. The judgment is reversed
and the case is remanded for a new trial, consonant with this opinion,
with costs to the appellant.

Roeinson and Geace, JJ., conecur.
BrepzeLL, J., did not participate.
CuristiansoN, Ch. J. (concurring specially). The property in-

volved in this controversy originally belonged to one Gottlieb Grounitz.
He was a widower with three children,—Emil Grounitz, Elmer Ed-
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ward Grounitz, and Clara (Hall). In July, 1902, Gottlieb Grounitz
deeded the land in controversy and a house and lot in the city of Lis-
bon to his son, Elmer Edward. Gottlieb Grounitz died on or about
May 1, 1913, leaving said three children as his only heirs at law. In
April; 1915, Emil Grounitz brought an action in the district court of
Ransom county against his brother and sister as defendants. In such
action he averred that such property had been deeded to said Elmer
Edward Grounitz with the understanding that he “would pay the net
proceeds derived from the operation of said lands and premises to the
said Gottlicb Grounitz for his maintenance and support during his
lifetime, and after his death to divide the said lands and premises
equally among the three children of said Gottlieb Grounitz.” The
complaint averred that the reasonable value for the use of said farm
property was $400 per year, and $20 per month for said city property;
and that demand had been made upon said Elmer Edward Grounitz for
a deed conveying a one-third interest in said real property, and the
payment of one third of the procecds received from said property, and
that such demand had been refused. The prayer for judgment was
“that said conveyance from the said Gottlieb Grounitz be declared a
trust deed in conformance with the facts hereinbefore stated, and that
an accounting be had between the defendants Elmer Edward Grounitz
and Clara Hall and the plaintiff, and that the amount so found to be
due on said accounting be declared to be held in trust for the uses and
purposes aforesaid, and be distributed between this plaintiff and de-
fendants share and share alike, and for the costs and disbursements of
this action, and for such other and further relief as may to the court
scem just and meet in the premises.”

Summons and complaint in such action were served upon the de-
fendants in the manner set forth in the opinion prepared by Mr. Jus-
tice Bronson. Judgment was entered by default:

(a) “That the defendants Elmer Edward Grounitz and Clara Hall
have no interest in or title to the premises involved in said action.

(b) “That the plaintiff Emil Grounitz is the owner in fee simple”
of said premises.

(¢) “That the said defendants Elmer Edward Grounitz and Clara
Hall and each of them are hereby enjoined from further asserting titlo
to or interest in said premises.”
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The title asserted by the defendants and intervener is predicated
upon such judgment.

In the opinion prepared by Mr. Justice Bronson, it is held that that
judgment is void; and that the plaintiff is not estopped from so assert-
ing. I concur in these conclusions. I believe that the judgment was
void even though the affidavit for publication be considered sufficient.
The court confessedly never had jurisdiction over thc persons of the
defendants in the action. At the most, it had jurisdiction of the res.
The plaintiff was required to embody in his complaint a demand of the
relief to which he supposed himself entitled. Comp. Laws 1913, §
7440. And where the defendant fails to answer, “the relief granted
the plaintiff cannot exceed that which he shall have demanded in his
complaint.” Comp. Laws 1913, § 7680. Where the judgment awards
relief beyond the prayer of the complaint or the scope of its allega-
tions, the excessive relief appearing from the face of the record is void
for want of jurisdiction. Sache v. Wallace (Sache v. Gillette) 101
Minn. 169, 11 L.R.A.(N.S.) 803, 118 Am. St. Rep. 612, 112 N. W.
386, 11 Ann. Cas. 348. Tt scems to me that the judgment awarded
Emil Grounitz against his brother and sister falls within this rule and
the statutory time limit of one year in which to move to vacate a de-
fault judgment does not apply. Freeman v. Wood, 11 N. D. 1, 88 N.
W. 721

ERNEST JESSEN and A. T. Jessen, Copartners as Jessen Brothers,
Plaintiff-Respondent, v. JOHN SCHILLER and Barbara Schil-
ler, Defendant-Appellant, and BRESDEN-LARSON LUMBER
COMPANY, a Corporation, Garnishee.

(179 N. W. 872.)

Exemptions = rule of liberal construction applies to filing claim of exemp-
tion in garnishment.
1. The rule of liberal construction applies as to the time when a claim for
exemption must be filed in a garnishment action in justice’s court.
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Exemptions — claim in garnishment may be made within time for answer.

2. Under this rule of liberal construction, the time fixed for an appearance

or answer in the garnishee for the filing of & claim for exemptions (Comp.

Laws 1913, § 9068), in justice’s court is the time when an appearance or

answer can be made from the hour specificd in the garnishee summons so long

as such garnishee action is open or awaiting the call of the court for an appear-
ance or answer.

Opinion filed September 25, 1920,

In Distriet Clourt, Hettinger County, Lembke, J.

Appeal by the defendant from a judgment rendered against the gar-
nishee in favor of the plaintiffs.

Reversed and dismissal of the garnishee ordered.

Jacobsen & Murray, for appellant.

A default cannot be taken before the expiration of time allowed
for appearance to which the action has been adjourned. 24 Cyc. 595.

The plaintiff did not take any issue on the garnishee’s answer.
Therefore the allegations of the answer are deemed and taken to be
true. Comp. Laws 1913, § 7578. '

Harvey J. Miller, for respondents.

If the defendant does not assert his claim within the time and in
the manner preseribed by law, his rights are waived. Purcell v. Gold-
stein (N. D.) 136 N. W. 243; Lindley v. Miller, 67 Tll. 244 ; Griffin
v. Maxwell, 23 11l. App. 405; Alden v. Yeoman, 29 TIl. App. 53.

Bronson, J. This is an appeal from a garnishment judgment in
favor of the plaintiffs upon findings made by the district court. The
proceedings nceessary to be stated are as follows: A civil action to
recover $38.50, accompanied with garnishment proceedings, was insti-
tuted in justice’s court. The return day fixed in both the summons and
garnishee summmons was September 3, 1919, at 8 o. m. On the return
day, about 10:30 a. »., upon proceedings had, judgment was rendered
in the main action against the defendants for $49.65. As the record
of the justice discloses, the garnishment proceedings were held open
subject to the outcome of the main action. The justice’s record then re-
cites as follows:

“Now, at 10:30 a. m. the garnishee by J. E. Eklund, Vice Presi-
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dent, admits liability to the defendant John Schiller in the sum of
$120. Now, at 10:30 a. m. the defendant John Schiller appears by his
attorneys, Jacobsen & Murray, and files written answer and claim for
exemption, including schedule of his personal property. To which the
plaintiff objects as insufficient, not having been filed at or before the
time set for appearance of the garnishee. The court, after the claim,
finds that it was not in time and thercfore denies the claim. Judg-
ment is hereby entered against the garnishee, Bresden-Larson Lumber
Company, a corporation, for the sum of $49.40 and costs.”

Thereafter, the defendant John Schiller appealed from this garnish-
ment judgment to the district court. Later, before the Honorable J.
M. Hanley, District Judge, a motion for dismissal of the appeal, upon
the grounds that the claim for exemption was not made in due form
and in time, was denied and the cause set for trial by the court. Sub-
sequently, the Honorable R. T. Lembke, District Judge, tried the ac-
tion and made the findings of the court to the effect that the claim for
exemption was not in due form and was filed too late. From the judg-
ment rendered upon such findings the defendant John Schiller has ap-
pealed.

The objections of the respondent to the appeals taken by the appel-
lant, the undertaking filed, the jurisdiction of this court as well as the
jurisdiction of the trial judge, are without merit.

The real question in this case and the question presented for the con-
sideration of this court is, Was the claim for exemptions filed within
the time prescribed by statute ?

We are of the opinion that it was. The right to exemptions is recog-
nized and enjoined by the Constitution. Section 208. It has been
established by legislative enactments. Towards this right and the leg-
islative enactments in support thereof, this court has continuously ap-
plied a liberal rule of construction in the protection of the debtor.

Under the strict rule of interpretation claimed by the respondents, it
was nccessary for the defendant to file his claim for exemptions at the
hour of 8 o’clock exactly, or before, although he had until the hour of
9 within which to make an appearance in the main action. Comp.
Laws 1913, § 9029,  And, under this rule, this would be so required.
although no trial of snch garnishee action could be had until the plain-
tiff recovered judgment in the main action. Comp. Laws 1913, §§

PO
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7581, 9063. Under the rule of liberal construction the time fixed for
appearance or answer in the garnishee summons for the filing of a
claim for exemptions (Comp. Laws 1913, § 9068), is the time when
an appearance or answer can be made from the hour specified in the
garnishee summons so long as such garnishee action is open or awaiting
the call of the court for an appearance and an answer. The very fact
that the statute (Comp. Laws 1913, § 9068), concerning such claims
contemplates an appearance, a defense, and a hearing ncgatives the
idea of eo instante proceedings. The judgment herein, both in the jus-
tice’s court and in the district court, is based upon the failure to file
the claim for exemptions within the time allowed. No opportunity
accordingly was afforded the defendant to amend his claim, if in fact
it was not in due form. The judgment of the trial court is reversed
and the dismissal of the garnishee action ordercd.

E. L. GUNBERG, Plaintiff and Appellant, v. GIJERTRU JUVE-
LAND, Ole A. Severson, Minnie McCrosky, Caroline Roy, Man-
dius Pederson, Selma Pederson, and Samuel Pederson, Defend-
ants and Respondents. ADAMS COUNTY, North Dakota, a
Municipal Corporation, Intervener.

(179 N. W. 375.)

Public lands — patent to heirs of deceased homestead entryman is issued
to them as original parties.

1. The heirs of a deceased homestead entryman who dies before making final
proof take under, and as direct bencficiaries of, § 2291, U. 8. Rev, Stat. In
such case patent is issued to them as original parties who are preferred by
the Federal statute after the rights of the original homesteader have been
destroyed by death; they being allowed the benefit of his residence and improve-
ments upon the land.

Public lands — mortgage and sced lien not enforceable against heirs receiv-
ing patent.

2. A mortgage and seed-lien agreement which have been executed by a de-

ceased entryman, who dics before making final proof, are not liens upon such

NoTE.—On validity of mortgage upon public lands executed by claimant under the
homestead acts prior to patent or final proof, see notes in 6 L.R.A.(N.S.) 934, and
-L.R.A.1915B, 681.
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real estate, and are not assumed by or enforceable against the heirs who re-
ceive patent for and take said land under the provisions of § 2291, U. S.
Rev. Stat.

\

Opinion filed September 25, 1920.

From a judgment of the District Court of Adams County, Crawford,
J., plaintiff appeals.

Affirmed.

Henry Moen and F. M. Jackson, for appellant.

The heirs, the defendants in this action, did not take this land as a
gift from the government, but by inheritance and subject to the encum-
brances placed thereon. Stark v. Starrs, 6 Wall. 402 ; Barney v. Dolph,
97 U. S. 652; Simmons v. Wagner, 101 U. S. 260; Cornelius v. Kes-
sel, 128 U. S. 456; Wisconsin R. Co. v. Price Co. 133 U. S. 496.

E. C. Wilson, for respondents.

Heirs become entitled, under the statute, to a patent, not because
they had succeeded to her equitable intcrest, but because the law gave
them preference as new homesteaders, allowing to them the benefit of
the residence of their ancestor. Gjerstadgen v. Van Duzen, 7 N. D.
612; Haynes v. Carroll, 74 Minn. 134, 76 N. W. 1017; Marley v.
Sturkert (Neb.) 86 N. W. 1056.

Whatever rights survive the death of the homesteader belong to the
heirs, and not to the estate of the deceased. The heirs do not succeed

"to such rights by inheritance, but by virtue of the law, which grants to
them preference rights. Gould v. Tucker (S. D.) 100 N. W. 427;
Adams v. McClintock, 21 N. D. 483; Stoll v. Gottbreht (N. D.) 176
N. W. 932; Hayes v. Wyatt, 19 Idaho, 544, 115 Pac. 13.

There was no privity of estate between the plaintiff (the heir) and
his ancestor, nor had the mortgage ever attached to the land. The
plaintiff owed no debt, or had he any legal obligations to pay anyone.
He did not claim under his ancestor. nor was he in privity with him.
Martyn v. Olson, 28 N. D. 317; Bernier v. Bernier, 147 U. 8. 242;
Hall v. Russell, 101 U. 8. 503; McCune v. Ensig, 199 U. S. 503;
Council Imp. Co. v. Draper (Idaho) 102 Pac. 7; Haun v. Martin
(Or.) 86 Pac. 371; Whittenbrock v. Wheadon (Cal.) 60 Pac. 664;
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Hussman v. Durham, 165 U. S. 144; Stark v. Fallis (Okla.) 109 Pac.
66; Chapman v. Price (Kan.) 4 Pac. 807,
P. B. Garberg, for intervener.

CuristiansonN, Ch. J. On September 23, 1906, one Ncls O. Nelson
made a homestead entry upon the land in controversy. On April 19,
1912, he signed and filed in the local land office a notice of intention
to make final proof before Jacob Sonderall, a United States Commis-
sioner, at Hettinger, North Dakota. On May 27, 1912, the said Nels
0. Nelson died intestate, leaving surviving him as his heirs at law the
said above-named defendants.

On June 18, 1912, the defendant Ole A. Severson (a half-brother of
the deceased entryman) and two of the witnesses named in the notice
of intention to make final proof submitted their testimony in support
of said final proof. The final proof was submitted to the local land
office, and, after certain proceedings which are not material in this con-
troversy, the Commissioner of the General Land Office directed that
the proof be accepted, and receipt and patent issned generally to the
heirs of Nels O. Nelson, deceased. On June 26, 1914, patent was is-
sued in aceordance with such direction.

The plaintiff is the owner and holder of a certain note secured by a
so-called preliminary mortgage upon the land in controversy. The
note and mortgage were executed by the said Nels O. Nelson on the
14th day of December, 1911, Plaintiff brought this action to foreclose
his mortegage. Adams county intervened and asserted that it had a
prior lien upon the premises by virtue of a certain agreement dated
April 17, 1912, under which it furnished certain seed grain to said
Nels O. Nelson. The defendants challenged the validity of both the
mortgage and the sced-grain lien, and asserted that thev were the
owners of the land, free and clear of hoth of said alleged liens. The
trial court sustained the contentions of the defendants, and rendered
judgment accordingly.  Plaintiff has appealed from the judgment and
demanded a trial anew in this conrt.

Whether title to land which has been the property of the United
States has passed is a question which must be resolved by the laws of
the United States. Wilcox v. Jackson, 13 Pet. 517, 10 L. ed. 276 ; Me-
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Cune v. Essig, 199 U. S. 382, 390, 50 L. ed. 237, 241, 26 Sup. Ct.
Rep. 78.

Chapter 5, title 32, of the Revised Statutes of the United States, pro-
vides who may enter public lands as a homestead, and the conditions
to be observed as to entry and settlement, and the procurement of title
to the lands entered. By § 2291, Rev. Stat. (Comp. Stat. § 4532, 8
Fed. Stat. Anno. 2d ed. 557), it is provided that, if a person who has
made a homestead entry dies before making final proof, such proof may
be made by his widow, or, in case of her death, by his heirs or devisees.
In such case the right to the patent accrues first to the widow, or in
case there is none, then to the heirs and devisees.

Section 2448, Rev. Stat. (Comp. Stat. § 5098, 8 Fed. Stat. Anno.
2d ed. p. 856), provides:

“Where patents for public lands have been or may be issucd, in pur-
suance of any law of the United States, to a person who had died or
who hereafter dies, the title to the land designated therein shall inure
to and become vested in the heirs, devisees, or assignecs of such de-
ceased patentee as if the patent had issued to the deceased person dur-
ing life.”

These statutory provisions have been construed and their purpose
and effect announced many times by different state and Federal courts.
In Bernier v. Bernier, 147 U. S. 242, 37 L. ed. 152, 13 Sup. Ct. Rep.
244, it was said that the object of § 2291, supra, was “to provide the
method of completing the homestead elaim and obtaining a patent
therefor, and not to establish a line of descent, or rules of distribution
of the deccased entryman’s estate.”

In Gjerstadengen v. Van Duzen, 7 N. D. 612, 66 Am. St. Rep. 679,
76 N. W. 233, this court, in speaking of the status of a homestead in a
case where the entrywoman died before making final proof, said :—

“The land did not belong to the estate of Olia Mikkelson, deceased.
She filed upon it as a homestead in her lifetime; but she died before
the patent was issued and even before her right to demand a patent had
accrued. The law gave her no such interest in the land as could be
transmitted by her to her heirs. Upon her death, all her rights in the
land and her homestead entry ccased, and her heirs became entitled,
under the statute, to a patent, not because they had succeeded to her
equitable interest, but because the law gave them preference as new
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homestcaders, allowing to them the benefit of the residence of their
ancestor upon the land.”

“It is apparent, from the statute (U. S. Rev. Stat. § 2291), that
Congress did not intend to vest in a homesteader an interest which
could be inherited under the laws of the state where the real estate
might be situated, the same as other real estate, but to withhold from
him such interest, and specifically designate the persons who, on his
death, should be entitled to secure the right which the original entry-
men would have obtained had he survived.”

In Martyn v. Olson, 28 N. D. 317, L.R.A.1915B, 681, 148 N. W,
734, this court held that a mortgage made by an entryman who dies
before making final proof or before he has done the things requisite
thereto is not a lien on the land covered by such homestead entry, and
is not assumed by the heirs of the deceased entryman who take the land
and receive patent therefor under the provisions of the Federal statute.

The appellant concedes the soundness of that decision but he con-
tends that it is not applicable, for the asserted reason that in the case
cited the entryman had not resided upon or cultivated the land for a
sufficient length of time to make final proof.

It does appear, however, from the statement of facts in Martyn v.
Olson, supra, that about two months after the death of the entryman,
the heirs caused final proof to be made “without any further residence
on or cultivation of the land than that furnished by the deceased.” 28
N. D. 319.

The only distinction, therefore, between the case at bar and Martyn
v. Olson is that in the case at bar the entryman had caused notice to be
given of the time and place he would submit his final proof- testimony,
whereas no such notice was given in Martyn v. Olson.

It will be noted that the Federal statutes require not only cultiva-
tion and residence, but also proof of this fact in the manner provided
by the statute. An entryman who has both resided upon and cultivated
the land, in strict compliance with the statute, may nevertheless forfeit
his right to a patent, if he fails to consummate the entry by the sub-
mission of final proof in the manuer provided by law.

As has alrcady been noted, the Federal statute preseribes not only
the rights of the entryman, but also the rights of those who may receive
the land in case he dies before completing the entry. As was said by
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the United States Supreme Court in McCune v. Essig, 199 U. S. 382,
387, 50 L. ed. 237, 240, 26 Sup. Ct. Rep. 78:

“They (U. S. Rev. Stat. §§ 2291, 2292) say who shall enter, and
what he shall do to complete title to the right thus acquired. He may
reside upon and cultivate the land, and by doing so is entitled to a pat-
ent. If he dies, his widow is given the right of residence and cultiva-
tion, and shall be cntitled to a patent, as in other cases. IIe can make
no devolution of the land against her. The statute which gives him a
right gives her a right. She is as much a beneficiary of the statute as
he. The words of the statute are clear, and express who in turn ehall
be its beneficiaries.

In Doran v. Kennedy, 122 Minn. 1, 141 N. W. 851, the supreme
court of Minnesota had occasion to consider when land entered under
the homestead laws of the United States becomes a part of the entry-
man’s estate, and subject to disposition as such. In that casc the entry-
man made final proof and full payment to the government on April 10,
1906.- He died on September 8, 1906, before final receipt or vatent
had been issued.

The Minnesota supreme court said:

“The Homestead Act (U. S. Rev. Stat. 2291, Comp. Stat. § 4532, 8
Fed. Stat. Anno. 2d ed. 557), provides that, if the person making
homestead entry dies before making final proof, such proof may be
made by his widow, or, in case of her death, by his heirs or devisces.
In such case the right to the patent acerues first to the widow, or, if
none, then to the heirs or devisees. The land is no part of the estate
of the entryman, and does not descend as such. ‘It is disposed of in
accordance’ with the act of Congress, and the patentee takes his title,
not by descent from the ancestor, but by purchase from the United
States government.

“But after final proof the rule is different. It is a general rule that
‘a person who complies with all the requisites necessary to entitle him
to a patent ., . . is to be regarded as the equitable owner’ of the
land. . . . In case of Re Cogswell, 3 Land Dec. 23, it is said: ‘It
is a fact generally known that . . . such title, for the purposes of
private and judicial sale, taxation, inhcritance of real estate, and all
other kindred objects, is treated by the courts, the local legislatures,
and individuals, in the same manner as if a patent had issued.””

The Minncsota court concludod in that case that the homestead en-
46 N. D.—4
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tryman, at the time of his death, was the equitable owner of the land,
and that it descended according to the laws of the state of Minnesota,
and was a part of his estate to be administered.

The case was brought before the Supreme Court of the United States
by a writ of error, and the decision of the Minnesota supreme court
was afirmed. Doran v. Kennedy, 237 U. S. 362, 59 L. ed. 996, 35
Sup. Ct. Rep. 615. In doing so, the Federal Supreme Court followed
in main the reasoning adopted by the Minnesota supreme court.

In considering the effect of the Federal statutes, the Federal Su-
preme Court said:

“The last section (Rev. Stat. § 2291) provides when a certif-
icate shall be given or patent shall issue and to whom upon certain con-
tingencies. It shall not be issued until the expiration of five years
after entry, and may be at any time within two years thereafter, to ‘the
person making such entry.’ If, however, he be dead, then to his widow,
or, in case of her death, to his heirs or devisee, upon proving the neces-
sary settlement and qualification for the time prescribed.

“This section, it is contended, made the heirs of Norton (there be-
ing no widow), the direct beneficiaries of the statute,—that is, the
plaintiff and her grantors. In other words, they took directly under
the statute, not from Norton; and such, it is further contended, is the
effect of the decisions of this court, citing McCune v. Essig, 199 U. S.
382, 50 L. ed. 237, 26 Sup. Ct. Rep. 78, and other authorities.

“But it will be observed the cited section provides for cases where
the homesteader dies before final proof, other sections applying when
such proof has becn made and nothing is yet to be performed to entitle
to a patent.

“By § 2448 (Comp. Stat. § 5098, 8 Fed. Stat. Anno. 2d ed. p. 856),
it is provided that ‘where patents for public lands have been or may be
issued, in pursuance of any law of the United States, to a person who
had died, or who hercafter dies, before the date of such patent, the
title to the land designated therein shall inure to and become vested in
the heirs, devisces, or assignees of such deccased patentee as if the pat-
ent had issued to the deceased person during life.”

“Such are the eircumstances in the present case. Norton had made
his final proof before his death, and had become entitled to the patent.
Plaintiff and her grantors, therefore, could only receive the land as his
heirs, and not directly under § 2291, and as its beneficiaries.
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Tpon such proof Norton certainly became the equitable owner of the
land. Indeed, it practically became his absolute property, subject to
his disposition by assignment or by will, or to the disposition of the
law . . . and subject, therefore, upon his death, to the probate juris-
diction of the state.”

This language and reasoning are appropos in this case. Nels O. Nel-
son had not completed his entry. If he had desired to do so he could
have abandoned the land and refrained from making final proof. At
the time he died, the land was not subject to taxation under the laws
of the state, and it was not subject to sale by him. By applying the
Federal statutes and the decisions interpretative thereof we reach the
conclusion that Nels O. Nelson never became the owner of the land
in controversy. His rights remained those of an entryman occupying
a tract of land under the Federal homestead laws. The final proof
made after his death inured to the benefit of the persons named in the
statute. Patent was issued to them in accordance with the statute and
the practice of the Land Department prescribed in such cases. The
patentees received their title direct from the government as new home-
steaders, and that title was not subject either to the mortgage held by
the plaintiff or to the seed lien claimed by the intervener.

Judgment affirmed. )

EDWARD SHIRLEY, Nicolas Tandberg, Anton Johnson, Carl
Schultz, Residents, Citizens, and Taxpayers within Coal Field
School District No. 16 of Divide County, North Dakota, for
Themselves, and for All Other Taxpayers within Said School Dis-
trict, Appellants, v. COAL FIELD SCHOOL DISTRICT NO.
16 OF DIVIDE COUNTY, North Dakota, a Public Corpora-
tion, and Albert Makee, Walter F. Rhodes, and John Wallin, Con-
stituting the School Board of Said School District No. 16, and
Mary F. Truax, as Clerk of Said School District, and Rolf Reite,
as Treasurer of Said School District, Respondents.

(179 N. W. 551.)

Schools and school districts — notice of special election to vote on issnance
of school bonds held sufficient,
1. In a special election to vote upon an issue of school bonds pursuant te
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§ 1333, Comp. Laws 1913, notices thereof posted in at least three public and
conspicuous places in the school district comply with the statute. It is not
essential that such notices be posted upon the bulletin boards or places desig-
nated pursuant to § 4248, Comp. Laws 1913.

Schools and school districts —complaint in action to enjoin issue of bonds
approved by voters at special clection held demurrablo.

2. In an action to enjoin school officials from issuing school bonds approved
by the voters at a special election, where the complaint alleges active fraud and
fraudulent design on the part of the school officials in the calling of such elee-
tion, the posting of notices thereof and in the time when the same was leld
for the purpose of preventing an expression by the mujority of the voters in
the district, and does not allege that such voters, if they had voted, would
have produced a diffcrent result, and where the school officials have called,
noticed, and held such election pursuant to the statutory requirements, it is
held that a demurrer to the complaint was properly sustained.

Opinion filed September 27, 1920.

Action in District Court, Ward County, Leighton, J., to enjoin the
defendants from issuing certain school bonds.

From a judgment dismissing the action and vacating a temporary
injunction issued, the plaintiffs have appealed.

John E. Greene and Olaf Braatelien, for appellants.

Greenleaf & Wooledge for respondents.

“There is a presumption that an election oflicer or other official upon
whom is imposed the duty of giving notice has performed that duty.”
Prichard v. Mageum, 46 L.R.A. 381, 80 N. W, 512; Parker v. State,
26 Tex. 207; Cummins v. Little, 16 N. J. Eq. 48; Austin v. Soule, 36
Vt. 645; Goss v. Cardell, 53 Vt. 447; Alger v. Curry, 40 Vt. 448;
Fairbanks v. Benjamin, 50 Vt. 99; 19 Am. & Eng. Enc. Law, 564,
565; 15 Cyc. 324.

Broxsox, J. Statement.—This is an action to restrain the issu-
ance of bonds for the erection of a schoolhouse in a common school dis-
trict. Upon a verified complaint and undertaking, the trial court issued
a temporary restraining order. Later, upon a demurrer to the com-
plaint and upon an order to show cause why the temporary injunetion
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issued should not be dismissed, the trial court sustained the demurrer
and dissolved the injunction. Thereupon, the plaintiff clecting to
stand upon the complaint, judgment was entered dismissing the action
and vacating the temporary injunction. The plaintiffs have appealed
from such judgment. The facts alleged in the complaint, so far as
the same are necessary to be stated, are as follows:

The defendant school district is comprised within the bound‘lrles of
Coal Field township, and comprehends thirty-six sections of land.
Within it and near the northern boundaries thereof is located the vil-
lage of Noonan, having a population of about 400 people. There are
250 legal voters therein and 225 children of school age. The plaintiffs
are taxpayers and citizens of the district. The defendants are the
school district and its officers. There are three public schoolhouses in
the district,—one in the village of Noonan costing about $7,500, and
two common schoolhouses in the southern portion, both of which are
old and in poor condition.

On January 12, 1920, the school board with knowledge that resi-
dent electors in the southern portion of the district were circulating
petitions for the purpose of setting off from such school district, sce-
tions 13 to 36 therein and organizing a new school district, caused to
be circulated a petition for the purpose of submitting to the voters the
question of bonding the school district, in the sum of $39,000 in order
to construct a nmew school building at Noonan. The petitions were
signed by ninety-three electors, and presented to the school board. The
board directed a special election to be held February 3, 1920. The
clerk of the district, on January 17, 1920, posted notices of such elec-
tion, viz.,—one at the postoffice, one at the village hall, one at the town
pump house, and one at the schoolhouse,—all in the village of Noonan.
No other notices of such election were posted at any other places within
the district or published in the ncwspaper. By reason of such posting
of notices, a large majority of the voters in the district was withont
knowledge of the holding of such election, and was thereby prevented
from attending and voting at such clection. Such petitions were cir-
culated and the election so held with the fraudulent intent of avoiding
the frec and full expression of the will of the majority of the elcetors
in the district upon the question of the issuing of such bonds, and with
the fraudulent intention to thrust upon the territory in such distriet



64 46 NORTH DAKOTA REPORTS

the burden of taxation necessary to pay such bonds, before the electors
in the southern portion of the district could carry out to completion
there proceedings to organize a new school district within such terri-
tory. At the clection, out of the 250 legal voters, there were cast 84
votes, 65 in favor of the issuance of the bonds and 19 in the negative.
The affirmative votes were those of residents of such village, or those
residing in that immediate vicinity.

For a long time prior to January 19, 1920, there had been estab-
lished by the authorities of Coal Field township three public places,
at which bulletin boards were provided, in the southerly portion of the
school district. Voters were accustomed to observe and read notices
of public meetings posted at such places. If notices of such election
had becn posted there, notice would have reached nearly, if not all, of
the voters of such distriet; but it was the intent of the school board and
the promoters issuing the bonds to prevent, by the posting of all of the
notices within the v:llage of Noonan, knowledge coming to the majority
of the electors of the district, the defendants well knowing that if gen-
eral and sufficient notice were given, as contemplated by law, the propo-
sition would not receive the requisite majority at the election.

The valuation of the property, assessed in 1919 for purposes of tax-
ation, in sections 13 to 36 (within which the village of Noonan is sit-
uated (evidently a mistake of the pleader), was $311,948; and in sec-
tions 1 to 12, $628,418. The construction of a new schoolhouse from
the procceds of such bonds, located in the village of Noonan, would
deprive a large majority of the children of school age within the dis-
trict from any benefit, by reason of the distance necessary to be trav-
eled. One third of the burden of taxation would be imposed on resi-
dent taxpayers within the part of the district not to be benefited by the
construction of such schoolhouse.

Upon the hearing of the demurrer and the order to dismiss the tem-
porary injunction, it appears in the record that many affidavits and
exhibits were introduced. The affidavit of the clerk of the distriet,
one of the defendants, with exhibits attached, shows that at the time
the election was held there were 124 male voters and 108 female voters
in the district. That of the 93 signers upon the petition, 12 reside out-
side of the village of Noonan and at least 4 within the territory includ-
ed within sections 13 to 36. That the enrolment in the district is 211,
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of which 107 pupils reside outside of the village of Noonan; that 176
pupils attend the school at Noonan, 25 pupils, the school in section 27,
and 10 pupils, the school in section 29. That the school building at
Noonan was poorly constructed, and entirely too small; that the school
board was obliged during the current year to rent additional room in
Noonan at an expense of $35 per month, to provide for the school chil-
dren.

The affidavit further states that the affiant knows that none of the
defendants had any knowledge of the circulation of petitions to divide
the district at the time of calling the election; that the clection was
called in good faith and by reason of the necessity of issuing bonds for
the construction of an adequate school building. That the defendant
Wallin is a resident of section 26. That the places where the notices
of election were posted on January 17, 1920, were four of the most
public and conspicuous places in the district. That all of the residents
of the district use and have the village of Noonan as their postoffice
addresses, and there they do their trading and shopping more or less
That furthermore, notices of such election were published in the
Noonan Miner, a weekly newspaper, on January 22, and 29, 1920;
that two days before the election there was a farmers’ meeting held at
the farmers’ elevator in Noonan, attended by farmers from the south-
ern portion of the district and from all portions of the district, where
the president of the school board discussed and explained the purposes
of the election. That two of the plaintiffs voted at the election. The
affidavit further alleges that the school board never designated and
established any bulletin boards for posting notices. The affidavit of
the plaintiff Schultz, acknowledged thirty-nine days after the acknowl-
edgment of the affidavit of the defendant clerk, supports in general the
allegations of the complaint. It states that the defendant Wallin has
since resigned as a member of the school board; that there are 59 vot-
ers residing in sections 13 to 36; that few of them had notice of the
election; that all of them excepting two or three have expressed them-
selves as opposed to bonding at all times since knowing it; that prior
to January 12, 1920, the resident elcctors of sections 13 to 36 startedy
a movement and circulated petitions to set off such sections into a new
school district; that such petitions were signed by 46 of the electors in
such territory.
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Decision.—Tt is the contention of the appellants that the complaint
discloses a failure to post notices as required by law. That § 4248,
Comp. Laws 1913, provides for the annual designation of three places
in a township as public or the most public places in a township where
legal notices are required to be posted. That none of the notices in the
calling of the election involved were posted at such places. That fur-
thermore, through fraud and in an attempt to anticipate and defeat
the division of the district and to prevent designedly an expression by
the majority of the voters in such district the election was called, no-
ticed, and was held in the manner sct forth in the complaint. The con-
tention of the appellants, that the notices of election were not duly
posted, cannot be sustained. Section 1333, Comp. Laws 1913, with
reference to calling a special election, provides for posting notices in at
least three public and conspicuous places in the district. There is no
provision of the law in that regard that notices shall be otherwise post-
ed at any particular place or upon any particular bulletin boards. Sece-
tion 4248, Comp. Laws 1913, has reference to townships and to the
providing of public places in a township for the publication of legal no-
tices. It does not pertain to the posting of notices concerning school
districts. The boundaries of a school district may or may not be coex-
tensive with that of a township. Manifestly, a place under § 1333,
Comp. Laws 1913, is not rendered private and inconspicuous by reason
of the failure to post notices upon the bulletin boards prescribed at the
annual township meeting. It is not alleged that the school board
had designated or established such bulletin boards or any other
places as the most public places in the district. There is no con-
tention upon the face of the complaint, or in the evidence submit-
ted at the hearing, to warrant the meaning that the place where such
notices were posted are not public and conspicuous places in the dis-
trict. It therefore appears, as far as the allegations of the complaint
are concerned and the evidence adduced at the hearing, to dissolve the
injunctional order, that the defendants, in acting upon the petition
for a special order concerning the issuance of said bonds and the hold-
ing of the same, acted in accordance with the statutory prerequisites.

The appellants, however, contend that the election so held, upon the
posting as made and at the time so designated, could not have been
called or held at a time better to exclude a majority expression of the
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voters; that these circumstances, taken in conncetion with the alleged
fraud and connivance of the defendants, the school district officers,
show grounds for injunctive relief. It is deemed unnceessary to dis-
cuss the important question of the right in equity to set aside an elec-
tion upon the grounds of fraud where an election has been called and
held in accord with the statutory requirements. Sce 20 C. J. 216;
High, Inj. 4th ed. §§ 1309, 1316; notes in 40 L.R.A.(N.S.) 576; 38
L.R.A.(N.S.) 1007; People ex rel. Atty. Gen. v. Tool, 35 Colo. 225,
6 LR.A.(N.S.) 822, 117 Am. St. Rep. 198, 86 Pac. 224, 220, 231,
In any event it is necessary in such casc for the complainants to both
plead and prove that such election, if called and bheld without such
fraud, would have resulted differently.

The complaint does not allege, nor does any evidence submitted
show, that the alleged large majority of the voters, prevented from
attending the election by lack of notice thereof, would have attended
and voted at such election and in such manner as to have produced a
different result. The trial court therefore did not err in sustaining the
demurrer.

It is further contended by the appellants that subsequent procecd-
ings had in the district show circumstances for the exercise of equita-
ble intervention, and they proffer to this court certiticd copics of pro-
ceedings in such district to show that the school district has since been
divided.

Manifestly such proceedings are not subject to review in this action.
They form no part of the record in this case. They may form a basis,
if at all, for further proceedings on the part of the appellants, or oth-
ers in the trial court.

The judgment is affirmed, with costs.

Curistiaxson, Ch. J., and Grace and Birvzery, JJ., concur.

Rosinson, J. 1 dissent.
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E. H. GRIFFIN, Respondent, v. ERNEST WIESE, Appellant.
(179 N. W. 373.)

Animals — owner’s liability for trespass held question for jury.
In an action to recover damages for the destruction of certain hay it is held
that the trial court properly refused to direct a verdict, or order judgment
notwithstanding the verdict, in favor of the defendant.

Opinion filed September 27, 1920.

From a judgment and an order denying a motion for judgment not-
withstanding the verdict of the District Court of Stutsman County,
Coffey, J., defendant appeals.

Affirmed.

C. 8. Buck, for appellant.

That the title to unsevered crops growing on land belonging to one
who is the owner of said premises or the one having right of possession
has never been seriously disputed. Hartshort v. Ingles, 23 L.R.A.
531; Raney v. Hallvorsen, 29 N. D. 12; Golden Valley Land Co. v.
Johnson, 21 N. D. 101.

E. E. Ellsworth, for respondent.

“Any person occupying or cultivating lands shall be considered the
owner thereof in any action under the provisions of the last sections.”
Comp. Laws 1913, § 8501.

“A trespasser who sows and gathers crops is, after they are gathered,
the owner of them, even as against the owner of the land.” Lindsay v.
Ry. Co. (Minn.) 13 N. W. 191; Backenstoss v. Stahler, 33 Pa. 251,
75 Am. Dec. 592.

CuristiansoN, Ch. J. The plaintiff brought this action to recover
damages alleged to have been sustained by reason of defendant’s cattle
destroying certain stacks of millet in the fall of 1918. The case was
tried to a jury. A verdict was returned in plaintiff’s favor for $475,
and interest. Defendant has appealed from the judgment, and from
the order denying his motion for judgment notwithstanding the ver-
dict.
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The plaintiff had been in possession of a portion of section 36, town-
ship 139, range 66, Stutsman county, for several years under a con-
tract for deed from one Ida A. Fried, the owner thereof. In January,
1918, Ida A. Fried served notice of cancelation of said contract. After
service of such notice, the plaintiff made application to the judge of
the district court of Stutsman county, for an order restraining the can-
celation of the contract by notice, and requiring that such cancelation
be had by proceedings in the district court.

The judge of the district court made such order as provided by stat-
ute, and afterwards an action was brought and tried in the district
court, which resulted in a judgment being entered on July 1, 1918,
canceling the contract and requiring the plaintiff, Griffin, to vacate
said premises.

In the meantime, to wit, during June, 1918, the plaintiff had sown
the millet which is involved in this controversy.

The plaintiff did not vacate the premises as demanded, and the de-
fendant therenpon applied for an order to compel plaintiff to obey the
directions of the judgment. Such matter came on for hearing on July
29, 1918. '

It appears that, in the meantime, Ida A. Fried had leased the prem-
ises to one Otto Brown, and arrangements were made whereby it was
stipulated and agreed, in writing, that said Griffin might remain on
said premises until September 1, 1918.

It was further agreed that said Grifin might cut and remove from
said premises all the millet which he had sown and which was then
growing thereon. The evidence is also to the effect that later said
Otto Brown leased certain of the premises to the defendant, Ernest
Wiese, with authority to pasture his stock thercon.

The plaintiff cut the millet and stacked some of it. The undisputed
evidence shows that the defendant’s stock entered upon the premises
and trampled down and ate some of the millet. The extent of the
damage and the value of the millet, so destroyed, was a matter upon
which the testimony was in square conflict. According to the testi-
mony of the plaintiff and his witnesses, the damage was at least as
great as that which the jury found. The undisputed evidence shows
that both Brown and the defendant, Wiese, knew that the millct be-
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longed to the plaintiff, and that he was to be permitted to cut and re-
move the same.

The sole questions presented on this appeal are whether the court
erred in denying defendant’s motions for a directed verdict and for
judgment notwithstanding the verdiet. These motions were based up-
on the grounds:

(1) That there was an entire failure to prove that the plaintiff had
any right to the use and occupancy of the grounds in question, on
which the hay was raised at the time the trespasses are alleged to have
been committed ; namely, on or about October 15, 1918. And (2) that
there is no such proof as would justify the jury in finding a verdict as
to the amount of hay destroyed, if any was so destroyed, or the value
thercof.

We are of the opinion that the trial court committed no error in
denying these motions. It is admitted that the plaintiff was the owner
of the millet, and had permission to go upon the premises and cut,
stack, and remove the same. See also Lindsay v. Winona & St. P. R.
Co. 29 Minn. 411, 43 Am. Rep. 228, 13 N. W. 191; Roney v. IL S.
Halvorsen Co. 29 N. D. 13, 149 N. W, 688; 25 Cve. 642. It is un-
dixputed that the defendant was aware of this fact at the time he left
the gates open and permitted his stock to go into the field where the
millet was. There was a written statement signed by the lessee, Brown
(which was procured by Ida B. Fried’s attorney), stating that “E. H.
Grifiim may remain on section 36, Twp. 139, Runge. 66, until Septem-
her 1, 1918.” There was testimony to the effeet that while it was
agreed that the plaintiff might cut and remove the millet, it was also
agreed that it must be done within the time limited in the agreement
gimed by Brown.” The plaintiff, however, claimed that while the
agreement referred to gave him permission to remain upon and in ocen-
. pancy of the buildings npon the premises only until September 1, 1918,
nothing was said about the time that the millet shonld be taken off.  Ile
further testified that “it wasn't ready to take off.”

In instrueting the jury the trial court said:

“I instruet you, gentlemen of the jury, that as a matter of law, if
vou find that by the agreement of the parties the plaintiff had a rigat
to the use of the premises for the purposes of raising and harvesting
thiz millet, that the plaintiff had a reasonabls time after the maturity
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of the hay within which to remove the same from the premiscs, and a
duty was incumbent upon the plaintiff to remove the same within a
reasonable time after that allotted him, for the removal of the same.
And if you find that the plaintiff did not exercise reasonable diligence,
and did not remove the same within a reasonable time, after the ex-
piration of his rights, or after the expiration of the date given him,
and he then suffered damages by reason of the stock of the defendant
running upon said premises, the plaintiff could not in such event re-
cover damages for injury to his hay.

“These parties had rights and responsibilities resting upon cach
of them. Plaintiff had a right to occupy the premises for a given
time. He had a duty to remove his property and to terminate his
interests therein within a reasonable time, and it was the duty of
the defendant to observe the rights of the plaintiff during such reason-
able time as the plaintiff had. The question for the jury to determine
under such circumstances is, What would be a reasonable time? That
is a question of fact which the jury must determine in this case. If
you find that the plaintiff had certain rights of occupancy, and rights
to crops grown upon these premises for a space of time, or for a rea-
sonable time, it would be a question for the jury to determine whether
or not the plaintiff removed his property and terminated his occupancy
of the premises within a reasonable time. And, if you find that the
plaintiff did not remove his property within a reasonable time, and
after the expiration of a reasonable time his property reccived in-
juries at the hands of the defendant’s stock, the plaintiff could not in
such event recover any damages. But if you find that the plaintiff had
a reasonable time within which to remove this millet hay from the
premises, and during that time the same was injured or destroved by
the defendant’s stock, then the defendant is responsible, as T have
already stated, in damages to the plaintiff for the injuries sustained,
and it will be for the jury to determine in that event what the reason-
able damages were. It will be for the jury to determine the amount of
hay which you find was destroyed and the reasonable value of the same
at the time it was destroyed; if you find that it was destroyed. In no
event, of course, could the plaintiff recover damages for injuries re-
sulting from loss by reason of injuries by the clements, or by any other
injury excepting injury inflicted by the defendant’s stock, if any.”
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It is apparent, therefore, that there was some evidence tending to
show that plaintiff had, at least, an implied authority to leave the
millet on the premises after Scptember 1st. Whether he left it for
a longer period than he was authorized to do was, under the circum-
stances, a question of fact, and the question was submitted to the jury
under instructions the correctness of which have not been challenged.

The judgment and order appealed from must be affirmed. It is so
ordered.

Bronsox, Biepzerr, and Gracg, JJ., concur.

Roginson, J. I dissent. -

FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF GLASGOW, MONTANA, a Foreign
~ Corporation, Respondent, v. W. J. CARROLL, Appellant.

(179 N. W. 664.)

Witness — in suit by indorsee after indorser’s death, maker held competent
to testify as to true consideration.

1. In an action by an indorsce of a promissory note against the maker,
where the indorser had died before suit was brought and no representative of
his was party to the action, § 7871, Comp. Laws 1913, does not preclude the
defendant from testifying to the true consideration for the note.

Evidence — attorney may testify to pendency of suit in foreign state, with-
out using court records.

2. An attorney representing a party in litigation in a foreign state may give
competent testimony relating to the fact of the continued pendency of the
suit without proving the contents of the court records.

Banks and banking — knowledge by payee bank director as to true consid-
eration held not imputable to indorsee bank.

3. Where the payee of a note transfers it by indorsement to a bank in which

NoTeE.—Cases holding a bank chargeable with its president’s and general man-
ager’s knowledge of facts which invalidate notes transferred to it Ly him, and
which refuse to recognize the exception that a bank is not chargeable with the
knowledge of its officers as to transactions in which they are personally interested,
are collated in notes in 29 L.R.A.(N.8.) 558, and 49 L.R.A.(N.S.) 764, on imputation
of knowledge of bank officers to bank, where officers are personally interested.
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such payee is a director but not an active officer, the director’s knowledge of
the true conmsideration is not imputed to the bank. '

Bills and notes — proof of good defense must be met by proof of holding in
due course.
4. Where the plaintiff made out a prima facie case, and the defendant in-
troduced evidence going to establish a defense to the note which was not met
by proof that the plaintiff was & holder in due course (Comp. Laws 1913,
§ 6944, it was error to direct a verdict in favor of the plaintiff.

Opinion filed September 28, 1920.

Appeal from the District Court of Ward County, K. E. Leighton,
J.

Reversed and remanded.

Palda & Aaker, for appellant.

The court erred in holding that the testimony of the defendant,
Carroll, was barred under subdivision 2, § 7871, Comp. Laws 1913.
Cardiff v. Marquis, 17 N. D. 110; Lake Grocery Co. v. Chiostri, 34
N. D. 386.

He cannot be excluded unless the party against whom his testimony
is offered is within one of the classes protected by the statute. 40 Cye.
2263, 2301, and cases cited.

The knowledge of the director of the plaintiff bank, Coleman, is
imputed to the plaintiff, and hence plaintiff cannot be a holder in due
course. McCarty v. Kepreta, 24 N. D. 395.

F. B. Lambert, for respondent.

In this state the purposes of the statute involved to prevent any
party from securing an undue advantage in establishing, by his tes-
timony, what transaction or conversation took place, when the lips of
the other party are sealed by death, have been clearly expressed and
continuously followed by this court. Braithwaite v. Aiken, 2 N. D.
61, 49 N. W. 4195 Hutchinson v. Cleary, 3 N. D. 270, 55 N. W. 729;
Regan v. Jones, 14 N. D. 591, 105 N. W, 613; First Nat. Bank v.
Warner, 17 N. D. 76, 114 N. W. 1085, 17 Ann. Cas. 213; Cardiff v.
Marquis, 17 N. D. 116, 114 N. W. 1088; Larson v. Newman, 19 N. D.
160, 23 L.R.A.(N.S.) 849, 121 N. W. 202; Truman v. Dakota Trust
Co. 29 N. D. 456, 151 N. W. 219; Lake Grocery Co. v. Chiostri, 34
N. D. 386, 158 N."W. 998.
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Biepzery, J. This is an appeal from a judgment entered pursuant
to a directcd verdict in favor of the plaintiff. The action was bronght
by the plaintiff as holder of a promissory note for $502, dated Decem-
ber 12, 1917, made payable to E. D. Coleman, and indorsed by him in
blank. Coleman died before the trial of the action. At the trial the
plaintiff proved the defendant’s signature, and, to prove plaintiff’s
ownership, one R. M. Lewis, vice president of the plaintiff bank, was
called and testified to the signature of Coleman as indorser and that
the bank was the owner and holder of the note.

The plaintiff rested, whereupon the defendant went upon the stand
and attempted to testify to the true consideration for the note. Some
of the evidence was stricken out and frequent objections were made,
so that it is somewhat difficult to ascertain what evidence the court
considered in granting the plaintiff’s motion for a directed verdict
made at the close of the case. DBut in this opinion sufficient comment
will be made upon the admissibility of the evidence to determine for
purposes of a new trial what should be admitted; also wherein the
court erred in granting the plaintiff’s motion.

There are two questions raised upon the admissibility of evidence,
which incidentally involve the burden of proof and a question of con-
structive notice to a corporation of a fact known to a director.

The defendant, over the objection of plaintiff’s counsel, testified that
the only consideration for the note in suit was a contingent liability
of Coleman upon a cost bond of $300, which Coleman and one Trus-
cott had signed in a suit in Montana in which the defendant was in-
tercsted as plaintiff. The objection to the testimony was in substance
that the statement by the defendant of the consideration for the note
involved the giving of testimony concerning a transaction with a per-
son since deceased, and that such testimony is precluded by § 7871,
Comp. Laws 1913. To sustain the contention that the evidence is
inadmissible the respondent’s counsel relies upon the former decisions
of this court, which were last reviewed in Druey v. Baldwin, 41 N. D.
473, 172 N, W, 663, 182 N. W. 700. The respondent’s contention is
sufficiently answered by the statute itself, which provides:

“(2) In a civil action or procceding by or against executors, admin-
istrators, heirs at law, or next of kin in which judgment may be ren-

.~ e |
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dered or ordered entered for or against them, ncither party shall be
allowed to testify against the other as to any transaction,” ete.

The executors, administrators, heirs at law, or next of kin of Cole-
man are not parties to this proceeding, and it is consequently impos-
sible for any judgment to be rendered or ordered for or against any of
them. The defendant had the right to place before the jury evidence
to establish his defense, if any, notwithstanding such evidence related
to a transaction with a deceased person who was not a party. This
would put upon the plaintiff the burden of establishing that it was a
holder in due course, in which case the defense would be overcome.

Further objection was made to testimony going to cstablish that the
suit in Montana in which the cost bond was furnished was still pend-
ing. The testimony consisted principally of statements by the attor-
ney who represented one of the parties to the action. The objection
was that this testimony was not the best evidence. We are of the opin-
ion that the ordinary rule applicable to the proving of the contents of
a record or of a writing is not applicable where a conclusion of fact is
sufficient and where only this is sought to be presented. There are
many situations in which facts common to every-day observation are
also evidenced by written instruments. Yet it is not necessary to pro-
duce the written instruments to cstablish them. If, for instance, in
an action of trespass it is desired to show that John Smith is the own-
er of a certain quarter section of land, it is ordinarily not necessary
to introduce all the written muniments of title. We think the evi-
dence of the attorney as to the continued pendency of the litigation is
competent.

The record shows that Coleman in his lifetime was a director of the
plaintiff bank, though not a managing officer, and the appellants con-
tend that the bank must be presumed to have had knowledge of any
fact of which Coleman had notice, and that hence the plaintiff cannot
be a holder in due course. In this connection, appellants rely upon
Emerado Farmers Elevator Co. v. Farmers Bank, 20 N. D. 270, 29
LR.A.(N.S.) 567, 127 N. W. 522; MecCarty v. Kepretka, 24 N. D.
395, 48 LR.A.(N.S.) 65, 139 N. W. 992, Ann. Cas. 1915A, 834;
and Grebe v. Swords, 28 N. D. 330, 149 N. W. 126. These are all

cases in which the officers who had notice shared in the active control
46 N. D.—5.
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and management of the business of the corporation. If the corpora-
tion could not acquire notice from such officers, it could not, as has
been frequently asserted, be charged with notice at all. These hold-
ings, however, are in conformity with a recent tendency to charge cor-
porations with the knowledge obtained by their officers on a theory of
constructive notice, and we have no disposition to depart from the rule
laid down in these cases. Tt is clearly applicable to charge corpora-
tions with notice where its managing officers have notice. But it is
another matter to charge a corporation with knowledge of facts known
only to a single director, especially where the active officers of the cor-
poration deal with that director in actual ignorance of the facts known
to him. There seems to be a dearth of authority on the subject. In
the case of Doane v. King, 30 Fed. 106, Mr. Justice Brewer stated the
converse of the proposition presented in the instant case, saying (page
107):

“Certainly, plaintiff, although a director in the company, was not
personally chargeable with notice of any false representations made by
Felt, the trcasurer, although the company of which he was a director
might have been bound.”

This is a clear recognition of the distinction between the functions
of a director and an officer in applying the rule of constructive notice.
This case was later before the United States Supreme Court, 139 U.
S. 166, 35 L. ed. 84, 11 Sup. Ct. Rep. 463, on a writ of error, and, in
the opinion of the court, written by Mr. Justice Harlan, the case is
disposed of on the theory that a director plaintiffi who pays value in
good faith before maturity without notice for commercial paper ob-
tained by an officer of the corporation through fraud is entitled to the
protection accorded holders in due course. The directors of banks, as
of corporations generally, act as a board, and not individually, where-
as the officers charged with the active management are generally au-
thorized individually to complete transactions on behalf of the corpo-
ration. It is one thing to charge a corporation with the knowledge of
facts known to the managing officers, but quite a different matter to
charge it with notice of a fact known only to a minority of its dirce-
tors. See 1 Morse, Banks & Bkg. § 112. In the light of the facts in
this case, in so far as they are disclosed by the record, it was possible
for the bank of which Coleman was director to be a holder in due
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course of the note which it obtained through Coleman’s indorsement.
In the state of the record, however, a verdict should not have been
directed for the respondent. When the defendant offered evidence of
the true consideration for the note, it was incumbent on the bank to
show that it or someone through whom it claimed title was a holder -
in due course. No such evidence was offered. The plaintiff merely
contented itself with the proof of a prima facie case which, of course,
would have been sufficient had there been no evidence tending to estab-
lish a defense. But when evidence was offered impugning the right
of the defendant to recover the face of the note, a prima facie case is
no longer sufficient but is required to be supplemented by evidence
showing that the plaintiff is a holder in due course. Comp. Laws
1913, § 6944.

For the reasons stated the judgment must be reversed and the case
remanded for a new trial. The appellant is entitled to costs on this
appeal, and the costs in District Court will abide the event of a new
trial. Judgment reversed.

Caristiaxson, Ch. J., and RoBiNson and Broxsow, JJ., concur.

Gracg, J. I concur in the result.

RALPH WALDO PRESCOTT and Wallace M. Prescott, Plaintiffs,
Contestants, and Respondents, v. F. E. MERRICK, as Propo-
nent of the Will of William J. Morgridge, Deceased, Clara Allen,
Stella J. Merrick, Emerson P. Merrick, Ruth M. Caufield, Wal-
ter D. Merrick, F. E. Merrick, and Delia F. Morgridge, Defend-
ants and Contestees.

F. M. MERRICK as Proponent of the Will of William J. Morgridge,
Deceased, Stella J. Merrick, Emerson P. Merrick, Ruth M. Cau-
field, Walter D. Merrick, and F. E. Merrick, Defendants, Con-
testees, and Appellants.

(179 N. W. 693.)

Appeal and error — party adopting line of inquiry cannot predicate error
on opposite party’s adoption thereof.
1. Where one party adopts a form of inqury for the purpose of eliciting cer-
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tain facts, he cannot predicate error upon the adoption of the same form by the
adverse party.

Wills — qucstions by contestants as to mental capacity of deceased held not
reversible error.

2. Upon an issue of mental incompetency to make a will, the contestants
asked witnesses who had observed the condition of the deceased whether or not
in their opinion he had sufficient mental capacity to make a will, to know the
disposition he was making of his property, and the beneficiaries. It is held
that the inquiry in this form does not amount to reversible error.

Wills = inquiry as to mental capacity may cover pecriod before and after
execution of will.

3. Where there is ample evidence of permanent mental impairment following
an apoplectic stroke, it is not neccssary that witnesses should have seen the
deceased at the date of the purported execution of the will in order to give
testimony to his mental condition, as the range of inquiry may extend to a rea-
sonable period before and after the execution of the will.

Wills — questions to nonexpert witnesses, including date of alleged will,
not rcversible error.

4. The inclusion of the date of execution in questions asked of nonexpert
witnesses to elicit their opinions as to the mental competency of the deceased
is mot error, though the particular witnesses did not obscrve the deccased on
that date.

" Opinion filed September 28, 1920. Rehearing denied October 15, 1920.

eo-

Appeal from the District Court of Ramsey County, A. G. Burr, J.

Aftirmed.

Adamson & Thompson and Fisk & Murphy, for appellants.

The rule is that a nonexpert witness may not express an opinion of
the condition of the mind of a person under counsideration at a time
other than when he saw him. Blake v. Rourke (Iowa) 38 N. W. 392;
Speer v. Speer (ITowa) 123 N. W. 176; Danning v. Butcher (Iowa)

Norti.—The result of the best considercd cases on the subject of what constitates
testamentary capacity seems to put the quantum of understanding requisite to the
valid exccution of a will upon the basis of knowing and comprehending the trans-
action and its effect; that is, that the testator shall understand the extent of the
property of which he is disposing, and the objects of his bounty, as will be seen
by an examination of the cases collated in notes in 27 L.R.A.(N.8.) 2, and L.R.A.
10154, 444, on the question what constitutes capacity or incapacity to make a will.

On opinion evidence by nonexpert as to the contractual or testamentary capacity
of another, see note in 38 L.R.A.(N.S.) 591.
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59 N. W. 69; 27 L.LR.A.(N.S.) 294; 140 Am. St. Rep. 268; State v.
McGruder, 101 N. W. 646; Dolan v. Henry, 177 N. W. 718; Runyan
v. Price (Ohio) 85 Am. Dec. 468; Betts v. Betts, 84 N. W. 977.

A witness cannot be permitted to give his opinion in answer to an
inquiry which embraces the whole merits of the case and leaves noth-
ing for the jury to decide. DeWitt v. Barley, 17 N. Y. 347; Jameson
v. Drinkald, 12 Moore, 148 ; Muldowney v. Ry. Co. 39 Iowa, 615.

In the case at bar the contestants so framed their questions by in-
cluding the words “mental capacity” as to invade the province of the
jury. Walker v. Walker, 34 Ala. 469; Kempsey v. McGinniss, 21
Mich. 123 ; White v. Bailey, 10 Mich. 155.

Neither an expert nor a nonexpert can state his opinion of the capac-
ity of the testator to make a will when such opinion assumes the shape
and has the effect of being an opinion upon the legal capacity of the
party in question. Brown v. Mitchell, 36 L.R.A. 67; Fairchild v.
Bascomb, 36 Vt. 398; May v. Bradlee, 127 Mass. 414; Walker v.
Walker, 34 Ala. 469; Kempsey v. McGinniss, 21 Mich. 123; Gibson
v. Gibson, 9 Yerg. 329; Runyan v. Price, 15 Ohio St. 1, 86 Am.
Dec. 459; Schneider v. Manning, 121 Ill. 376; Farrell v. Brennan,
32 Mo. 328, 82 Am. Dec. 137; Clapp v. Fullerton, 34 N. Y. 190, 90
Am. Dec. 681; Hewlett v. Wood, 55 N. Y. 634; White v. Bailey, 10
Mich. 159; Re Blood, 62 Vt. 359.

Wm. Anderson, Cwthbert, Smythe, & Wheeler, and Middaugh &
Cuthbert, for respondents.

As evidence of such capacity, it is settled that opinions of witnesses
who know him are admissible, but only opinions founded on facts
which must first be given to the jury that they may determine the
weight to be given to the opinions founded on them. Dunham’s Ap-
peal from Probate, 27 Conn. 198; Potts v. House, 50 Am. Dec. 332;
Barker v. Pope, 91 N. C. 168; Bricker v. Lightner, 40 Pa. 205; Wil-
kinson v. Pcarson, 23 Pa. 117.

BirpzeLL, J. This is an appeal from a judgment in favor of the
contestant in a proceeding to contest the purported will of William J.
Morgridge, deceased. After a hearing upon the contest in the county
court of Ramsey county, the document was admitted to probate, where-
upon the contestants appealed to the district court demanding a trial
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de novo. The issues framed were tried before the presiding district
judge and a jury, resulting in a verdict that the document offcred was
not the last will and testament of William J. Morgridge. Judgment
was entered upon the verdict. A motion for a new trial was subse-
quently made, which was overruled. There are appeals from the judg-
ment and from the order denying the motion for a new trial.

The facts necessary to an understanding of the issues involved on
the appeals in this court may be briefly stated as follows:

William J. Morgridge, a bachelor, had lived in Ramsey county for
a number of yecars. During the period of his greatest activity in busi-
ness affairs he was engaged in the mercantile business in the village of
Grand Harbor. For about twelve years of that time prior to the year
1904 he was in partnership with one Fred E. Merrick. In 1904 Mer-
rick severed his active connection with the business and thereafter
Morgridge continued in sole charge until 1910 when he closed out and
moved to Devils Lake, making his home at one of the hotels in that
city. During the period of partnership association in business with
Merrick, Morgridge lived in Merrick’s home in Grand Harbor, in
which he was treated practically as a member of the family. It seems
that the relationship between Morgridge and the Merricks during this
period was intimate and mutually satisfactory. After the dissolution
of the partnership Merrick gave Morgridge a power of attorney,
enabling Morgridge to transact business concerning the matters in
which they both continued interested, and in addition to look after
some farm lands which Merrick owned in Ramsey county. In Decem-
ber, 1915, Morgridge suffered a stroke of paralysis from the effects of
which he never recovered. After this time he lived at the General Hos-
pital in Devils Lake. The document in question was executed on
November 23, 1917, and the deceased died February 1, 1919, being
at the time between seventy and seventy-five years of age.

The deceased left property valued at approximately $80,000. The
will provides for bequests as follows: $100 to Delia F. Morgridge, of
Boston, Mass., a sister of the deceased; to a nephew, Ralph Waldo
Prescott, $10,000; to one Clara Allen, of Boston, $100; to Stella
Merrick of Medford, Oregon (wife of his former business partner,
F. E. Merrick) $5,000; to Ruth Caufield, of Oregon City, Oregon (a
daughter of F. E. and Stella Merrick), $1,000; to Walter D. and
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Emerson P. Merrick (sons of F. E. and Stella Merrick), of Medford,
Oregon, $1,000 each. The balance of the property was devised and
bequeathed to the above-named persons in proportion to the amounts
-bequeathed in the will.

The contestants’ answer to the petition for probate, after setting
forth the heirship, alleges grounds for contest as follows: (1) The
lack of mental capacity to make the will; (2) the lack of due execu-
tion; and (3) the existence of undue influence. The case was sub-
mitted to the jury under the first two issues.

There are a number of assignments of error based upon questions
asked of a number of nonexpert witnesses. The question in the form
objected to was first put to one, Baird, a banker with whom the de-
ceased had had a number of business transactions, both before and
after he was stricken. After laying a foundation showing Baird’s
acquaintance with and knowledge of the condition of the deceased dur-
ing the period under examination, he was asked this question:

“Q. Now, Mr. Baird, from all your observations and experiences
which you have related, would you say that William J. Morgridge had
and possessed such sound mind, disposing mind and memory, and ca-
pacity that he could make a will on the 23d day of November, 1917 #”’

The question was objected to and the objection overruled, the wit-
ness answering:

“A. T do not believe he could make a will intelligently.” Where-
upon the following question was asked:

“Q. That is, you mean by that, you do not think he had the mental
capacity to know what he was doing with his property or to whom he
was disposing of it?”

“A. T do not think he did.”

A similar question was put to a number of nonexpert witnesses who
had at different times observed Morgridge’s condition, but in the other
instances the elements covered by the two questions above-quoted were
combined.

The witness, Haley, who had known the deceased intimately during
his lifetime and who had visited him at the hospital on a number of
occasions, was asked the following question:

“Q. What would you say, Mr. Ilaley, from your observations,
knowledge of the man and visits with him, hearing him talk and your
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talking to him, as to whether or not he had sufficient mental capacity,
soundness of mind and memory to make a will and to dispose, to know
the disposition he was making of his property, and the beneficiaries
under his will and the recipients of the property.”

A similar question was put to Dr. Sihler, who treated the deccased
professionally, who saw him more frequently than any other witness,
and who was one of the witnesses to the will. He answered that in
his opinion the deccased was incompetent at the time the will was
made.

The appellant argues that these questions were improper for two
reasons: First, they call for the conclusion of the witness as to the
compctency of the testator to make a will and thus involve both the
question of mental capacity as a fact and the legal conclusion of com-
petency which could only be drawn by the jury under proper instruc-
tions from the court; and, secondly, that the questions called for the
conclusions of the various witnesses as to the existence of such capacity
on November 23, 1917, the date of the will, without a foundation be-
ing laid showing that the various witnesses observed the condition of
the deceased at that time.

In considering the assignments of error based upon the rulings on
testimony above referred to, we do not wish to be understood as ap-
proving the form of the questions objected to to any greater extent
than appears in the discussion to follow, which is necessarily limited
to the circumstances in this particular case as mentioned below.

This case was tried in December, 1919. Upon the trial the pro-
ponents of the will introduced the deposition of Clark W. Kelly which
was taken on -October 10th, nearly two months before the trial. The
witness was examined in chief by Mr. J. C. Adamson, as attorney for
the proponents of the will. Upon inquiring with reference to the
capacity of the testator, the question was put as follows:

“Q. Now, then, Mr. Kelly, basing your answer upon the specific
conversations you had with Mr. Morgridge and the opportunity you
had to observe him and listen to his talk and discussions and conversa-
tions which you had with him in October and in November, 1917,
which you have testified to, you may state whether or not in your opin-
ion Mr. Morgridge was, in the middle of November, 1917, of sufficient
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mind and memory to execute a will and to dispose of his property and
know what he was about at that time ¢”

This question was objected to by the attorney for the contestants on
the specific ground that the witness had not shown himseclf competent
to testify as to the mental requirements for a person to make a will.
At the conclusion of the examination a motion was made to strike the
answer for the same reason. A question substantially similar was
asked of W. R. Merrick, in his deposition taken at Los Angecles a
month before the trial. It will be scen that the questions asked by
the proponents were in all substantial particulars in the same form as
those asked by the contestants upon the trial, and it is a well-estab-
lished rule that where one party adopts a form of inquiry for purposes
of eliciting certain facts, he cannot predicate error upon the adoption
of the same form by the adverse party. Montana Eastern R. Co. v.
Lebeck, 32 N. D. 162, 155 N. W. 648; Wetzel v. Firebaugh, 251 Ill.
190-197, 95 N. E. 1085.

But aside from this consideration we are of the opinion that, in the
circumstances presented in the instant case, it was not error to overrule
the objections to the various questions asked of the witnesses for the
_contestants. The objection that the questions were so framed as to per-
mit the witnesses to draw the legal conclusion which must be left to
the jury under proper instructions presents a principle which has giv-
en rise to some difficulty in its application. The principle for which
the appellants contend is clear enough. It is for the jury, and not for
the witnesses, to say whether the deceased had the requisite capacity
to make a will. Wigmore, Ev. § 1958. But the difficulty of present-
ing to the jury the condition of mind of a person whose competency is
assailed is such that frequently it cannot be done to the best advantage
without permitting the witness to state the condition in terms of con-
clusions. The witness must neccssarily state a conclusion of capacity
or lack of capacity from his own experience and judgment as to what
constitutes capacity for doing certain acts. The fact that the law has
defined the degree of capacity to perform the same acts should not, in
itself, render the conclusion of the witnesses altogether incompetent
where there is presented to the jury, as in the instant case, all of the
facts from which the conclusion is drawn. It remains, nevertheless,
the opinion of the witness as to the mental condition. For instance,
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there is much testimony in the rccord before us to the effect that the
deccased was slow to recognize even his most intimate friends; that at
times he seemed to think that he did not have sufficient property to care
for himself. The natural inference to be drawn from such testimony
would be that he did not comprehend his property and the objects of
his beneficence ; from which it would follow that he had not the mental
capacity to make a will. In the questions objected to, however, the
legal definition of capacity to make a will was incorporated and the
inquiry thus limited to the ability of the deceased to comprehend his
property and dispose of it to beneficiaries. In these circumstances we
are of the opinion that it was not error to overrule the objections to
the questions. Macafee v. Higgins, 31 App. D. C. 353; Glass v.
Glass, 127 Towa, 646, 103 N. W. 1013; Searles v. Northwestern Mut.
L. Ins. Co. 148 Towa, 65-75, 29 L.R.A.(N.S.) 405, 126 N. W. 801;
Dolan v. Henry, — Towa, —, 177 N. W. 712. A quecstion of the ex-
act nature of those asked in the case at bar was upheld in Bost v. Bost,
87 N. C. 477. See also Horah v. Knox, 87 N. C. 483.

In so far as the questions call for the opinions of the witnesses as to
the competency on November 23, 1917, regardless of whether or not
the particular witness had observed the deceased on that date, they do
not involve error. '

The record shows that the deceased was suffering from a disease
known as arterial sclerosis, and that in December, 1915, he suffered a
stroke of apoplexy resulting in paralysis, from the effects of which he
never recovered. There is much testimony going to show the degree
and the nature of the mental impairment attendant upon the affliction
of the deceased. And we may add that the witnesses differed greatly.
From the nature of the deceased’s condition, however, as testified to by
the contestants’ witnesses, it may well be inferred that, while there
would be some variation in the mental power, a condition of constant
or permanent impairment was shown, and where this condition is
shown to exist the inquiry may extend to a reasonable period of time,
either anterior or subsequent to the date of the execution of the will.
Such evidence would afford a proper basis for the inference to be
drawn by the jury as to the mental capacity at the time of the execu-
tion of the will. It may be true that it was technically improper to
include in the question a date not covered by the observation of the par-
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ticular witness; but it is clear that the proponents’ case was not preju-
diced by the inclusion of the date, for the jury had before it the obser-
vations upon which the opinions of the witnesses were based. Fur-
thermore, the court in the instruection given specifically limited the evi-
dence to the establishing of incompetcney on the date of excention.
This would have been the duty of the court if the date had not been
mentioned in the questions. The inclusion of the date was harmless.

Additional assignments relating to the exclusion of evidence offered
for purposes of impeachment seem to be without merit. The interest
which the witnesses, particularly the witness Sihler, had in this contest
jproceeding was patent to the jury, and the matters concerning which
impeachment was sought were clearly collateral, as they did not involve
the interest of any witness, but only contradiction concerning purely
foreign subject-matter. We do not deem it necessary to consider these
assignments further.

It is apparent to us that a fair trial has been had, that all issues of
fact have been properly submitted to the jury, and that their verdict
is decisive. Finding no error in the record warranting reversal, the
judgment and order appealed from are affirmed.

CAROLINA KOST, Petitioner and Appellant, v. SHERIDAN
COUNTY, a Municipal Corporation, Defendant and Respondent.

(179 N. W. 703.)

'lntants—appllcatlon for mother's pension denied where applicant had not
resided in county for a year.

A mother made application by petition for the allowance of a mother’s pen-
sion under chapter 185, Session Laws of 1915. Under stipulated facts it ap-
peared that she had been voluntarily absent from the county in which the ap-
plication was made for more than a year previous thereto, and that she had
taken up her residence in another county where she had lived for more than a
year. It is held:

1. Under § 5 of § 2 of chapter 185, Sessions Laws of 1915, an applicant for
a mother’s pension must have resided in the county for one year.
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Infants — statutory period applics only to those not residing in county for
year immecdiately before applying for mother’s pension.

2. The provisions of | 4 of § 2501, Comp. Laws 1913, which, in determining
the period of residence in a given county, direct the exclusion of periods spent
as inmates in public institutions, and each month during which poor relief
was reccived from any county, apply ouly with respect to persons who have
not resided in any one county for the period of a year immedintcly preceding
the application.

Domicil — residence in given county is lost by voluntary absence thercfrom
for a yecar or more.

3. Under 7 6 of § 2501, Comp. Laws 1913, the residence of an individual in &
given county is lost by voluntary absence from the county for one year or more,
regardless of the receipt by such person of poor relief during a part of the
period of absence. '

Opinion filed October 16, 1920.

Appeal from the district court of Sheridan County, Nuessle, J.
Affirmed.

J. H. Ulsrud, for petitioner and appellant.
Frank I. Temple, for defendant and respondent.

Bmozery, J. By petition dated December 16, 1916, the appellant,
Carolina Kost, presented to the county court of Sheridan county an
application for the allowance of a mother’s pension under chapter 185,
Session Laws of 1915. The petition was denied and an appeal was
taken to the distriet court, wherein the order of the county court deny-
ing the petition was affirmed. The matter was presented on stipulated
facts, which, so far as material, may be bricfly stated as follows:

Carolina Kost is a widow and the mother of five children under four-
tecn years of age and one child over fourtecen. The children under
fourteen years of age are dependent upon the mother for support. Prior
to September 29, 1915, the petitioner had resided in Sheridan county,
but on that date she moved with her family to the village of Anamoose
in McHenry county where she has ever since been living.  Upon mov-
ing to Anamoose she had money and property valued at about $800.
With some of this she purchased a house and lot which she still owns.
She intends to remain permanently in the village of Anamoose.

During the month of June, 1916, and at various times thereafter un-
til October 31, 1916, the petitioner received aid as a poor person from
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the county of Sheridan and after the 31st of October, 1916, she re-
ceived aid and relief from McHenry county. The sole question pre-
sented upon this appeal, is as to whether or not the petitioner’s resi-
dence, for the purpose of applying the Mothers’ Pension Aect, is in the
county of Sheridan.

Paragraph 5 of § 2 of the Mothers’ Pension Act (Sess. Laws 1915,
chap. 185) provides that no person shall receive benefit under the act
who shall not have been a resident of the county in which the applica-
tion is made for at least one year previous to the making of such appli-
cation. By another section the residence is required to be stated in the
application. Section 7 declares that the act is intended to supplement
existing laws for the aid of the poor and is enacted for the specific pur-
pose of furnishing permanent aid to mothers who come under its pro-
visions. The difficulty arises upon a construction of the residence pro-
visions of the statute above referred to in conjunction with § 2501,
Comp. Laws 1913, regulating the residence of persons for purposes of
applying the poor relief statutes.

The contention of the appellant is that the term “residence” as used
in the Mother’s Pension Law means a residence such as would fix the
liability of a county for relief and support as the same is defined in §
2501, Comp. Laws 1913. Subdivision 4 of the section last referred to
provides that “each male person and each unmarried female over the
age of twenty-one years, who shall have resided one year continuously
in any county in this state, shall thereby gain a residence in such coun-
ty.” ,

But it is further provided as follows:

“Every person who has resided one year continuously in the state,
but not in any one county, shall have a settlement in the county in
which he has longest resided within such year. The time during which
& person has been an inmate of a hospital, poor house, jail, prison or
other public institution and each month during which he has reccived
relief from the poor fund of any county, shall be excluded in determin-
ing the time of residence hereunder.”

The proposition of appellant’s counsel is that the period of time dur
ing which the applicant received poor relief from Sheridan county and
from McHenry county must be deducted in computing the year’s resi-
dence in McHenry county, from which it would follow that the appli-

-
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cant was still, at the time of petitioning, a resident of Sheridan coun-
ty. Assuming that this statute is applicable in determining residence
under the Mothers’ Pension Act, we do not construe it as appellant’s
counsel docs. DBoth §Y 4 and 6 of § 2501, Comp. Laws 1913, bear un-
mistakable evidence of legislative intention to fix the residence of a
person for purposes of poor relief in a county where he shall have re-
sided continuously for one year. That portion of the statute above
quoted, which has reference to fixing the obligation for relief with re-
spect to a person who has nof resided in any one county for a year, was
added by an amendment in 1907 (Secss. Laws 1907, chap. 183) when
the period of residence required was changed from ninety days to one
year. The purpose of this provision is evident. It is to fix the obliga-
tion as between counties, only with respect to persons who have not
resided continuously in any one county for a year prior to the time
the application is made. In such cases the applicant will be deemed
to have a settlement in the county in which he has longest resided with-
in the year, excepting from the computation any period during which
he was an inmate of a public institution and each month during which
he received support from the poor fund in any county. Any other con-
struction would render the different provisions of § 2501 rcpugnant
to each other. For instance, § 6 of this section provides that “each res-
idence, when once legally acquired, shall continue until it is lost or
defeated by acquiring a new one in this state, or by voluntary absence
from the county in which such residence had obtained for one year or
more; and upon acquiring a new residence, or upon the happening of
such voluntary absence, all former residence shall be defeated and
lost.”

This is in no wise qualified by any provision respecting periods of
time spent in public institutions or months during which poor relief
was received. It recognizes the loss of residence, through voluntary
absence for a year.

The applicant in this case was voluntarily absent from the county in
which the application was made for more than one year prior to the
application and consequently had lost her residence in Sheridan coun-
ty under 7 6 of § 2501, Comp. Laws 1913. This subdivision is not
qualified by the language of ¢ 4. We are of the opinion that the rules
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of construction with reference to avoidance of repugnancies clearly re-
quire the interpretation of § 4 as hereinabove indicated.

The applicant, not having resided in Sheridan county for the period
of a year previous to her application, has not brought herself within
the terms of the statute as to such county. It follows that the judg-
ment appealed from is correct and it is affirmed.

WILLIAM P. TUTTLE, Respondent, v. LOUISE J. TUTTLE, Ap-
pellant.

‘(181 N. W. 888.)

Divorce — decree for husband will not be vacated twelve years afterwards
where during that time wife has received benefits thereof.

This is an appeal from an order made by Judge Cooley denying a motion to
vacate a judgment of divorce. In 1907, some thirteen years ago, the plaintiff
being fifty-nine and the defendant sixty-three, this action was commenced.
From the complaint and the answer it appears that each party charged the
other with cruelty and desertion. On the trial each party was represented by
distinguished counsel. Many witnesses were sworn. The testimony covers 500
pages, and it sustains the judgment. The moving affidavits, which impute
bribery to the trial judge, are in no way convincing. And it appears that for
twelve years the defendant has accepted the benefits of the judgment; she has
been receiving $300 a month. In 1909 an appeal from the judgment was dis-
missed because the plaintiff had then accepted some of the benefits awarded
her. Tuttle v. Tuttle, 19 N, D. 748. -

Opinion filed October 28, 1920. Rehearing denied January 21, 1921.

Appeal from an order of the District Court of Burleigh County,
Honorable Chas. M. Cooley, Special Judge.

Affirmed.

Leslie A. Simpson and S. E. Ellsworth, for appellant.

It is well settled that judgments may be set aside and vacated on
motion made in the original action, and such has been the practice
generally in such cases. Beach v. Beach, 6 Dak. 371, 40 N. W. 701;
Gaar, S. & Co. v. Spaulding, 2 N. D. 420; Yorke v. Yorke, 3 N. D.
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343, 55 N. W. 1095 ; Nichells v. Nichells, 5 N. D. 125, 64 N. W. 73.

Fraud, as other facts, may be established by a preponderance of the
evidence. While a preponderance of evidence is required to sustain
the burden of proof, a preponderance is sufficient, and proof beyond a
reasonable doubt is not necessary.” 20 Cye. 121, notes 15, 16; 17 Cye.
760, 761.

A proceeding or action in equity to cancel a contract implied by
fraud is governcd by the same principles which apply to a similar
action to vacatc a decree. 20 Cyc. 87, 91; Dennie v. Harris (Iowa)
153 N. W. 343; Haverty v. Haverty (Kan.) 11 Pac. 364.

“A court record, based upon a legal fraud, may demand obedience
while it stands, but it is idle to talk of the sanetity of such a record.
Whatsoever is tainted with fraud—a court record no less than a con-
tract—must fall before the clear evidence of the fraud by which it
was established. This principle can never be departed from without
making the law the instrument for the perpetration of injustice, op-
pression of crime. This is familiar law.” Yorke v. Yorke, 3 N. D.
343, 55 N. W, 1095.

“Equity will restrain the enforcement of a judgment which was un-
justly obtained by means of a conspiracy or fraudulent collusion.” 23
Cye. 1027.

“The district court, being a court of general jurisdiction, can, in a
case of equity, where fraud and collusion are charged against a judge
in entering an order or dccree, review the same and annul it, if the
facts justify such a conclusion.” Sanford v. Head & Merrit, 5 Cal. 297;
Stokes v. Knarr, 11 Wis. 392.

Lawrence & Murphy and Edward Engerud, for respondent.

- “No inquiry can be made into the honesty of the decision of a court
when that decision is interposed as conclusive evidence of probable
canse. Root v. Rose, 6 N, D. 575.

“The peace and interests of society require the power to disturb the
decrees and judgments of courts of competent jurisdiction, and to re-
open controversies which it is the policy of the law to quiet, to be exer-
cised with strictness and caution. Waldron v. Waldron, 76 Ala. 285;
United States v. Throckmorton, 98 U. S. 61, 25 L. ed. 93; Graves v.
Graves, 10 L.R.A.(N.S.) 226; 15 R. C. L. pp. 875, 876, S78.

“A charge of fraud in obtaining a judgment of divorce must, in
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order to sustain a bill in equity to set it aside, be established by the
clearest and most satisfactory evidence.” Whittaker v. Whittaker, 151
I1l. 266, 37 N. E. 1077; Whiting v. Whiting, 114 Mass. 494; Hol-
brook v. Holbrook, 114 Mass. 568; Watkinson v, Watkinson, 68 N. J.
Fq. 632, 69 L.R.A. 397, 60 Atl. 931, 6 Ann. Cas. 326; Wiemer v.
Wicemer, 21 N. D. 371, 130 N. W. 1015.

“A burden rests upon whoever secks to set aside a judgment or de-
cree, of proving facts and establishing grounds sufficient to warrant the
court in annulling it.” Waldron v. Waldron, 76 Ala. 285; Corney v.
Corney, 108 Ark. 415, 159 S. W. 20; Re James, 99 Cal. 374, 37 Am.
St. Rep. 60, 35 Pac. 1122; Penn v. McGhee, 6 Ga. App. 631, 65 S. E.
686; Van Sickle v. Harmeyer, 172 IIl. App. 218; Ellis v. Ellis, 61
Iowa, 644, 17 N. W. 28, oL, .

RoBinson, J. This is an appeal from an order made by Judge
Cooley refusing to vacate a judgment of divorce. It was duly given
twelve years ago, and under it the defendant has been receiving $300
a month, so she has now received about $40,000 under the judgment
she seeks to vacate. She appealed from the judgment and the appeal
was dismissed, not on any technicality, but on a showing that she had
then received a large sum of money under the judgment. Tuttle v.
Tuttle, 19 N. D. 748, 124 N. W. 429. The decision of this conrt is
signed by Justices B. F. Spalding, C. J. Fisk, John Carmody, and D. E.
Morgan. The last two justices are now dead. Judge Winchester, who
gave the decision, is dead. Several of the distingnished attorneys who
took part in the trial are dead. The death roll includes Mr. Cochrane,
who was attorney for defendant; and, on very dubious affidavits im-
puting bribery to attorney Cochrane and the late Judge Winchester,
the defendant moves to vacate the judgment. If the motion were to
prevail, then, in twelve years hence, when some of the present judges
may be no more, there might be a similar motion to vacate any decision
by this present court.

In November, 1907, nearly thirteen years ago, when the plaintiff
was fifty-nine and the defendant sixty-three years, this action was com-
menced. From the complaint and the answer it appears that each par-

ty charged the other with cruelty and desertion. On the trial of this
46 N. D.—8.
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suit both parties were represented by distinguished counsel and both
parties were present and testified. In all, sixteen witnesses testified.
The testimony taken before Judge Winchester covers 356 typewritten
pages, the depositions, 163 pages, and then there are numerous exhib-
its. To attempt a statement of the testimony would be an act of folly.
Judge Cooley has found that the judgment is well sustained by the evi-
dence, and the writer is well satisfied that the decision of Judge Win-
chester is in accordance with the testimony and that it is in all respects
just and righteous.

The motion is based on several dubious affidavits imputing bribery
to Judge Winchester, and attorney Cochrane. If the judgment was
wrong and contrary to the evidence, the remedy of the plaintiff was by
an appeal within a year, and not by a motion after the lapse of twelve
years and after receiving $40,000 on the judgment. The motion is
based on affidavits written by counsel, subscribed and sworn to by the
afiants. Such affidavits are the weakest kind of evidence. They have
little or no force when they relate to transactions long past, to transac-
tions with deceased persons, or to matters not susceptible of proof to
the contrary.

The principal affidavit is made by Mr. Pettibone. It avers that
pending the suit on different occasions Tuttle stated that it was his
intention to bribe W. F. Cochrane, one of defendant’s attorneys; that
Tuttle showed him (Mr. Pettibone) a roll of currency, $1,500, which
_he said he was going to give Judge Winchester for campaign purposes.
The affidavit avers that Pettibone saw Tuttle enter the judge’s cham-
bers and there remain with the judge for half an hour; that Tuttle
stated to him that he had delivered the roll to the judge; that W. F.
Cochrane said to Pettibone that Tuttle should have given him $10,000
for his action in the divorce suit. The conclusion of the affidavit is
that affiant is not in any manner interested in the suit, but desires to
see justice done. To give credit to the affiant we must conclude that
the desire to see justice done was very tardy and that Judge Winches-
ter, attorney Cochrane and Mr. Tuttle were fools as well as knaves.

Mrs. Tuttle makes several affidavits. She avers that she did not
know of the bribery until January, 1919, when it was disclosed to her
by Mr. Pettibone.

Knappen, cditor of a newspaper, makes affidavit in regard to con-
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versations with Tuttle concerning the divorce matter in 1908 and 1919.
In this busy world, ten or twelve years is a long time to remember cas-
ual remarks such as commonly “pass in at one ear and out at the
other.” Who can remember even the text from which his pastor
preached ten years ago?

George Hogue makes affidavit that in October, 1908, Tuttle tried to
hire him to bribe Cochrane by offering him $10,000 to arrange the rec-
ord so that in case of an appeal Tuttle would be sure to win. And
that during 1908, he, George Hogue, took a prominent part assisting
Tuttle in his campaign for election to the House of Representatives.
How strange that a man of truth and honor should work to secure the
election of a man confessedly guilty of bribery and corruption!

There is no good reason for extending the opinion by a discussion of
the moving affidavits. They are all alike; they are all controverted;
they are all dubious and highly improbable, and if true, the facts stated
do not show cause for vacating a regular judgment after such a lapse
of time and after defendant has for so many years accepted the benefits
of the judgment.

It is shown that in January, 1918, defendant commenced an action
against the plaintiff in the district court of Burleigh county to recover
about $480,000 ($300,000, with interest from January, 1909). The
basis of the action is that in the divoree suit she should have recovered
at least $300,000. Such an action, in the opinion of the writer, taken
in connection with the proceedings in this case, gives to the whole a
color of blackmail. It shows an attempt to extort money from the
plaintiff, to force him to buy his peace by harassing him with vex-
atious, groundless, and expensive litigation. The judgment in the case
was given after a full and fair hearing. It imports absolute validity
and verity. It is not subject to a collateral attack, nor is the plaintiff
subject to a suit for obtaining the judgment. Hence, no party has a
right to commence or prosecute such an action.

The order appealed from is affirmed, with costs.

Caristiansox, Ch. J., and BirnzeLy, J., concur.

Brorson, J. I concur in the affirmance of the order of the trial
court. In the other opinions filed the facts are quite fully stated. The
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crux of the contraversy is the sufficiency of the moving papers, in equi-
ty, to warrant the vacation of the judgment of divorce that has stood
unimpeached for over ten years, and through which the moving party
has continuously accepted benefits both before and after the discovery
of the alleged fraud and bribery. It is evident that the trial judge,
the Honorable Charles M. Cooley, gave careful and considerate atten-
tion to plaintiff’s claims. He has rendered a well-prepared and well-
considered memorandum decision. Therein he has stated that the pre-
sumptions are in favor of the correctness of the decrce attacked, and
of the honor and integrity of the court which rendered the decree; that
charges of this character must be established by clear and satisfactory
evidence (citing Garrison v. Akin, 2 Barb. 25; Wiemer v. Wiemer, 21
N. D. 871, 130 N. W. 1016) ; that the evidence, submitted in the form
of affidavits, is of an unsatisfactory character and insufficient to war-
rant the vacation of the decree through a motion made upon such affi-
davits alone; that, upon principles of estoppel, the plaintiff, through
the acceptance of benefits under the decree both before and after the
discovery of the alleged fraud and bribery, in sums of money aggre-
gating over $36,000 is not in a position now, after the lapse of over
ten years since the rendition of the decree to question the decree; and,
~ further, that the decree of divorce, so questioned, is sustained by the
evidence produced at the trial where both parties were present, and
where both parties submitted evidence and the case for the decision of
such trial court. We quite agree with the decision and findings of the
trial court. Manifestly, plaintiff’s affidavits, procured ex parte, not
subject to cross-examination, show largely merely circumstantial con-
ditions. Largely, they are in the naturc of hearsay statements. The
innuendo and the insinuation may be strong, but the asserted proof of
the acts of fraud or of the corruption of the court is very weak and
unsatisfactory. Assuredly the solemnity of a decree thus rendered and
now hoary with age, and the integrity of the trial judge, long since
deccased, whose lips may not now utter to mortal ears any defense of
his judicial acts, may not thus be impeached.

Curistiaxnson, Ch. J., and BirpzeLy, J., concur.

Grack, J. (dissenting). On February 9. 1909, the vplaintiff pro
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oured a decrce of divorce from the defendant, and in that case findings
of fact, conclusions of law, and order for judgment were made and the
dcerce of divorce granted.

This motion is dated April 17, 1919, and was served upon the plain-
tiff in due time and manner, and was heard on the 25th day of Septem-
ber, 1919, and the order made from which appeal is taken.

The grounds upon which it is sought to set aside the decree are fraud
and bribery by the plaintiff in procuring it. The affidavits in support
of the motion are those of defendant, Pettibone, Knapper, Christopher
and Hogue. The affidavit of one L. C. Pettibone is as follows:

State of North Dakota,
County of Stutsman. }ss

“L. C. Pettibone, being first duly sworn, upon his oath deposes and
says that he is a citizen of the United States and a resident at Dawson
in Kidder county, North Dakota, and has been for more than twenty
years last past; and that during said time he has been and now is en-
gaged in a general real estate business. That he has known Wm. F.
Tuttle, the above-named plaintiff for about twenty ycars last past and
since the year 1905 has been intimately acquainted with him. That
he also is acquainted with Louise J. Tuttle and has been for some years
last past prior to 1909. That from the year 1905 up and inclusive of
a portion of the year 1914 he was associated in various business trans-
actions with the plaintiff above named, and, together with said Tuttle,
in Dawson and Bismarck, occupied the same office. That during the
years 1905 up and inclusive of the year 1913, this affiant was familiar
with the business transactions of the said Tuttle and of the various
matters concerning which the plaintiff, Wm. P. Tuttle, was involved
financially, and knows said Tuttle did not pay out money in October,
1908, to exceed $1,000 in business matters. That during said years
the said Wm. P. Tuttle had and maintained bank accounts in various
banks in different states, including Chicago, Illinois, St. Paul, Min-
nesota, Dawson and Steele, North Dakota. That affiant was familiar
with the institution, the progress of the trial and the final determina-
tion of the above-entitled action, which was an action in divorce and
knows of his personal knowledge that the same was tried before W. H,
Winchester, in the district court of Burleigh county, beginning on or




86 46 NORTII DAKOTA REPORTS

about December 8, 1908. That during the months intervening between
January 1, 1908, and December 1, 1908, the said Wm. P. Tuttle, upon
various occasions stated to this affiant that it was his intention to bribe
said judge of the district court above named to decide the case in his
favor and between said dates, the said Wm. P. Tuttle stated to this
affiant upon different occasions, that it was his intention to bribe W. F.
Cochrane, one of the defendant’s attorneys, with the same purpose in
view; and during said times the said Tuttle requested the said affiant
to interview the said Cochrane and to promise him anything to induce
him in plaintiff’s favor in said case, which affiant declined to do.
“Affiant further states that during the month of October, 1908, he
accompanicd the said Wm. P. Tuttle to Burleigh county courthouse in
Bismarck, North Dakota, and entered the main court room of said court-
house. That at said time a number of other people were present on
some matters then pending before Judge Winchester. Affiant and Wm.
P. Tuttle sat in the main court room waiting until the other pcople
had dispersed. That just previous to taking the said trip to the court-
house with said Tuttle, at a room at the hotel in Bismarck, said Tut-
tle had exhibited to afliant a yellow envelope containing a large amount
of currency, which he said amounted to $1,500; that he, Tuttle, said
he was going to deliver said money to Judge Winchester for campaign
expenses, that while they were alone in said courthouse and before
entering the presence of Judge Winchester, the said Tuttle again exhib-
ited to afliant the yellow envelope requesting him, the affiant, to deliver
it to the judge and to advise him that it was for campaign expenses;
that said afliant absolutely refused and declined to have anything to do
with the matter; that plaintiff, Wm. P. Tuttle, then entered the cham-
bers alone and there remained for from one half to threce quarters
of an hour, with Judge Winchester, whereupon he, Wm. P. Tuttle,
joined this afliant in said court room; that affiant did not again see
said yellow envelope or its contents after the said Tuttle emerged from
the room where he interviewed said Judge Winchester; that immediate-
ly thereafter the said Tuttle stated to this affiant that he had delivered
said $1,500 to Judge Winchester, and that during the interview and
at the time said money was so delivered by him, he had discussed
thoroughly the above-entitled pending action, with the judge, and
stated to affiant also that he had declivered said $1,500 to Judge
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Winchester and the judge had accepted the same, with the remark to
affiant that the judge seemed glad to get it.

“Affiant further states that the said Tuttle stated that the judge had
then promised in the course of the trial to censure Wm. J. Tuttle, a son
of plaintiff and defendant, if said Wm. J. Tuttle should take the wit-
ness stand in said case in behalf of his mother. The said Tuttle fur-
ther stated to this affiant after said October, 1908, and prior to the
date of trial in said case, that it was agreed betwcen the plaintiff and
the judge as to the amount of alimony that the judge should deter-
mine that the plaintiff should pay to the defendant, and it was further
stated to the affiant by Wm. P. Tuttle that the judge asserted that it
should be the sum of $300 per month rather than the sum of $150,
which the plaintiff himself stated to affiant he had suggested; that the
judge gave for his reason that in case there should be an appeal, that
the supreme court might think that the sum of $150 would be inade-
quate; all of which statements were made prior to the date of trial of
said action.

“Affiant further states that after trial and determination of said
action before said Judge Winchester, the said Tuttle stated to this
affiant on or about January, 1909, that he, Tuttle, was to give Judge
Winchester a trip to Mexico at Tuttle’s expense, and stated further to
affiant that he, Tuttle, was to arrange for said trip for said Judge
‘Winchester through some tourist association in Chicago, Illinois.

“Affiant further states that some time after the trial of said action
he had a conversation with W. F. Cochrane, formerly of Bismarck,
and the identical man that appeared as one of the attorneys for Louis
J. Tuttle, and that said Cochrane stated to this affiant that Tuttle
should have given him at least $10,000 for Cochrane's action in con-
nection with said casc in behalf of said Tuttle.

“Affiant further states that he was present at the trial of said action
and according to affiant’s best recollection on the evening of December
11, 1908, at the close of the taking of testimony in said action he heard
Judge Winchester severely censure Wm. J. Tuttle, heretofore men-
tioned, which language so used by the trial judge at said time cor-
responed with what the plaintiff, Wm. P. Tuttle, bad before the trial
stated to this affiant would be used by said judge upon the trial.

“Affiant further states that from the close of the trial of the said
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action in December, 1908, he had not seen Mrs. Wm. P. Tuttle for a
period of about ten years and until on or about the 28th of January,
1919, at which time this affiant disclosed to said defendant, Louise J.
Tuttle, substantial evidence of the things in this affidavit set forth,
and prior to that time he had never disclosed to said Louise J. Tuttle
or Wm. J. Tuttle, her son, or defendant’s attorneys, any of the things
hereinbefore stated. '

“Affiant further states that he is not in any manner related to said
Louise J. Tuttle or to the plaintiff, Wm. P. Tuttle, and has no in-
terest whatever in this case save that he desires to see justice done.

“L. C. Pettibone.

“Subscribed and sworn to before me this 10th day of April, a. p.

1919,

“Jay M. Allen,
“Notary Public, Stutsman Co., N. Dak.,
“My commission expires March 25, 1921.”
Other affidavits, showing, or tending to show, fraud and bribery, are
those of H. P. Knappen, Aaron Christopher, and George M. Hogue,
and in the order named are as follows:

State of North Dakota, o
County of Burleigh.

“H. P. Knappen being duly sworn says he is a married man and
now is and for many years has been a resident of the city of Bismarck,
North Dakota, and for many years and now is an editor and manager
of a newspaper published in Bismarck. That he has known Wm. P.
Tuttle since the year 1906 or 1907, but does not know the defendant,
Louise J. Tuttle; that he knows of his own knowledge of the above
action and that it was an action for divorce, and that he remembers
well the commencement of the action and the trial thereof as well as
the decision made by the judge before whom said action was tried ; that
he remembers said Wm. J. Tuttle talking many times to affiant both
before and after the trial of the case, said conversations taking place
at Bismarck, North Dakota, with exception of one talk which took
place at Stecle, North Dakota; that affiant was much impressed by the
cxtreme hatred of said Tuttle toward his wife and his son Wm. J,
Tuttle, as evidenced by the langnage used by said Tuttle to affiant,
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said language being so unnatural that it raised a question in affiant’s
mind of said Tuttle’s normal mentality; that said Tuttle on several
occasions during October and November, 1908, and later and in early
February or March, 1909, requested affiant to publish in his newspaper
matters derogatory to the defendant, Louise J. Tuttle, and before said
case was tried informed this affiant that he had it arranged with the
court that he should be granted a divorce from his (Tuttle’s) wife and
knew that he would only have to pay such alimony as he (Tuttle) would
voluntarily pay, and told this affiant that he had contributed large sums
of money to the campaign fund of the trial judge who was a candidate
for the office at the 1908 election, and that the trial of the case would
not take place until after said election had occurred, and that the
judge had agreed to decide the case in his (Tuttle’s) favor and to deny
the wife any relief that she was asking for, and during one of said
conversations stated to affiant that W. F. Cochrane, one of the de-
fendant’s attorneys, had for a consideration, which Tuttle stated he
had promised, consented to aid the plaintiff in his efforts to obtain his
divorce, and had agreed with the plaintiff not to appeal the case to
the supreme court after the trial judge should announce his decision
in the plaintiff’s favor.

“Affiant well recalls said Tuttle coming to affiant’s newspaper office
sometime in early March, 1909, to affiant’s best recollection, and stat-
ing in substance and effect that ‘the trial judge had carried out the
agreement entered into between himself (Tuttle) and the judge pre-
vious to the trial and stating that he (Tuttle) was entitled to the
decision as he had paid the court to give it,’ and at the same time
requesting affiant to publish in his newspaper a write-up of the case
that would severely censure the defendant, Mrs. Louise J. Tuttle.

“Affiant further states that the language of said Tuttle at that time
shocked affiant and disgusted him, and, not believing then the state-
ments of Tuttle concerning the court or the defendant’s attorney, but
nevertheless somewhatf surprised at the decision, refused to publish the
article submitted.

“H. P. Knappen.

“Subscribed and sworn to before me this 1st day of August, 1919.

“John F. Fort,
“Notary Public, North Dakota,
“My commission expires Dec. 12, 1922.”
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State of Minnesota,
County of Hennepin.

“Aaron Christopher, being first duly sworn says he at present resides
in the city of Minneapolis, Minnesota, and his business is that of hotel
clerk, in Hotel Dyckman, in said city; that for many years and until
recent months he was resident of Bismarck, North Dakota, and for
years was hotel clerk in the Northwest Hotel and also the McKenzie
Hotel at Bismarck, North Dakota; that he is well acquainted with
Wm. P. Tuttle, the plaintiff in this action, and has known him since
about the year 1907; that he well remembers the above-entitled action
and knows that it is an action for divorce and well recalls the time
said action was pending and the time that the same was decided; that
while he was clerk at the Northwest ITotel and during the year 1908,
the said Wm. P. Tuttle during that year and the year 1909 was a guest
very frequently in said hotel and the affiant at that time was very well
acquainted with the said Wm. P. Tuttle and had many conversations
with him. Affiant well recalls that upon different occasions the said
Wm. P. Tuttle showed great hatred and animosity toward his wife,
the defendant, and also toward his son, W. J. Tuttle; affiant further
states that he remembers that upon one occasion about the month of
January, 1909, when the said Wm. P. Tuttle in a conversation in the
presence of this affiant stated that he had ‘put it all over’ his wife in the
divorce suit and told the affiant that the defendant, Louise J. Tuttle,
never had a chance in said suit and that he, himself, had dictated the
granting of the divorce to himseclf and also fixed the alimony that he
was to pay the defendant in said suit.

“He stated to the affiant at said time that he had contributed various
sums of money to the campaign expense fund that preceding year, of
the judge who tried said case and that he, Tuttle, knew in advance just
what the decision would be, as before the trial of the case the judge had
agreed with him, Tuttle. Said Tuttle further stated in said conversa-
tion that he felt that he was entitled to the decision in view of the
fact that he figured he had paid well to obtain it. Further affiant saith
not.

“Aaron Christopher.
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“Subscribed and sworn to before me this 5th day of September, 1919.
“Jessie M. Sullivan,

“Notary Public, Hennepin Co., Minnesota,

“My commission expires April 10, 1923.”

State of North Dakota,) .
County of Burleigh. S's°

“George M. Hogue, being first duly sworn, says that he is a resident
of Kidder county, North Dakota, for more than twenty yvears past;
that for many years at Steele in Kidder county, North Dakota, he has
been and now is engaged in the farm loan business and is the secretary
of the State Game Commission Board of North Dakota. That he is
well acquainted with Wm. P. Tuttle above named and has been since
about the year 1903, and that he was intimately associated with him
" during the year 1907, 1908, and 1909, during which time the said Wm.
P. Tuttle made his residence at Dawson, North Dakota, living in a
house owned by the said Wm. P. Tuttle, and occupied by the family of
L. C. Rhoades, and said home in said family has been the residence of
said Wm. P, Tuttle since the year 1905. Affiant further states that he
was familiar with the above-entitled action which was an action for
divorce, and that he was made familiar with all the steps in said action
before and up to the conclusion of trial thereof, as such facts concern-
ing said case were given to him by the said Wm. P. Tuttle. Affiant
further states that he is not acquainted with Louise J. Tuttle and does
not know her, excepting as he has been informed concerning her by the
said Wm. P. Tuttle. That while said action was pending in said court,
and before the trial thereof and at the Northwest Hotel of Bismarck,
North Dakota, and during the month of October, 1908, the said Wm.
P. Tuttle, approached this affiant, and stated to this affiant that one,
W. F. Cochrane, was the attorney for his wife, Louise J. Tuttle, and
that it was necessary for said Tuttle to adopt methods which would in-
duce the said Cochrane to act with the said Tuttle as against his wife
in the conduct of said case, at that time the said Wm. P. Tuttle stating
to affiant that the said case would soon be called for trial, and the said
Wm. P. Tuttle stating to affiant that he wished him (affiant) to inter-
view the said Cochrane concerning said divorce case, and to make known
said Tuttle’s wishes to him, the said Cochrane, at the same time in-
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structing this affiant to promise the said Cochrane ten thousand dollars,
($10,000) if he would arrange the record in the case, so that it could
be won on appeal to the supreme court, after the judge of the district
court had decided the case in Tuttle’s favor, the said Tuttle at the said
time stating to this affiant that he had already fixed it with the trial
judge of said court to decide said case in his (Tuttle’s) favor, and that
he had made arrangements with the judge concerning the alimony,
which he (Tuttle) should pay to his wife, and had made arrangements
as to just what the decision would be, and stating further that the judge
had agrecd to decide the case in his (Tuttle’s) favor. Said Tuttle stat-
ing at the same time to this affiant that if he (affiant) could make
arrangements with said Cochrane that there would be at least five
hundred dollars ($500) in it for this affiant. Affiant further states
that he declined to interview said Cochrane concerning the subject-
matter, that had been stated to him by said Tuttle. Affiant further
states that during the year 1908, he, the said affiant, took a prominent
part and assisted the said Tuttle in his campaign to his election to the
House of Representatives of North Dakota from the county of Kidder,
and that during the said campaign, the said Tuttle many times stated
to this affiant that he had contributed large sums of money toward the
campaign expenses in the election for said judge, and sometime later,
in October, or early in November, 1908, the said Tuttle stated to this
affiant that just previous to that time, he had given to said trial judge
fifteen hundred dollars ($1,500), and that he had promised said judge,
free of expense to the judge, a trip to Mexico during the then coming
winter.

“Affiant further states that during the month of January, 1909, he
was in Bismarck, North Dakota, a great portion of the time in con-
sultation with the said Wm. P. Tuttle, concerning an election contest
which the said Tuttle had with one John Story over said Tuttle in the
house of representatives of North Dakota and that during said month
of January or early in February, 1909, the said Tuttle stated to this
afliant, that the judge of the district court had decided the divorce case
and that he had decided in favor of him (Tuttle), and that the judge
had carried out his agreement that he had made concerning said case,
prior to the trial thereof. Said Tuttle further stating to this affiant
that it had cost him a great deal of money to get that decision, but
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that he was glad that the court had carried out his agreement with him,
and stating that he (Tuttle), thought the decision was worth the money,
that he had paid for it. Said Tuttle further stating to affiant upon this
occasion that between the month of October, 1908, and the month of
March, 1909, that he thought the judge was a little severe in making
him pay three hundred dollars ($300) a month for the support of his
wife, because the judge had stated to him (Tuttle) in 1908, that he
thought perhaps one hundred and fifty dollars ($150) a month would
be all right, but later, in December, had changed his mind and insisted
upon the said Tuttle paying three hundred dollars ($300) a month,
the said Tuttle stating to affiant that it would be better for him (Tuttle)
to make it $300 a month, because if the case got into the supreme court,
said supreme court might consider one hundred and fifty dollars a
month too small an allowance. Later and some time after, as affiant
recalls, and in March, 1909, the said Tuttle stated to this affiant that
the trial judge had started on his trip to Mexico, and told affiant that
he (Tuttle) had paid the expenses of such trip of the judge, and that
he had procured the transportation through a tourists’ traveling agency
in Chicago, Illinois, with which he, said Tuttle, was financially con-
nected. Affiant further stated that he never disclosed the information
herein to said Louise J. Tuttle or to any other person, prior to the time
that this motion was made to set aside the divorce decree.

“Further affiant saith not.

“Geo. M. Hogue.
“Subscribed and sworn o before me this 20th day of Sept. 1919.
“John F. Fort,
“Notary Public, Burleigh Co., N. D.
“My commission expires Dee. 12, 1922.”

The affidavit of Wm. P. Tuttle denies that he bribed the trial judge
in the divorce action, or paid him any moneys whatever to secure a
favorable dccision therein, and denies the oceurrences set forth and
alleged in the moving affidavits; and denies that the judge received any
moncy from the affiant for the purpose of influencing his official action.

He maintains further in the afidavit, that the action resulting in a
decree of divorce granted him, was fully and fairly tried upon its
merits, with all parties present in court, testifying, and that the deci-

4



4 46 NORTH DAKOTA REPORTS

sion was made upon the merits and upon the testimony solely, and that
the same was justified and fully sustained by the testimony; and was
solely upon the evidence, and that the evidence submitted in the cause
was not only sufficient to justify the decree in his favor, but was over-
whelming in his favor, and that it was established by creditable, com-
petent, and abundant proof ; that the plaintiff was entitled to the decree,
and that the defendant was not entitled to any relief.

The aflidavit further sets forth that while under the laws of the state
of North Dakota, then existing, he was not required to pay the defend-
ant any alimony ; that he voluntarily agreed to and willingly consented
that he be bound to pay her the sum of $300 per month, during the
balance of her life.

The affidavit further sets forth that he has paid that sum from the
time of the decree and ever since, including the time, or times, subse-
quent to the service of the motion papers in the present proceeding.

The affidavit further sets forth that application is made by the de-
fendant for the purpose of endeavoring to secure money or property
from him, and further sets forth that this application or proceeding
was made at the instigation of L. C. Pettibone, for the express and
specific purpose of exercising his malice against the plaintiff; and to
compel the plaintiff to pay money to Pettibone, upon false and un-
founded claims now pending in various courts, bronght by L. C. Petti-
hone against plaintiff and describes such actions.

It was further set forth in his affidavit that the judgment and de-
cree have been effective for a period of more than ten years, and that
neither L. C. Pettibone or any other person, during said time, ever
claimed or charged any of the facts set out in the application.

Joseph Simons, in this proceeding, made an aflidavit in behalf of
the plaintiff, which is to the effect that the divorce action was instituted
in good faith, for the purpose of having the claims thercfore set forth
tricd upon their merits. States that he assisted in procuring wit-
nesses, and was present at that trial, and that the plaintiff at no time
gave any evidence, but that the action was to be tried upon its merits,
and to be governed and decided upon the evidence submitted.

The affidavit further sets forth the statement affirming the good
character and honor and integrity of the plaintiff, and shows that he
was the agent and broker of the plaintiff, was a member of the Chicago
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Board of Trade, and that, as such agent, he made to defendant for the
plaintiff, the payments of alimony, monthly; and further states that,
on the 21st day of April, 1919, he paid $300 to Louise J. Tuttle, the
defendant, which payment had been personally solicited, over the tele-
phone, by her from him, and the payment was made on the 22d day
of April, 1919, which is exhibit “A;” and that the receipt of the same,
by her, was just prior to the service of the papers in this proceeding,
upon Wm. P. Tuttle.

There are other counteraffidavits referring to different matters, but
we think, it is not necessary to make further reference to them.

The affidavits of Louise J. Tuttle, the defendant, state that no sub-
stantial evidence of corrupt conduct on the part of plaintiff, or of col-
lusion between him and Judge Winchester, or with any of her attorneys,
in the procurement of the decree, has come to the notice or knowledge
of the affiant, at any time since the trial of the action, until January 28,
1919, when Mr. Lee Pettibone, of Dawson, North Dakota, stated to
her that he knew of reputable persons who would furnish evidence that
prior to said trial Judge Winchester had received and taken from plain-
tiff a large sum of money.

Her affidavit then sets forth the steps she has since taken to bring the
matter to the attention of the court of the sixth judicial district.

She further sets forth in her affidavit that the statement made by
Wm. P. Tuttle, in his affidavit, that the proceedings to set aside the
judgment is made at the instigation of L. C. Pettibone, is an absolute
falsehood, and she further states that it was with the utmost difficulty
that she secured the information concerning the facts which she sus-
pected existed for years, but that she had no substantial evidence or
knowledge concerning the existence of such state of facts, until she met
Mr. Pettibone in Chicago at the time above stated; and that it was
only after much difficulty that she induced him to divulge even the most
meager details concerning the information which she complained of
in connection with said divorce, and that all of her facts which she has
procured in support of her motion was done at her own instigation, and
upon her own research, through hersclf and her attorneys; and that she
makes, and has made, the application in good faith, and only because
she knows that her husband had no grounds for divorce against her,
and bringing to the attention of the court the scandalous and fraudulent
actions, on the part of her husband, in procuring the divorce.
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Pettibone, in a counteraflidavit to that of Wm. P. Tuttle, states that
the statement contained in Tuttle’s affidavit “that he believes, and has
reason to believe, that this application is made at the instigation of
one L. C. Pettibone, for the express and specific purpose of exercising
the malice of the said L. C. Pettibone against this affiant, and to cause
him pain and suffering, when it is used as a means to require the said
affiant to pay money to the said L. C. Pettibone upon false and un-
founded claims now pending in various courts, wherein the said L. C.
Pettibone has brought suit against this affiant,” is absolutely false and
was known to be false by Tuttle when he made such statement in said
affidavit. :

It is contended that the proceeding, by motion, to set aside and vacate
the decree is not the proper one; that, instead thereof, the defendant
should have brought an action to set it aside, and this was the holding
of the trial court. In this, we think it was wholly mistaken; and that
this procceding, by motion, is proper and the one practically in uni-
versal use in seeking the relief sought to be obtained in this proceeding.
Beach v. Beach, 6 Dak. 371, 40 N. W, 701; Freeman v. Wood, 11
N. D. 1, 88 N. W. 721; Simensen v, Simensen, 13 N. D. 310, 100 N,
W. 708. This matter needs no further discussion ; it is a settled practice
in this state.

We come now to the principal question presented in this case, viz:
Was the decrce of divoree procured by the plaintiff by fraud and bribery ?
The affidavits supporting defendant’s motion clearly and unquestionably
show that it was. Those affidavits are practically undenied, excepting
by the plaintiff. They contained affirmative evidence of fraud and brib-
ery, which is clear and convincing, and, as against this, there is nothing
but the negative of the defendant, which largely is a mere bare denial.

As appeared upon the argument of the matter before this court, the
men who have made those aftidavits are reputable citizens of this, or
near this, immediate vicinity. One of them viz., Hogue, is a member
of the state game board. Their aflidavits were made in a judicial pro-
ceeding, and were subscribed and sworn to by each of them. It cannot
be imagined or assumed, that they would, in their affidavits, set forth
the acts, conversations, and declarations of the plaintiff, as described by
them, which clearly show the commission of fraud and bribery in the
procuring of the decree, and deliberately swear to the truth of the same,
unless the same were, in fact, true.
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It would seem that such affiants, being men of intelligence, would not
deliberately swear falsely to such a state of facts, realizing, as they must
have, the gravity of the situation in which they placed themselves.

We feel that their statements are so clear and conclusive, with refer-
ence to the fraud and bribery committed in obtaining the decree of
divorce, as more fully appears from the affidavits, that they must be
taken and considered in this proceeding to be true.

There are other circumstances which indicate and prove the verity of
those statements. The evidence given by plaintiff in the former case
shows that at the time of the granting of the divorce, he had means and
property approximately of the value of $350,000 or more. The defend-
ant in her answer claimed the plaintiff had property and means of the
value of about $1,000,000. Whatever the evidence and the claims of
the parties may show, it is certain he was a very wealthy man.

The only cause claimed by him as a ground of divorce was cruel and
inhuman treatment, consisting, in short, of the alleged nagging dispo-
sition of his wife, and charges of infidelity by her against him.

We think his testimony and that of his witnesses, as to the alleged
nagging disposition of his wife, and her alleged charges against him,
of seeking the society of, and consorting with, other women, falls flat
when all the facts and the plaintiff’s motive and conduet is honestly and
conscientiously scrutinized, as disclosed by the evidence.

The evidence conclusively shows that the plaintiff went about con-
siderably with one Stella Miles; that upon many occasions he took her
riding in various conveyances; that he gave her valuable presents. He
admits that he gave her some presents.

All the circumstances of this character, which are shown by the evi-
dence, were such as would not only arouse suspicion, but the resentment
of any decent or virtuous woman.

The defendant knew that plaintiff was improperly conducting him-
self with some woman on the west side of Chicago, but she did not learn
just who the party was until near the time the divorce proceeding was
commenced.

If the defendant, in these circumstances, reprimanded, or, as the
term is used, nagged the plaintiff in regard to his conduet, it was for
the purpose—and we think the evidence so shows—of dissuading him

from his unnatural and unbecoming conduct. All that she did in this
46 N. D.—T.
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regard was proper and justified, and meant for his welfare and benefit.

Again, his continued refusal to cohabit with her, his cold and clammy
treatment of her, in fact, his entire conduct, as disclosed by the evi-
dence, is sufficient to show that he was the one wholly at fault, for, as
the evidence indisputably shows from the testimony of the acquaintances
of the defendant, who had known her well and intimately, she was a
woman of refinement and culture, and of a splendid and lovable dis-
position, a woman who kept and maintained her home in comfort for
the plaintiff. In all the testimony that is adduced, there is not one
syllable which in any manner reflects upon her good name, character,
and splendid womanly qualities.

The burden of plaintiff’s charge is that she had a bad temper and a
nagging disposition. He testified, however, that her temper was never
anything but the smoothest when there was a third person present;
that he had known times when they were both at outs and someone would
come and she could be as pleasant as if nothing ever happened, while
he could not and got the reputation, with the visitor, of being a grouch.

There is ample testimony to show her disposition was good, and
that she did not have a bad temper. The only conclusion that can be
drawn from all the evidence in the case is, that the plaintiff tired of
the defendant, and took the means which he did to get rid of her; and
this, after years of struggle and work together to build up a large
community property; and though the defendant is a woman of un-
questioned character and virtue, and one whose character is unimpeach-
able; and though the property was of the value of from $350,000 to
$1,000,000, and though she had been accustomed to live as one in their
circumstances was justified, the plaintiff and the court, at her advanced
age of more than sixty years, turned her out upon the world, practically
penniless, except for the pittance which the plaintiff claims, out of his
generosity, he offered to give her, to wit, $300 a month, and would not
have given her this, but a much smaller sum, except he was fearful on
appeal that a smaller sum would not be looked upon with favor.

Not a penny of the community property was allowed her. These cir-
cumstances, in connection with the other evidence now before this court,
is sufficient to label the whole divorce proceeding as one conceived in
iniquity by plaintiff, and earried out by frand and corruption, on the
part of the plaintiff and the court and W. F. Cochrane, one of her
attorneys. ‘
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 The evidence in the case tends to show that the plaintiff bore con-
siderable enmity towards Wm. J. Tuttle, his only son, his only living
child. It further tends to show that, on the occasion of differences be-
‘tween the plaintiff and the son, the mother was inclined to shield or take
the part of the son.

Some of the evidence tends to show, that it was the ill feeling, in
part, plaintiff bore his son which, to some extent, moved him to bring
the divorce proceeding. The inference to be drawn from the testimony,
as a whole, is, that he had no further use for his wife, nor his son.
The ill feeling as to the son was further manifested, and if the affidavits
above are true, the plaintiff procured the court to severely reprimand
the son while he gave his testimony, and this, without any apparent
cause or reason, so far as the evidence discloses.

As showing the true nature and moral character of the plaintiff,
and that defendant’s charges of infidelity against him were not without
reason and justification, and to show that it was his desire to associate
and consort with women other than his wife, that caused him to lose all
affection for his own wife and child, and which would appear to be the
motive of seeking the divorce, so as to get rid of his wife, with the pay-
ment of a mere pittance, his improper actions towards one Virginia
Rogers is quite material.

Mr. and Mrs. Rogers lived in Chicago. Virginia Rogers was a
stepchild of Mrs. Rogers, and at the time in question was sixteen years
of age. The son of Mr. Tuttle was about the same age; and the parents
had been acquainted for some six years prior to the time of the event,
and the children were associates and acquaintances.

In June, 1896, the plaintiff and his son were living at Chicago Beach
Hotel; Mrs. Tuttle was in Europe. The plaintiff at that time came
to the home of Mrs. Rogers and invited the stepdaughter to the Chicago
Beach Hotel, to take dinner with himself and his son, and to attend a
dance at the hotel in the evening. She testified in the trial of this
case. She was then about twenty-five years of age. She went to the
hotel about 5:30 in the evening, and had supper with plaintiff and his
son. About 9:30 she prepared to return to her home. In the parlor
of the hotel, before she went up to prepare to return to her home, the
plaintiff asked her if she would not like to see some paintings and
pictures.
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The defendant’s brief contains a substantially correct version of this
testimony set out in narrative form, and is as follows:

“Then he said I had better be starting, and I went upstairs to put
on my wraps where I had left them in his room. I asked where Will
was and he (Mr. Tuttle) said he did not know, but it did not make any
- difference.

“When we reached the apartments where I had left my wraps he
went into the room with me and closed the door. I walked over by the
window and he pulled me on his lap in the same old way as he always
had ; but he held me as though I was in a vice and he kissed me, which
was very strange, in a way that frightened me; he kissed me a great
many times. While still holding be in a vicelike grip he asked me if
I liked nice things and to have fine clothes and to travel. During the
time that he was talking he was still kissing me and holding me tight.
He put his hand under my dress as far as he could. He did not say
anything at that time. I tried my best to get away from him and got
away as soon as I could and went to the door. When I got there I
found the door was locked. He tried to get there before I did and
asked me if T wanted the door opened. He unfastened it at the same
time but not until after I found it locked. I did not cry out; I was too
frightened. I did not have my wrap on at this time. I took it with
me over my arm and put on my hat standing in the hall. Mr. Tuttle
said nothing more; and after I had my hat and wrup on we started
home. Ile went with me holding my hand all the way over to the street
car. He was talking just the way he always did and I was too frightened
to say anything about what he had done. I did not say anything at all
while in the car. We went straight home and he went with me. When
we returned my stepmother was standing on the porch. I did not
speak to her or anvone ; but ran straight upstairs. I was so nervous and
worked up and had stood it as long as I could; and so ran upstairs with-
out saying a word to any one. I did not stop to listen to what Mr.
Thuttle said to my stepmother.

“My stepmother came to my room afterward. I had not retired but’
was lying on the bed erying, I think, when she came into the room.
She knew something had happened, but she did not want papa to know
anything about it because she thought he would shoot Mr. Tuttle. T
attempted to tell her what had happened that night but she restrained
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me. The next morning I told her what had occurred. I told her about
it as I have told you here. I did not tell my father about it, because,
as I said, I was afraid he would shoot Mr. Tuttle if he knew.

“Up to this time I had thought a great deal of Mr. Tuttle. After
this incident I never saw him until the other morning in the court room.
I never went to his home after that.

“He did not then, nor has he at any time since, attempted any ex-
planation of what he did to me that night at the hotcl. He did not
attempt any explanation on the street car that night. He acted as
though everything was just as it had always been. He did not ask my
reasons for being frightened and never referred to it in any way.”

Upon cross-examination, the testimony given by Virginia Rogers was
in no material degree changed. Her testimony must be taken as true.
There is no testimony to dispute it. The plaintiff does not dispute its
truthfulness. The next morning Virginia recited her experience to her
mother, who was also present and gave testimony at the trial.

We think, considering all the testimony, with reference to the plain-
tiff’s association and relations with women other than his wife, his con-
duct in general towards them, and the testimony which shows his nature
and natural tendencies in this regard, that there can be no question but
what the defendant’s excited state of mind, if any, upon the various
occasions, together with whatever reprimands she had administered to
her husband, were well deserved by him, and were meant for his good
and recall from his ways of error, and that there was no cruel and in-
human treatment, by the defendant, of plaintiff, by reason of adminis-
tering any of such reprimands, nor even by having him watched by
detectives, which, in the circumstances of this case, would be ground
for divorce. The fact is, under the evidence, plaintiff had no ground
for divorce, though we think it clearly appears that the defendant did;
that the treatment of defendant, by plaintiff, was cruel and inhuman,
there is no doubt, and that is clearly shown by the evidence. It also
clearly appears, that plaintiff for several years denied defendant marital
rights, and finally that he wholly deserted her.

The conclusion is irresistible from all of the evidence that plaintiff’s
motive in the divorce suit was to get rid of the presence and association
of both his wife and son, against each of whom he seemed to have an
enmity which is explainable on no other theory than that he had wholly
transferred his affections to others.
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In the face of such evidence as this, and the evidence as a whole, and
the showing herein made, all presumptions of regularity in the procur-
ing of and of the validity and verity of such judgment are overcome;
and the judgment may be shown to be, as this judgment clearly is, a
fraudulent and collusive one.

The aflidavits above set forth show the fraud of the plaintiff, the
court, and W. F. Cochrane, an attorney for the defendant; and that the
judgment is the result of such fraud would seem the only reasonable
and logical conclusion that can be reached, and one that cannot well be
avoided ; that the judgment is unconscionable, unjust and inequitable,
and fraudulent seems clear; and that if defendant had received a fair
trial before an impartial court, and one where the fraudulent practices
and schemes above shown were absent, a different result and judgment
must have resulted.

In the plaintiff’s brief appears the following:

“Suppose that the evidence was such that it clearly established the
facts which entitled Mr. Tuttle to a divorce. In that case, the fact
that the trial judge had received and accepted a bribe would clearly
not be ground for vacating the judgment, because no harm had been
done. The judgment was right on the evidence, even though the trial
judge was corrupt. On the other hand, if the evidence did not war-
rant or sustain the decision of the trial court granting a divorce to Mr.
Thuttle, but the decision was rendered contrary to the evidence, by the
corrupted judge, Mrs. Tuttle had an ample remedy by appeal.

“In a divorce case in North Dakota, the case is tried anew in the
supreme court, on the evidence presented to the trial court. Conse-
quently, if Mrs. Tuttle claims that the decision was against the evi-
dence, she was bound to raise that question by appeal. If she did not
avail herself of that remedy, but elected to acquiesce in the erroneous
decision, by accepting the benefits of the judgment, her mouth is for-
ever closed to say that the judgment was wrong.

“Tt follows, therefore, that Mrs. Tuttle is between the horns of a
dilemma. She cannot complain of the corruption of the trial judge, un-
less the judgment was wrong. But, if the judgment is wrong, she is
estoppad to allege error, because she elected to accept the benfits of it,
instead of having it reversed on appeal.”

From what we have above said, we are fully convinced the judgment
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was wrong and contrary to the evidence; and we are further of the opin-
ion that the judgment being a fraudulent one, she did not waive any of
her rights, if she failed to appeal. But she did take an appeal and
that appeal was taken by Mr. Cochrane, her attorney, who was also,
according to the affidavits, a party to the fraud. That appeal was dis-
missed upon a technicality and was not decided upon the merits. See
Tuttle v. Tuttle, 19 N. D. 748, 124 N. W. 429. As we view it, the
trial being tainted with fraud, which the plaintiff, according to the affi-
davits, actively engineered and in which he participated, he is not in
a position before a court of equity to plead estoppel, on the ground that
the defendant has received benefits under the judgment, and in the
circumstances of this case, she is not estopped.

There was, as a matter of law, no trial, if the allegations of the
affidavits are true, and in this proceeding they must be presumed to be
true. How then could there be any trial? What chance or opportunity
was there for the defendant to obtain justice in that trial? The trial
was a mere farce, and the judgment a nullity, absolutely void from its
inception. '

The case of Rykowsky v. Bentz, 45 N. D. 499, 178 N. W. 284, was
recently decided by this court. In that case a motion was made by the
defendant to vacate the judgment on the ground that it had been taken
against him by default, through fraud. It was contended by plaintiff
that the relief could not be granted, for the reason that § 7483, Comp.
Laws 1913, applied. That section, in effect, provides, that the court
may in its discretion and upon such terms as may be just at any time
within one vear after notice thereof, relieve a party from a judgment,
order, or other proceeding taken against him, through his mistake, in-
advertence, surprise, or excusable negleet.

In reply to this contention, this court, speaking through Chief Jus-
tice Christianson, said: “If the judgment was taken against the defend-
ant, under the circumstances set forth in this affidavit, it was obtained
through fraud, and would be subject to attack for that reason. See .
Shary v. Eszlinger, 45 N. D. 133, 176 N. W, 938, The power to set
aside judgments obtained by fraud is not dependent upon § 7483,
supra, but is inherent in all courts of record. Black, Judgm. § 321;
Williams v. Fairmount School Dist. 21 N. D. 198, 129 N. W. 1027;
Whittaker v. Warren, 14 S. D. 611, 86 N. W. 633. Hence, the dis-
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trict court had power to vacate the judgment, notwithstanding more
than one year had elapsed after the defendant had notice thereof.”

In that case, the district court refused to vacate the judgment, but
this court held, that, in that, it was in error and reversed its decision,
and we think the same should be done in this case.

The plaintiff relies upon the fact that there is some litigation be-
tween Pettibone and him, as the inducing cause of this proceeding.
In other words, that, through malice, Pettibone has been a prime factor
in bringing about this proceeding. We do not think the litigation be-
tween Pettibone and plaintiff would be sufficient to cause the former to
swear to the affidavit given in this proceeding.

As we view the matter, Pettibone’s motive is immaterial; that does
not necessarily affect the truth of the statements in his affidavit. If
those statements are true, it is immaterial if there are strained rela-
tions between the plaintiff and Pettibone. In fact, if their relations are
strained, that may be the very cause of exposing the fraud so long
covered up.

In many cases of fraud, perhaps, it is just such an incident, or the
bringing about of such a condition, that causes the fraud to be brought
to light. It is often difficult to discern and uncover fraud. The per-
petrators thereof so cover up their fraudulent acts and intentions, that
the fraud is not sometimes readily discovered, and, as in this case, un-
less some event transpires which causes the fraud to become known,
discovery is often never made; and, if it is true, there is any strained
relations between the plaintiff and Pettibone on account of litigations
between them, and that this caused him to tell the defendant, it does
not weaken, but strengthens, defendant’s position in this proceeding.

It was the event that brought her the first knowledge she ever had of
the great fraud perpetrated upon her, as alleged in the affidavits, which
wrecked her life, caused an unjust, unconscionable, and unwarranted
decree of divorce to be entered against her, and which denied her all
interest in the community property, and which locked the courts of jus-
tice against her at the trial.

As soon as the defendant knew of the fraud she took immediate ac-
tion. In fact, the ten years or more which has elapsed before she did
take that action is immaterial, so long as she acted promptly after the
discovery of the frand.
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The Statute of Limitations against fraud does not commence to run
until after the fraud is discovered. She acted with promptness and
despatch upon the discovery thereof, and we think she should be given a
chance to obtain justice, which has too long been denied her on account
of the great fraud committed against her.

Plaintiff has this to say in the brief, towards its close: *“The whole
proceeding by which a judge is to be branded after his death as bribe
taken, a gentleman like Mr. Tuttle, whose honor and integrity have not
otherwise been questioned is to be stigmatized as a criminal, and an
established judgment is to be overturned and a large sum of money, or
the opportunity to get it, is to be afforded this defendant, upon affidavits
which contain nothing more than an alleged admission contained within
conversations occurring more than ten years prior to the giving of the
affidavits.”

This is stated, as a reason why relief should not be granted defendant.
The answer to this is, that the only real way to prevent dishonor to the
names of the parties mentioned is to afford an opportunity to prove that
the allegations in the affidavit, made under oath, are not true. If they
are true, no name connected with the alleged fraud is entitled to any
protection, and whether they are true or not should be determined in a
court of justice.

If the plaintiff feels that the charges in the affidavits are false, it
would seem he should be the most anxious of all to have the makers of
those affidavits examined under oath, in a court of justice.

We think the good faith of defendant is plainly evident and sus-
tained by the affidavits in this proceeding, and the record of the trial.
That the judgment has remained unattacked for ten years is of no con-
sequence if the judgment were procured by fraud. If it had stood for
twice that period of time, that added nothing to its verity nor validity
if, in fact, it was procured through fraud.

The defendant has acted promptly upon the discovery of it, and that
is all the law requires of her.

The order appealed from should be reversed, and the case should be
remanded to the trial court, with directions to enter an order vacating
and setting aside the judgment and decree of divorce under considera-
tion in this proceeding. *
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FARMERS SECURITY BANK OF PARK RIVER, a Corporation,
Appellant, v. C. F. NELSON, as Administrator of the Estate of
Peter J. Wibe, Deceased, Respondent.

(179 N. W. 917.)

Bills and notes — accommodation shown; bona fide purchase not shown.
The plaintiff sues to recover on a promissory note $2,528 and interest from
March 12, 1914. The defense is that the note was given for a special accommoda-
tion to make a show of assets and it was not to be transferred. The evidence
shows the payee had no right to transfer the note. It did not sell the mote;
the bank did not receive it in good faith or for value, or in due course of
business. The verdict for the defendant is well sustained by the evidence.

Opinion filed November 1, 1920.

Appeal from judgment and order denying motion for judgment not-
withstanding verdict or for a new trial, in District Court, Towner
County, Honorable C. W. Buttz, Judge.

Affirmed.

McIntyre & Burtness, for appellant.

Accommodation paper is paper to which the accommodation party
has put his name without consideration. 8 Corpus Juris, 255, 258
(19 403, 408) ; Comp. Laws 1913, § 6914.

Accommodation paper cannot be revoked after negotiation. Such
revocation, however, affects only one who takes with knowledge of what
has been done, and does not prevent a recovery on the instrument by
an innocent indorsee to whom it has been negotiated. 8 C. J. 260, 263
(17 410, 412).

To constitute notice of an infirmity in the instrument or defect in
the title of the person negotiating the same, the person to whom it is
negotiated must have had ‘“‘actual knowledge of the infirmity or de-
fect, or knowledge of such facts that his action in taking the instru-
ment amounts to bad faith.” First Nat. Bank v. Flath, 10 N. D. 281.

It is not the good faith of the pavee that is in question. It is the
good faith of the person who parts with his money or other property
when he purchascs the note. American Nat. Bank v. Lundy, 21 N. D.
167.
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The Negotiable Instruments Act in specific terms requires the actual
knowledge of the infirmity or defect or knowledge of such facts as
amount to bad faith. Johanna v. Lennon, 32 N. D. 71; Hart v. United
States Trust Co. (Pa.) 12 Atl. 561.

Kehoe & Moseley and H. A. Libby, for respondent.

Accommodation paper is operative only when negotiated and until
negotiation an accommodation party may revoke the instrument, and
this is so although security was given the accommodation party for the
use of his name. 8 Corpus Juris, 258, § 408.

Wibe wrote the letter to the plaintiff in the last of March, 1914. The
note was still in the possession of the association. The plaintiff did not
acquire it till the 1st of June 1914. Hence, the revocation was made
in time. 8 Corpus Juris, 259, § 408; St. Paul Nat. Bank v. Howe °
(Minn.) 42 N. W. 200.

The question as to whether Mrs. Olsen wrote and mailed the letter
was not in dispute. She and her mother testified that she wrote it.
The question as to whether the plaintiff received it was, however, in
dispute, and that question was properly submitted to the jury under
appropriate instructions. Hurley v. Oleott (N. Y.) 91 N. E. 270;
Malloy v. Drumheller (Wash.) 122 Pac. 1005; Marston v. Bigelow
(Mass.) 5 L.R.A. 43; Fleming v. Evans (Kan.) 61 Pac. 503; 16 Cyc.
1070.

RoBinson, J. The plaintiff sues to recover on a promissory note,
82,528 and interest from March 12, 1914. The defense is that the
note was given for a special accommodation to make a showing of assets
and it was not to be transferred, and that plaintiff is not a good faith
purchaser; that it did not receive the note in due course or for value.
The jury found a verdict for defendant, on which judgment was entered.
Though forty errors are alleged, as usual, the only real question is on
the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict. Certain it is
the note was made without any consideration. It was made to the
Northwestern Underwriters’ Association, a Grand Forks insurance
company. He made the note, not that it might be transferred, but that
the company might use it as evidence to evade the Blue Sky Law and to
mollify the insurance commissioner. The transfer of the note was an
act of bad faith. There is evidence that defendant caused his daughter
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to write to the bank a letter by which it was cautioned against the pur-
chase of the note. The bank denies the receipt of the letter, but its
evidence is no more convincing than is the evidence that the letter was
written, mailed, and received by the bank.

Then it appears that the bank did not pay for the note in cash or
take it in the usual course of banking business. The note was turned
over to the bank with several other notes in exchange for a lot of notes
held by the bank. There is nothing to show the value of the notes, and
they were all of a questionable character.

In 1909 the bank was organized by three persons, with an authorized
capital of $20,000. The capital stock was divided between the three
organizers thus: One took sixty-six shares; another took sixty-six
shares; C. R. Verry took sixty-eight shares and became the first presi-
dent, cashier and manager of the bank. The underwriters’ company
was organized about the same time as the bank. Its authorized capital
stock was $100,000. Its directors and organizers were H. H. Hand,
E. Sandlie, M. E. Nelson. One, Mr. Bradley, became president ; H. H.
Hand, secretary. In time they organized the now defunct Fire &
Marine Insurance Company, which became a feeder, and obtained large
bunches of farmers’ notes and transferred them to the parental com-
pany—an innocent purchaser, of course—and yet each company had
the same officers, clerks, and did business in the same rooms.

Exhibit 6 shows a lot of notes, amounting to $13,399.86, marked
“Notes turned over to the Insurance Company by Farmers’ Sccurity
Bank on June 2, 1914, having been taken up and settled for as per at-
tached sheet.” Exhibit 7 purports to show a list of notes turned over
to the bank June 2, 1914, by Northwestern underwriters in part pay-
ment of notes shown by exhibit 6. The bunch amounts to $8,444.20,
and includes the Wibe note in suit. The same exhibit shows the insur-
ance company was given a credit for checking account of C. R. Verry,
Trcasurer of Northern Fire & Marine Insurance Company, $623.62,
and for collection account, $3,290.35. Turned over to the bank same
date. This is of importance as it shows that Verry, the organizer and
first president and manager of the bank, was also treasurer of the Fire
& Marine Insurance Company. It shows a kind of a marital rclation
between the companies and the bank. Exhibit 8 is a list of notes
amounting to $85,445 which, on September 23, 1914, the underwriters
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turned over to the bank; agreeing that if any note was not paid when
due it may be charged back or collected from the underwriters com-
pany after sixty days when it becomes due.

Mr. Bradley was president of the Underwriters Company and of
the Fire & Marine Insurance Company. He testifies:

Q. Did your company ever sell and deliver that note to the bank?

A. No, we did not sell the note.

Q. Did your company ever receive any value from the plaintiff bank
for the note ?

A. No. (Fol. 213, 214, 233.)

It is needless to quote the testimony showing the intimate relations,
winding and devious ways of those three corporations. It is clearly
shown the Northwestern Company had no right to sell or transfer the
note. It did not sell the note; the bank did not receive it in good faith
or for value, or in due course of business. Both by the direct and the
circumstantial evidence, the verdict is well sustained.

Affirmed. :

BirpzerLL and Geacg, JJ., concur.
Bronson, J., disqualified did not participate.

BrepzeLL, J. (concurring). While I concur in the result stated in
the opinion of the court prepared by Mr. Justice Robinson, I regard
the statement of facts in that opinion and the discussion of the assign-
ments of error as not sufficiently adequate to demonstrate the correct-
ness of the conclusion. In concurring, therefore, I desire to state a
little more fully the contentions upon which the appellant relies upon
this appeal, together with whatever additional facts are necessary to
jndicate the propriety of the affirmance of the judgment.

The first specifications relate to testimony elicited on cross-examina-
tion of a witness by the name of O’Brien, an employee of the bank,
regarding some notes, aggregating between forty-nine and fifty-two
thousand dollars. These were notes of the Northern Fire & Marine
Insurance Company. At the time the evidence was received it was
objected to on the ground that the transaction involving them was en-
tirely distinet from that involving the note in suit. The evidence was
peceived, however, upon the understanding that its relevancy would be
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established later. Appellant’s counsel later moved to strike it out on
the ground that it had not bcen connected with the Wibe transaction,
and the contention is made upon this appcal that it was prejudicial
error to allow the jury to consider such testimony. Other testimony
relating to this group of notes was to the effect that at the time they
were received by the bank a pass book was issued to the company rep-
resenting the aggregate amount so deposited with the bank. It would
seem, however, that the deposit so entered did not represent a bona
fide debit and credit transaction with the bank; that the bank did not
purchase the notes at all or enter them on its books as bills receivable,
but that it took them for collection and to be credited up to what was
known as the “Collection Account.” It further appears that notes car-
ried by the bank which had run sixty days past due and which were
indorsed by the Northwestern Underwriters’ Association were to be
charged back to this collection account. There was further evidence
to the effect that there was a deficit in the collection account some time
prior to June 1, 1914, to the extent of $10,190, which was caused by
the act of the cashier of the bank, one Verry, in taking from the notes
so held for collection a number of them, aggregating $10,190, and
placing the amount partly to his own credit and partly to the credit of
other accounts in which he was personally interested.

It appears that the bank took the note in suit on June 2, 1914, re-
ceiving it from the Underwriters’ association in part payment of a
group of notes, owned by the bank and entered in its bills receivable
account, aggregating with interest $14,692.66, which were past due
and which were turned back to the insurance company. The mem-
oranda which were made at the time in connection with the listing of
the notes exchanged are strong evidence of the identity of the insurance
company and the underwriters’ association for purposes of the financial
transactions with the plaintiffi bank. For instance, the list of notes
turned back to the insurance company is headed as follows:

“Notes turned over to Insurance Co. (N. W. Und. Ass'n), by Farm-
ers’ Security Bank on June 21, 1914, having been taken up and settled
for as per attached sheet.”

The attached sheet is headed:

“XNotes turned over to bank on June 2nd, 1914, by N. W. Und. Ass'n
as part payment of notes described on first sheet.”
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Among the notes so listed is the note in suit. They aggregate
$8,544.20. This sheet also contains memoranda showing the payment
of cash items making up the difference between $8,544.20 and $14,-
692.81, or over $6,000. The respondent contends that the moment
Verry took notes held for collection amounting to $10,190, the bank
should have credited the collection account of the insurance company
with that amount. And, since it was understood that past-due notes
held by the bank and indorsed by the Underwriters’ association were
proper items to charge against the collection account, the notes which
the bank turned back on June 2d in exchange for the note in suit should
have been regarded as paid and all liability of the underwriters’ asso
ciation thercon canceled. Or, to state the matter another way, there
was no consideration whatsoever or value given for the transfer to the
bank on June 2d of the Wibe note, since it operated only as payment
of obligations which the bank was otherwise bound to regard as paid.
I am of the opinion that thére is ample evidence to establish the iden-
tity of the two companies for purposes of the financial transactions of
the bank and that the connection between the arrangement with refer-
ence to the forty-nine thousand dollars of notes held for collection and
the application of the proceeds in payment of notes held by the bank in
its bills receivable account is so closely related to the transaction regard-
ing the Wibe note as to affect the consideration for its transfer to the
bank. There is additional testimony that further tends to establish the
connection which it is unnecessary to mention. For these reasons, I
am of the opinion that no error was committed in admitting the testi-
mony relative to the $49,000 transaction.

It is argued that the court erred in allowing one Bradley, an officer
of the insurance company and the underwriters’ association, to testify
concerning promises made to return the note in suit to the maker.
Reading the whole of his testimony, it appears that it does no more
than to present to the jury from his standpoint the true character of
the transaction between the underwriters’ association and Wibe. Tt
was properly received for such purpose. It appears that the trial court
properly instructed the jury on the subject of the liability of an accom-
modation maker. So that, under the instructions, the jury was com-
pelled to find a verdict for the plaintiff if it had belicved that it gave
value for the note without knowledge that the accommodation had been

——
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withdrawn or that it had been diverted from the purpose for which it
was originally given. Under the instructions the plaintiff’s rights were
to be measured by its knowledge at the time it took the instrument un-
affected by any subsequent transactions between the association and
Wibe. The testimony objected to was, in my opinion, competent and
material for the purpose above indicated.

The appellant complains of evidence going to establish an admission
made by one of the attorneys for the bank before the judge of the
county court of Towner county in certain probate proceedings im the
estate of Peter J. Wibe, deceased. It is claimed that the attorney for
the bank represented to the county judge that the note in suit was an
accommodation note. There is abundant evidence that the note was an
accommodation note, and the plaintiff’s primary contention is that it
can recover as a holder for value notwithstanding such fact. Even
conceding, then, that the testimony establishing the admission of the
plaintiff’s attorney should not have been received, it was clearly error
without prejudice.

The appellant seems to place principal reliance upon the alleged
error of the trial court in permitting the case to be reopened after both
sides had rested for the purpose of taking additional evidence and of
admitting thereafter the testimony of one Agnes Olson, a daughter
of the deceased. She testified that she usually wrote her father’s let-
ters for him, and that in the latter part of March, 1914, she wrote a
letter to the plaintiff bank for her father in response to an inquiry
which he had received from the bank. The bank denies having written
the letter of inquiry, as well as having received the letter which Mrs.
Olson testifies that she wrote. The appellant constructs from her testi-
mony the contents of the letter which, if written, substantially read:

“I am surprised to see that my notes are offered for sale as that wasn’t
my understanding with the Northwestern Underwriters’ Association to
sell them. So you will have to take your own risk if you buy those
notes, as there is no other security behind them but the Northwestern
Underwriters’ Association. I wrote Bradlev to return the notes.”

An appellate tribunal, in a case of this character, is in no position
to weigh cevidence or pass upon the credibility of witnesses. It is clear
that if a letter such as the above was written and mailed, it has a most
important bearing upon the issues in this case and we cannot deter-
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mine that the trial court abused its discretion in reopening the case to
permit testimony of this importance to be given. The appellants
argue that the letter, if written, would constitute no notice to the bank
that Wibe had withdrawn his accommodation from the underwriters’
association. It would appear, however, that the letter was such as to
clearly apprise the bank that Wibe did not recognize the note as a bind-
ing obligation of any sort, and that he had, in fact, withdrawn his
accommodation.

It is also argued in this connection that the court erred in instrnet-
ing the jury that it was for them to say whether the latter amounted
to a protest against the sale of the note by the underwriters’ associ-
ation or whether it amounted to a notice to the bank that it was being
diverted by the association or notice that he was withdrawing his ac-
commodation. It is said that the legal import of the letter was for
the court and that it should not have been left to the jury to determine
its effect. In my opinion, the appellant is right in contending that the
legal import of the letter was for the court and should not have been
left to the jury, but I am further of the opinion that the court would
have been justified in instructing the jury that the letter, if written
and reccived, amounted to notice that the accommodation was with-
drawn and consequently to notice of a complete defense. The instrue-
tion, then, was really more favorable to the plaintiff than it should
have been.

Though there are additional assignments argued, the views of the
writer concerning them can readily be inferred from what has already
been said. I am of the opinion that the judgment should be affirmed.

Cueistianson, Ch. J., concurs.

LENA THORP, Appecllant, v. GEORGE W. THORP, Respondent.
(180 N. W. 26.)

Divorce — order forbidding mother awarded minor child from associating
with certain person rcversed.
In 1915 there was duly entered in this case a judgment dissolving the mar-
46 N. D.—8.
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riage between the plaintiff and the defendant and awarding to the plaintiff a
liberal alimony, giving to her the custody of the minor child and making for
its future support a special and generous allowance of $500 a year for twenty
years.

In 1919 the court made an order forbidding the plaintiff to move from her
residence into an apartment house and from permitting the child to go in com-
pany with Mrs. Grant, a teacher in the public schools, and a lady of the highest
repute. Held, that there is no sufficient reason for the order and it is reversed.

Opinion filed November 1, 1920.

Appeal from an order of the District Court of Stutsman County;
Honorable J. A. Coffey, Judge.

Order reversed.

John W. Carr and S. E. Ellsworth, for appellant.

“A defendant in a civil action is not entitled to the provisional rem-
edy by injunction. This remedy is entirely a creature of statute, and
is awarded only to the plaintiff in a proper action. Forman v. Healy,
11 N. D. 563, 63 N. W. 866.

“A court of equity will refuse to grant an injunction where circum-
stances are such that the injunction cannot be enforced by the court,
or where such enforcement will require a continuous supervision on
the part of the court.” 22 Cye. 781.

“A court of equity ought not to attempt to do by injunction any-
thing that will not be possible by enforcement.” McConnell v. Ar-
kansas Brick Mfg. Co. (Ark.) 69 S. W. 559.

“A mandatory injunction will never be granted where its enforce-
ment will require too great an amount of supervision by the court.”
McCabe v. Watt (Pa.) 73 Atl. 455; Hawley v. Burk, 134 Ill. App.
96 ; Miller v. Edison EL Co. 73 N. Y. Supp. 376.

Engerud, Diret, Holt, & Frame, for respondent.

When it appears that the thing done was something that ought to
be done we apprehend that technical objections to the procedure will
not be permitted to defeat the accomplishment of substantial justice;
and if there are any procedural defects they can be easily remecdied.
Houghton v. Houghton (S. D.) 157 N. W. 316; Arne v. Holland
(Minn.) 89 N. W. 3.

The courts have recognized the propriety of safe-guarding children
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from exposure to influences tending to impair the affcction or loyalty
of the children to a parent. Albertus v. Albertus (Iowa) 160 N. W.
830; Ladd v. Ladd (Iowa) 176 N. W. 211; Dimmitt v. Dimmitt
(Mo.) 150 S. W. 1111; Copeland v. Copeland (Okla.) L.R.A.1917B,
287, 290 and annotations.

The strict principles of res adjudicata do not apply to provisions of
a divorce respecting the custody of children. Houghton v. Houghton
(S. D.) 157 N. W. 316 ; People ex rel. v. Allen, 40 Hun, 611, affirmed
in 105 N. Y. 628; State v. Dist. Court (Mont.) 128 Pac. 590; Stone
v. Stone (Ind.) 64 N. E. 86; Oliver v. Oliver (Mass.) 24 N, E. 51;
Harlan v. Harlan (Cal.) 98 Pac. 32.

If the child were competent to testify, we were not informed as to
what she would testify to, and the exclusion of testimony is never rever-
sible error unless by an offer of proof it is shown to be competent and
material and its exclusion prejudicial. Smith v. Barnes Co. 32 N. D.
4; State v. Schonberg, 24 N. D. 532.

Rosinsox, J. In 1915 there was duly entered in this case a judg-
ment dissolving the marriage between the plaintiff and the defendant
and awarding to the plaintiff a liberal alimony and the custody of her -
minor child, Margaret Thorp, whose age was then six years. In April,
1919, the court made an order forbidding the plaintiff to remove from
her residence to an apartment house over a pool room in Jamestown,
and from permitting the child to associate with one Mary Grant, ex-
cept when in the company of her mother. From that order the plain-
tiff appeals. The order is made on the judgment roll and on the affi-
davit of defendant. It avers that the plaintiff continuously and
against the best interests of the child permits her to be in the company
of Mary Grant, who is imbued with a hatred of the defendant; that
the purpose of the plaintiff is to remove the child from her commodi-
ous home into a certain building owned by Mary Grant and to place
the child in a flat over a pool room frequented by men who stand
around the entrance to the room and often use vile language; that in
using the flat and passing in and out of it the child would hear bad
language; and defendant fears that an association of the child with
Mary Grant may estrange it from her father.

Lena Thorp, the plaintiff, makes affidavit that during the life of
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the child she has at all times taken the utmost care of her and has ever
been watchful of her mental and physical development; that the wel-
fare of the child has always been her first consideration. The plain-
tiff also shows good reason for leaving her home and moving into the
flat and avers that it is one of the most desirable flats in Jamestown;
that it is within three blocks of the public school; that one of the flats
in the building is the residence of Mary Grant and her husband and
that she, Mrs. Grant, is one of the tcachers in the public schools of
Jamestown, where she has been teaching for eighteen years; that she
is an educated and refined woman whose moral character is above sus-
picion; that the pool room is a clean, sanitary place and well con-
ducted ; and that the plaintiff has never heard Mrs. Grant speak ill of
defendant or say a thing of him in the presence of the child. Iler
affidavit is well corroborated by that of Mrs. Grant.

In the order, as formulated, the learned judge says, in effect, that
the order is granted not only on the affidavits but also on his own per.
sonal knowledge of the situation and circumstances affccting the rela-
tion of the parties, ete. That is in no way proper. If the judge had
knowledge of material facts on which to base a decision, he should
have stated the same by certificate or affidavit, so that a reviewing
court might consider the same.

On the facts, as disclosed by the affidavits, no good reason is shown
for interfering with the plaintiff’s custody of the child or her right to
remove her residence to a desirable flat, nor for any order in regard
to the association of the child with Mrs. Grant. Defendant had no
reason for thinking or suspecting that a lady of good character and
high repute would think of doing the child so great an injury as to
say a word to lessen her pride of birth and her love for a father whe
has made for her ample and generous provisions.

It appears, however, that more than a year has elapsed since the
making of the order appealed from, and that portion of the order
which restrains the plaintiff from removing to the flat over the pool
room is moot. Judge Birdzcll is of the opinion that that portion of
the order should be affirmed and hence disagrees to this extent with
the opinion of the writer. But he is further of the opinion, in accord
with the views of the writer, that upon this record there does not ap-
pear to be sufficient reason for prohibiting ordinary communication
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between the child and Mrs. Grant. The decision of this court is that
the order appealed from is reversed in so far as it relates to Mrs.
Grant, with costs to the appellant.

BirpzeLL and Gracg, JJ., concur.

Broxsox, J. (dissenting). This is an appeal from an order of the
district court restraining the appellant concerning the residence and
associations of her child. The facts, necessary to be stated, are as fol-
lows :

In October, 1915, a decree of divorce, between the parties, was
entcred. It awarded to the wife, the appellant herein, the care, cus-
tody, and full control of their minor child, with the provisions that
the respondent should be permitted to have access to such child at rea-
sonable times and should have the privilege of entertaining such child
and have her with him as much as he desired during vacation periods
when such child was not attending school. It further awarded to the
appellant the home in Jamestown, and $125 per month, support
money. It further directed that the respondent should deposit $500
annually until the sum of $10,000 had been accumulated for purposes
of a fund for the education of the minor child. In April, 1919, the
respondent made a motion to modify the decree by providing that the
custody of the minor child be transferred to this defendant or that the
decree be modified so as to permanently enjoin the appellant from
moving the child into a certain flat, and from permitting such child
to come in further contact with one Mary E. Grant. Upon this appli-
cation, an order to show cause was issued. After a hearing was had
on April 28, 1919, both parties appearing through counsel, the court
made an order that the appellant be restrained and enjoined from tak-
ing the minor child to the apartment involved over a certain pool room,
and from making a home for her there, and restraining and enjoining
the appellant from permitting the infant to associate with said Mary
E. Grant, except when such child was accompanied by her mother.
The court in such order further stated that, “after considering the
previous records and files in this action and the affidavit of Geo. W.
Thorp, attached to and served with the order to show cause, and his
additional affidavit made this day, and the affidavit of Lena Thorp,
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and Mary E. Grant, as well as the court’s personal knowledge of the
situation and circumstances affecting the relations of Mrs. Mary E.
Grant to the parties herein, and the location and surroundings of the
‘plaintiff’s present residence and the building in which the plaintiff
proposes to take up her residence with the child in question, the court
is of the opinion that it would be inimical to the welfare of the infant
daughter of the parties hereto to have her home in said apartments
over said pool room, and in close association with Mrs. Mary E. Grant,
who occupies part of the said second story of said pool-room building.”
The appellant has appecaled from this order. The papers returned to
this court, in addition to the original, notice, and undertaking of
appeal, consist of the following papers: Summons, complaint, affi-
davit of service, stipulation of counsel, agrecment of the parties, find-
ings of fact, conclusions of law, order for judgment, judgment and
notice of entry of judgment in the original divorce action; also the
application of the defendant for modification of decree and for an
order to show cause, the order to show cause, the affidavit of the appel-
lant, the affidavit of Mary E. Grant, and affidavit of the respondent
and the order hercin involved. These papers are accompanied by a
certificate of the clerk of the district court. There is no certificate
attached by the judge of the district court who made the order.

This case is an cquity action. This court may affirm, reverse, or
modify the order, so made, if it is to be considered as a modification
of the decree of divorce formerly entered in this case. See Rindlaub
v. Rindlaub, 19 N. D. 352, 125 N. W. 479. This court might enter-
tain, likewise, at a subscquent date after a modification of the order
herein, another petition for a further modification. See § 7844, Comp.
Laws 1913; Rindlaub v. Rindlaub, 28 N. D. 168, 147 N. W. 725.

Tt is apparent in this case that there has been no settlement of the
record hercin. It does not appear what matters were considered by
the trial court excepting such as mentioned in this order. It does
affirmatively appear that ‘the court’s personal knowledge of the sit-
nation and circumstances affecting the relations of Mrs. Grant and
the location and surroundings of the appellant’s present residence and
the location in which she expected to take up her residence were with-
in the personal knowledge of the trial court. It does further appear that
the court had under its consideration, in rendering the order herein,
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the records in the original divorce action. Manifestly, all of these
records have not been certified to this court. The transcript of the
evidence in such action has not been sent to this court. This court
has rccently held that upon appeals of this nature a record must be
settled as the statute requires; that either the order of the trial court
must describe the papers and the evidence upon which the same were
made or the record must be settled. Solon v. O'Shea, 45 N. D. 362,
177 N. W. 757. It appears in the papers certified to this court that
Mary E. Grant has been a school teacher in the public schools of
Jamestown for a period of more than eighteen years., As suggested
upon oral argument it is quite possible that this order as made in its
broad language restrains the appellant from associating with said
Mary E. Grant even in the relation of teacher and student, unless the
appcllant be present. Furthermore, it is quite probable, upon the
papers as certified to this court, that the question of moving the child’s
residence to a certain apartment is now a moot question. The order
was entered April 22, 1919. The papers in this case were not filed
with this court until June 20, 1920. Orders of this character, in
effect, modify the decree of divorce entered and ordinarily should
be entered as a modification of the original decree of divorce hercin.
See § 4404, Comp. Laws 1913; Rindlaub v. Rindlaub, 28 N. D. 168,
147 N. W. 725; Houghton v. Houghton, 37 S. D. 184, 157 N. W,
816. It would be manifestly improper to either affirm or reverse this
order upon the present state of the record before this court. This
court is unable to determine what was the entire evidence presented
before the trial court. This court is likewise unable to determine to
what extent the question concerning the apartments has become a moot
question and the extent to which the association of Mary E. Grant, at
least concerning her relation as teacher to such child, requires any
modification of the original decree of divorce herein. This case
accordingly must be remanded for the purpose of settling a record as
this court has heretofore held, and in that connection I am of the
opinion that upon the settlement of such record the trial court should
permit additional testimony to be adduced by the testimony of the
parties in open court, and, of other witnesses concerned, as to whether
the questions concerning such apartment is not now moot, and the ex-
tent to which specifically the original decree of divorce should be mod-
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ified, if at all, concerning the association of said Mary E. Grant with
such child, and concerning, particularly her relations, if any, as teach-
er in the public schools, to such child. .
Concerning the latter question it is quite evident that if material
cvidence was not exchided, it should have been at least adduced. See
Laws 1919, chap. 8. To this court trying de novo this subject-matter,
with the power, beyond a mere reversal or affirmance, to enter another
or different order, and subject possibly to a subsequent application to
amend its order, if so made, there should be presented a record settled
as the statute requires, and containing all the requisite evidence. The
best interests of the child, and of the parents so require. The due
expedition of this controversy, unfortunate as it seems, and contain-
ing potential possibilities of further strife and litigation, so demands.

CurisTiansoN, Ch. J. (dissenting in part). The decrce of divorce
in this action was entered in October, 1915. That decree provided:
“That the care, custody and full control of said minor child, Margaret
Lucile Thorp, be . . . awarded to the plaintiff. That the defend-
ant be permitted to have access to such child at reasonable times and
have the privilege of entertaining said child and having her with him
as much as he desires during vacation periods and when said child is
not attending school; and that should the plaintiff herein depart this
life prior to the time that said minor child reaches her majority, then
and in that event the custody and control of said minor child should be
and hereby is, awarded to Mrs. E. W. Thorp, mother of said defend-
ant.” In April, 1919, the trial court made an order, giving directions
relating to the care of said minor child. This appeal is from such
order. The only ruling complained of—the only ruling presented to
this court for review on this appeal—is the making of that order.
This is not a case like Rindlaub v. Rindlaub, 19 N. D. 352, 125 N. W.
479, 28 N. D. 168, 147 N. W, 725, where an appeal was taken from
the decree of divorce, and this court, on a trial de novo, modified the
decree, and specifically reserved jurisdiction to make further orders
relating to custody of children. See 19 N. D. 392. In the case at
bar no appeal was taken from the decree -of divorce. The original
subjeet-matter of the controversy was never brought within the juris-
diction of this conrt. The only matter this court has hefore it is the
order made in April, 1919.
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While the order appealed from sought to accomplish two purposes,
viz.: (1) To restrain the plaintiff from taking the child to a certain
flat above a pool room; and (2) to restrain the plaintiff from permit-
ting the child to associate with one Mrs. Grant, except when accom-
panied by the plaintiff, the two propositions were to some extent inter-
locked ; and, of course, the trial court was confronted, and required
to deal, with the matter as the situation then existed.

The lapse of time has somewhat changed the aspects of the matter,
and the majority members have scen fit to treat cach of the two provi-
sions separately. I am inclined to agree with the majority members
in so far as they say that that portion of the order which restrained
the plaintiff from taking the child to the flat over the pool room has
become moot. For, it appears that the term during which plaintiff
proposed to occupy such flat expired long before this case was submit-
ted to this court. I wholly disagree with the majority members, how-
ever, when they say that that portion of the order which restrained the
plaintiff from permitting the child to associate with Mrs. Grant, ex-
cept in the presence of the plaintiff, should be reversed. In my opin-
ion this court cannot, npon the record before us, do otherwise than
affirm the order in toto.

It should be borne in mind that the order before us was made by the
same judge who originally tried the case and rendered the deeree of
divorce. The evidence in the case is not before us, but the trial judge
knew what that evidence was. He knew the parties to the action, the
child, and Mrs. Grant. He was familiar with all the surronnding cir-
cumstances. He is a resident of the city of Jamestown (a city having
a population of about 6,600), and his chambers are in that city. He
was familiar with the various places involved in this controversy. He
knew the character and location of the home where the child has been
living. He knew the location of the pool room and its surroundings.
He knew what, if any, part Mrs. Grant took in the trial of the divorce
action. No one doubts that his actions were actuated by the highest
motives, and a sincere belief that the ends of justice would be best sub-
served by ruling as he did. Nor can anyone deny that the district
court had power to give directions for the care of the child. That
power is expressly recognized by Comp. Laws 1913, § 4404, which
provides: “In an action for divorce the court may before or after
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judgment give such direction for the custody, care, and cducation of
the children of the marriage as may scem necessary or proper, and
may at any time vacate or modify the same.” Comp. Laws 1913, §
4404.

In the decree of divorce the plaintiff was awarded the home which
had formerly been occupied by the parties to this action. It is admit-
ted that this is a good home, located in one of the most desirable resi-
dential sections of the city of Jamestown. It is admitted that the flat
which plaintiff proposed to occupy with her daughter is located over
a pool room in the business section of the city. In the defendant’s affi-
davit it is said: “Said flat is located over a large and well-patronized
pool room, cigar store, and soft drink establishment, and that the door-
way to said flat from the main street of this city, opens out upon the
sidewalk, at which place there frequently and almost continuously are
congregated large bodies of men, and at and around the entrance of
which place oftentimes there are loafing and loitering large numbers
of young men of about town, having nothing in particular to do, and
frequently vile and obscene language is used at and around said en-
trance and on said street by promiscuous persons, such as usually con-
gregate around and about pool halls. That in order for said child to
live in said flat, it will be necessary for her to pass in and out thereof,
and by and through said crowds and to continually hear such obscene
and indecent language, and witness such lond and boisterous conduct.”

There are, it is true, affidavits by the plaintiff and Mrs. Grant (the
owner of the building), to the effect that the pool room is under the
constant supervision of the peace officers of the city, and is a clean,
sanitary, and well-conducted place. But surely this court cannot say,
upon this record, that the condition related in the affidavit of the plain-
tiff is not the true one. That is a matter upon which the findings of
the trial court shonld control.

What about the sccond provision of the order? As already stated,
we have no means of knowing what connection, if any, Mrs. Grant
had with this action at its inception. The evidence upon which the
decree was based is not before ns. Upon the oral argument it was
stated by respondent’s counsel, and not denied by appellant’s counsel,
that Mrs. Grant took some interest in the matter at and prior to the
time the decree of divorce was entered. Tt was further stated that the
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defendant felt that she was largely responsible for the trouble between
the parties to this action which resulted in the divorce proceedings.

In his affidavit, defendant, says: ““This defendant verily believes
that the said plaintiff is not fully aware of the embarrassment caused
this defendant by allowing said Grant to associate with said daughter.
That many times and frequently said Grant has the daughter of this
defendant on the streets and in public places when her mother is not
with her; that when said Grant is not with said child that the child is
free and happy with her father at such times as she visits him or meets
him; that frequently when this defendant meets said Grant on the
street, whether with or without the child, said Grant appears to en-
deavor to display in the presence of said child and others and in pub-
lic places, by facial expressions and an assumed contemptuous attitude,
her dislike and hatred towards this defendant, and that at such times
as she is so with the child, the child is very much embarrassed, due no
doubt to the fact that she is now old enough to become aware of the
enmity existing between defendant and said Grant, and that said
daughter is embarrassed and hesitates to speak to this defendant when
she is in the company of said Grant, either due to the fact that she
feels that defendant does not desire her to be with said Grant, and that
she therefore may think that he thinks that she is disloyal to him, or
else she feels that she will be criticized or embarrassed if she speaks to
her father in the presence of said Grant.”

In her affidavit, plaintiff says: “That never since the granting of
said decree of divorce, has this plaintiff heard the said Mary E. Grant
make any remark derogatory of the character of the defendant in the
presence of the said minor child. That this plaintiff did, after the
granting of said decree, caulion said Mary E. Grant against discussing
the matrimonial difficulties of plaintiff and defendant in the presence
of said child, . . . That this pl.:atiff did forbid the said Mary E.
Grant from making any reference to said matter at all, or any refer-
ence to the defendant, in the presence of said child, and that this
plaintiff has never at any time heard said Mary E. Grant mention
this defendant in the presence of said child.”

In her affidavit Mrs. Grant specifically admits “that her feeling
toward (defendant) at the present time, while not of vindietive hatred,
is such as would condemn in the strongest terms possible his course of
conduct toward the plaintiff and his behavior in general.”
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Here we have Mrs. Grant’s admission under oath, voluntarily made,
in an affidavit of her present feclings towards the defendant. We also
have the sworn statement of the plaintiff that she “did forbid the said
Mary E. Grant from making any reference to said matter (the matri-
monial difficulties of plaintiff and defendant) at all, or any reference
to the defendant, in the presence of said child.” We have the sworn
stateinent of the defendant as to the conduct of Mrs. Grant towards
him, and the conduet of the child towards her father when she is accom-
panied by Mrs. Grant. Under the terms of the decree (which has
never been assailed) the defendant was “permitted to have access to
such child at reasonable times.” and was accorded “the privilege of
entertaining said child and having her with him as much as he desires
during vacation periods and when said child is not attending school.”
The decree further provided that in case plaintiff died before the child
attained majority, defendant’s mother should have the custody and
control of the child. There is no contention that the provisions of the
decree were unsatisfactory. Neither party appealed therefrom. Tt is
admitted that the defendant has fully complied with the terms and
provisions thereof; and the proof shows that he has made contribu-
tions towards the support of his daughter, in addition to those pre-
scribed by the decree. Can it be said upon the record before us that it
was not neecessary to make the order appealed from in order to pre-
serve to the defendant the rights accorded to him by the deerce? Can
it be said that that order is not conducive to the welfare and happiness
of the child? Why did the plaintiff find it necessary to “forbid Mrs.
Grant” to make “any refcrence to the defendant” before the child? Is
it possible for anyone who entertains such feelings for another as Mrs
Grant’s affidavit shows that she entertains towards the defendant to
conceal those feelings from a child as old as the one involved here?
Under the circumstances was it wise for, would it be conduecive to the
welfare and happiness of, the child to be so placed that she would be in
daily contact with Mrs. Grant? Would this be fair to the defendant,
or would it be fair to the child? These, and similar questions readily
suggest themselves, and probably suggested themselves to the trial
court. The trial court,—not this court, was charged with the duty of
giving “such direction for the custody, eare, and education of the child
as might seem necessary and proper.” Section 4404, supra. The per-
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formance of this duty required the exercize of judgment upon matters
not strictly judicial in their nature. By the very nature of things men
of equal intelligence might differ as to what directions should be given
for the care and cducation of a child. It is a matter of common knowl-
<dge that parents, both equally devoted, frequently differ on matters
of that kind. Clearly the power conferred by § 4404, supra, is a dis-
cretionary one. The diseretion should be exercised with due regard to
the welfare of the child and the rights of the parties. 14 Cyec. 808.
The presumption is that the trial court exercised its powers properly.
This court has no right to substitute its judgment for that of the trial
court. This court can interfere only where it is clearly shown that the
discretion vested in the trial court has been abused. And whoever
asserts an abuse of discretion has the burden of presenting to this
court a record affirmatively showing that such assertion is true. Erick-
son v. Wiper, 33 N. D. 193, 225, 157 N. W. 592. In my opinion the
record in this case wholly fails to show any abuse of discretion.

MARSHALL WELLS COMPANY, Respondent, v. PETER RE-
GAN, Appellant.

(180 N. W. 54.)

Appeal and error — party conccding there was one issue for jury cannot on
appeal assert there were others. \
1. Where at the close of the trial a party informs the trial court that there
is only one issue of fact to submit to the jury, he cannot be heard to say on
appeal that there were other questions of fact which should have been sub-
mitted.

Contracts — finding that there was no conflict on the issue for the jury raised
by defendant held proper.
2. For reasons stated in the opinion it is held that the trial court properly
held that there was no substantial conflict in the evidence on what was con-
ceded to be the only possible issue of fact in the case.

Opinion filed November 3, 1920.
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From a judgment of the district court of Ramsey County, Knee-
shaw, J., defendant appeals. '

Affirmed.

Palda & Aaker and H. S. Blood, for appellant.

Cuthbert, Smythe, & Wheeler, and Middaugh & Cuthbert, for re-
spondent.

“Where an absolute and unqualified admission is made in a pending
cause, whether by written stipulation of the attorney or as a matter of
proof on the hearing, it cannot be retracted on a subsequent trial, un-
less by leave of court.” 20 Century Dig. § 1035, and general admis-
sions.

“Statements of plaintiff in the trial of an action between him and
another defendant, involving the same matters as in the pending case,
are competent to sustain defendant’s contention.” 20 Century Dig.
1071, § 739; Mercer v. King, 13 Ky. L. Rep. 429; Union Mut. L.
Ins. Co. v. Masten, 3 Fed. 885.

“Express admissions tn judicio stand as conclusive presumptions of
law (1 Greenl. Ev. § 27) and cannot be disputed unless it is first shown
that they were made by mistake.” Holley v. Young, 68 Me. 215, 28
Am. Rep. 40; California Electrical Works v. Finch, 47 Fed. 583.

Per CuriaM. Plaintiff brought this action to recover upon a con-
tract for the installation of a heating plant in the house of the defend-
ant situated in the city of Devils Lake in this state, and recovered a
verdict in the sum of $991.43 with interest. Judginent was entered
pursuant to the verdict and the defendant has appealed from the judg-
ment. The evidence shows that on or about March 12, 1918, the plain-
tiff through its agent, Johnson, and a special sales agent, entered into
an agreement with the defendant to scll the defendant a hot-water
heating plant and install the same in his residence in the city of Dev-
ils Lake, for the agreed price of $300. The defendant, Regan, admits
that such arrangement was made. There is, iowever, a conflict as to
the terms of the agrcement. Regan claims that he stated that he de-
sired a boiler with a fire box of the same size as the one in the United
States Weather Bureau in the city of Devils Lake. It is admitted that
the parties went down to the weather bureau and examined this boiler.
Both representatives for the plaintiff admitted that the defendant
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stated that he wanted a boiler with a fire box of the same size as the
boiler in the weather bureau, but that they informed him that this
boiler would be too large for his house and would not be economical
and that they suggested to him that all he wanted would be a boiler of
sufficient capacity to heat his house to a temperature of at least 70°
in the coldest weather; that thereafter a certain memorandum or agree-
ment was drawn up which, at defendant’s request, was submitted to
his attorney. The attorney, raised some question as to whether the
sales agents had power to bind the company with respect to the matter
in question and suggested that the proposition be submitted to the
company to the end that there might be a ratification of the contract
by the company direct. Thereafter the plaintiff wrote a letter to
the defendant accepting the order and guaranteeing that the heating
plant would heat his house in the coldest weather to a temperature
of 70°. The plaintiff company thereupon proceeded to ship the
material including the boiler and have the plant installed. The de-
fendant admits that he saw the boiler at the depot, and also later while
it was being installed. After the plant had been completely installed,
with the single exception of inserting the glass tube in the water gaunge,
the defendant made complaint that the boiler did not have a fire box
as large as that in the weather bureau and refused to accept or pay for
the plant. The plaintiff, thercupon, sent another representative to see
the defendant and endecavored to adjust the matter with him with the
result that it was agreed that plaintiff should send him a boiler with a
fire box of the desired size. After this took place the defendant com-
municated with one Jillek, who was engaged in the plumbing and
heating business in Devils Lake, with the resnlt that he decided that
he wanted Jillek to install the new boiler. The defendant saw the
new boiler after it arrived at Devils Lake and expressed his satisfac-
tion with it.

Later a conversation tock place between Regan, Jillek, and the
representatives of the plaintiff, at which it was arranged that Jillek
should go ahead and install the new boiler and complete the job.
Jillek, testified: “He (Regan), said, ‘If they would employ me to
put in his job and furnish me the necessary material that I asked for
he would accept the job and pay for it.” I says, ‘that if they give me
these things I will take the responsibility and I will gnarantee that
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I will heat his house.” He, (Regan) said, ‘if you give Jilleck what he
wants I know he will do me a good job and I will accept it and pay
for it.”” A Mr. Locke, gives the following version of the conversation:
“Mr. Regan, says, ‘Mr. Jillek, if you will put in that plant I know it
will be right and I will pay for it.’” Johnson who was present at
the conversation gives this version. “Give Joe what he wants. He is
a good man and whatever he says goes. You give him what he wants
and he will guarantee the job.” After this conversation took place, a
written agrcement was prepared which reads as follows: “Devils
Lake, North Dakota, Fcbruary 22, 1919. Marshall Wells Co.,
Duluth, Minn. Upon furnishing the extra radiation and fittings neces-
sary as submitted by me I hereby certify and guarantee the equipment
and parts for the Peter Regan heating plant to be complete in every
respect. Signed by, Joe Jillek, Steamfitter, Devils Lake, N. D.”

The defendant, Regan, and one Johnson signed the agreement as
witnesses.

Jillek prepared a list of additional material and parts which he
desired. They were all furnished by the plaintiff. Jillek commenced
to install the new boiler, and some additional radiation which had
been furnished by plaintiff. While the work was progressing the de-
fendant came along, and forbade his continuing the work. The plain-
tiff sought to obtain permission to remove the first boiler, but defend-
ant refused to permit it to remove it except upon payment of dam-
ages.

The defendant refused to permit Jillek to finish the work. He
also refused to pay the plaintiff, or even permit it to remove any of
its material on the premises. The plaintiff thereupon brought this
action for the price of the heating plant as agreed upon, viz., $300,
and the value of the first boiler, viz., $191.43. The complaint is
framed on the theory that after the first boiler had been installed there
was a sccond contract between the parties under which the defendant
agreed to pay the price first agreed upon, viz.,, 800, and return the
first boiler, upon plaintift’s furnishing a new boiler and the additional
parts specified by Jillek; that plaintiff performed all parts of the
second agreement, and that plaintiff has broken such contract by fail-
ing to return the first boiler or pay the $800, to plaintiff’s damage in
the sum of $991.43.



MARSHALL WELLS CO. v. REGAN 129

At the close of all the testimony the plaintiff moved for a directed
verdict. The record shows that after this motion was made the fol-
lowing colloquy took place between the trial court and defendant’s
counsel :

“The Court: Mr. Blood, what issue of fact is there for the jury to
pass upon? What has the jury to pass upon here at all? What am
I going to charge the jury? The only possible issue is that the second
boiler was not as large as the one he was to get.

“Mr. Blood: That is the issue.”

Plaintiff’s counsel thereupon asked that the case be reopened for
the purpose of making a motion to strike out the testimony of ome
Clementrude (who had been called and who had testified as a witness
in behalf of the defendant with respect to the comparative sizes of
the last boiler furnished to the defendant and the boiler in the weather
bureau at Devils Lake). The case was reopcned. Plaintiff’s counsel
thercupon moved that Clementrude’s testimony on the matter of the
size of the boiler be stricken out, “for the reason that on cross-examina-
tion, it was conclusively demonstrated that he had no knowledge of
the subject himself and that his testimony on direct was purely hear-
say, conjecture, and guess work.” The court sustained the motion.
Thereupon the court made the following statement to defendant’s
counsel: “If you can suggest anything for the jury to pass upon,
Mr. Blood, I will instruct the jury.” Defendant’s counsel replied:
“Our theory is that he did not get what he contracted for the second
time, that the second boiler was not the size of the one in the weather
bureau station.” The court: “What is there to show that it was not?
Mr. Clementrude testified that it was not, but he says that he does
not know anything about it.”

Hence, we have this situation as disclosed by the record: The de-
fendant assumed, and in fact informed the trial court, that there was
only one issue to submit to the jury, namely, whether the second boiler
was of the agreed size. The trial court acted upon the question thus
presented, and held, as a matter of law, that there was no conflict in
the evidence as to the size of the second boiler, or rather that the evi-
dence showed that the second boiler was of the agreed size. We have

no hesitancy in holding that the trial court was correct in so ruling.
46 N. D.—9.
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There was no substantial evidence, whatever, tending to show that the
second boiler was not of the size agreed upon; and there was abundant
testimony adduced by the plaintiff to the effect that it was. In these
circumstances the defendant may not complain in this court that the
trial court took him at his word and acted accordingly. 3 C. J. pp.
734, 860.

Defendant contends, however, that in as much as the evidence shows
that he paid freight on the first boiler that he is entitled to have the
judgment reduced in the sum so expended. While no foundation is
laid in the pleadings for the recovery of such claim, plaintiff’s counsel
stated upon the oral argument that plaintiff was willing that such al-
lowance be made. Hence the order and judgment of this court will
be that the judgment appealed from be affirmed, but that plaintiff be
allowed credit upon said judgment for the amount of freight paid
by him upon the first boiler.

THOMAS BAILEY et al, Respondents, vv. CHARLES M. PUGH
et al., Constituting the Board of County Commissioners of Dunn
County, North Dakota, Appellants.

(179 N. W. 705.)

Oounties — mandamus — in proceedings to remove county seat, it is for com-
missioners, and not court, to pass on petition — mandamus not issued
to compel county commissioners to reverse their decision against suffi-
ciency of petition for removal of county seat.

In proceedings for the removal of a county seat, it is for the county com-
missioners, and not the court, to pass on the sufficiency of the petition for re-
moval. When the county commissioners decide against the sufficiency of a
petition, the eourt may not, by mandamus or otherwise, compel them to unde
or reverse their decision.

Opinion filed November 5, 1920.

Appeal from a judgment of the District Court of Dunn County;
Honorable ¥. T. Lambke, Judge.

Reversed.

Murtha & Starke and W. F. Burnett, for appellants.
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The passing upon the sufficiency of the petitions of Dunn Center
was a discretionary matter which could not be controlled by manda-
mus. Sawyer v. Mahew (S. D.) 71 N. W. 141; Oliver v. Wilson, 8
N. D. 590; State ex rel. Wiles v. Albright, 11 N. D. 22, 98 Am. Dec.
375.

The writ of mandamus will not issue where there is a plain, speedy
and adequate remedy at law. Taubman v. County Commrs. (S. D.)
84 N. W. 784.

A court or board clothed with judicial functions may be compelled
to act, but the court issuing the writ cannot control its decision. Ex
parte Morgan, 114 U. S. 174; Ins. Co. v. Adams, 9 Pet. 571.

Nuchols & Kelsch, for respondents.

Rosinson, J. This proceeding relates to the removal of the county
seat of Dunn county. It is an appeal from an order of mandamus
made by Judge Lembke on the 19th day of June, 1920. As the record
shows, in May, 1920, there were filed with the county auditor numerous
petitions for the removal of the county seat. On June Sth the county
commissioners met in special session to consider the same and after
considering for about nine days, on June 18, 1920, the board of
county commissioners made and entered an order or resolution deny-
ing the petitions and declaring that the same were not signed by
qualified electors equal in number to three fifths of all the votes cast
in the county at the last preceding general election. That resolution
has not been reconsidered or undone. It remains in full force and
effect. But on June 19, 1920, at 7:15 ». M. the court issued to the
county commissioners a peremptory writ of mandamus commanding
them forthwith to convene and before 10 o’clock p. . of that day to
enter and record a proper resolution granting the petitions and direct-
ing the county auditor to publish legal notices, to prepare ballots and
submit to the voters the question of the removal of the county seat at
the primary election on June 30, 1920. And it was further ordered
that in case the board of county commissioners refused to comply with
the order of the court that C. A. Barton, Joseph Huschka and O. O.
Odegard are hereby appointed as special commissioners to act in place
of the county commissioners and to carry out all the orders, directions,
and commands of the peremptory writ. The writ was served only on
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one of the county commissioners and it was in no way possible to
serve it on the other two commissioners before 10 ». M. of June 19th.
However, Barton and Odegard, the two special commissioners, met
at 10 p. 3. on June 19th, and at 10:40 p. M. made an order in accord
with the writ. Then the question of removal was submitted to the
voters at the primary election on June 30th, and a majority of the
votes were given in favor of Manning as the county seat. The stat-
utes which relate to the matter are as follows:

Comp. Laws, § 3233: When the inhabitants of any county desire
to remove the county seat, they may present a petition to the board
of county commissioners of their county praying for such removal and
‘that an election be held to determine whether or not such removal
shall be made.

Comp. Laws, § 3234: If the petition is signed by qualified electors
of the county, equal in number to at least three fifths of all the votes
cast in the county at the last preceding general election, the board must,
at the next general election, submit the question of the removal to the
clectors of the county.

Comp. Laws, § 3239 (Sess. Laws 1917, chap. 102) as amended:
In counties where the county seat is not located on a railroad or inter-
state river, the question of the county seat removal may be voted on
at any primary election, and if more than two towns are contending
for the location of the county seat at such election, then the two towns
receiving the highest vote at such primary election, and these two
towns only, shall be placed on the official ballot at the first coming gen-
eral clection, and the town then receiving the highest number of votes
cast for the county scat shall be designated as the county seat.

The case does not call for any discussion. The mandamus order
shows on its face that it is dictatorial, arbitrary, and void. The court
had neither jurisdiction of the subject-matter nor of the county com-
nissioners; nor did the court have any jurisdiction to appoint special
county commissioners. This court has justly held that on the suffi-
ciency of a petition for the removal of a county seat the decision of
the county commissioners is final. State ex rel. Little v. Langlie, 5
N. D. 594, 601, 32 L.R.A. 723, 67 N. W. 958. As the court there
held: When we consider the nature of the question to be passed upon,
the peculiar facilities that county commissioners have living in close
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contact with the pcople, for their reaching a correct result, and the
enormous expense involving a trial of that question in court, we are
impelled to the conclusion that the decision of the hoard is final.

In this matter it seems the county commissioners took some eight
or nine days to consider and decide on the voluminous records and
petitions and the sufficiency of the removal petitions, and then, in the
most summary manner, the court makes an order directing that on
the same day, and beforo 10 p. ., the board shall reconvenc and re-
verse their decision and enter a decision as dictated by the court.
Clearly the order was null and void. It was never served, and of
course it was justly disregarded by the county commissioners.

Reversed with costs and case remanded forthwith.

CuristiansoN, Ch. J. and Birpzerr and Gracg, JJ, concur.

Bronson, J. I concur in the result.

EMIL C. HAGE, Thomas Lonnevik, and Siver Serumgard, as the
Lake Region Investment Company, Respondents, v. M. SIGBERT
AWES COMPANY, a Corporation, Appellant.

(179 N. W. 986.)

Brokers — one broker held not liable to another under contract between
them as to sale of land listed with latter.
This is an appeal from a judgment on a verdict for $813. The complaint does
not state and the evidence does not show a cause of action, but there is a clear
showing that the plaintiff has no cause of action.

Opinion filed June 25, 1920. On rehearing November 6, 1920.

Appeal from the District Court of Ramsey County, Honorable
4. G. Burr, Judge.

Reversed and dismissed.

Flynn, Traynor & Traynor, for appellant.

The plaintiffs are not entitled to recover because they did not and
could not deliver to defendant on the terms agreed.
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Under these circumstances plaintiff had nothing to sell to defendant
and they knew it. That such a contract is void and no compensation
or commission can be recovered by the broker under such circum-
stances. Halland v. Johnson (N. D.) 174 N. W. 874.

The failure of the plaintiffs to deliver to the dcfendant at $25 per
acre defeats the right of plaintiffs to recover their commission. This
is clearly the law in this state. Anderson v. Johnson, 16 N. D. 174,
112 N. W, 139; Paulson v. Reeds, 33 N. D. 152; Grangaard v.
Betzina, 33 N. D. 271; Fulton v. Cretain, 17 N. D. 335.

Serumgard & Conant, for respondents.

Rosinson, J. This is an appeal from a judgment on a verdict for
$813. The gist of the complaint is that in 1916, at Devils Lake, in
Ramsey county, both the plaintiff and the defendant were engaged in
the business of buying and selling land on their own account and on
commission. That 680 acres of land—described in the complaint—had
been listed with the plaintiff for sale on commission, and that in April,
1916, it was agreed between the plaintiff and defendant that if the de-
fendant bought or took over any of the land contained in the plain-
tiffs’ list of land for sale on commission, the defendant would pay to
the plaintiff a commission of $1 per acre for the land bought or taken
over; that on August 21, 1916, the defendant bought and took over
said 680 acres.

It appears that in 1915 the defendant had desk room in the office
of Siver Serumgard and had the same land listed for sale. Then in
1916 the plaintiffs formed their corporation to secll and deal in lands,
and the land was listed with them for sale at $25 an acre. It was also
listed with the defendant. The land was part of an estate. It was
listed by the executrix, who had no authority to list it for sale at any
price. In time the land was advertised for sale at aunction, pursuant
to an order of the court, and at the auction sale the plaintiff bid for
the land $25.92 per acrc; defendant bid $26.06 per acre and the land
was sold and conveyed to defendant.

The complaint does not state a cause of action; the evidence does not
show a cause of action. On the contrary, the complaint and the evi-
dence show that plaintiff has no cause of action. The executrix did
not own the land. She had no legal authority to list it for sale at $25
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an acre, or at any price, and at the public sale of the land, which was
duly advertised and made pursuant to an order of the court, the
plaintiff and the defendant and every other person had a perfect right
to bid for the land without paying for the privilege $1 an acre, or any
sum whatever. As the writer thinks, there was no reasonable cause for
commencing and prosecuting such an action.

Reversed and dismissed.

BirpzeLL and Gracg, JJ., concur.

€nristianson, Ch. J. (dissenting). The majority members not
only reverse the judgment, but order a dismissal of the action. That
is, they hold as a matter of law that plaintiffs have no canse of action.
I am unable to agree with these conclusions.

The evidence adduced by the plaintiffs shows that the defendant
had been maintaining an office at Devils Lake. In 1916, Awes, the
principal officer of the defendant corporation approached plaintiffs and
stated, in substance, that he wanted to enter into a working agree-
ment with them, whereby his corporation would have the benefit of and
handle lands which had been listed with the plaintiffs; that if such
arrangement was made defendant would not keep a man at Devils
Lake, and would pay plaintiffs $1 per acre for all the land which it
acquired or disposed of from such lists. This proposition was ac-
cepted by the plaintiffs. At the time, the plaintiffs had upon their
lists, among others, 680 acres belonging to the Mooers’s estate. The
surviving widow, Elizabeth W. Mooers, who was administratrix of the
estate had listed the land for sale with the plaintiffs at a price of $25
per acre net to the owners. The plaintiffs informed Awes of this
fact, and gave him the memorandum relative thereto which they had
in their files. Thereafter one of the members of the plaintiff copartner-
ship took Awes out to inspect the land. Later, Serumgard, one of
the members of the plaintiff copartnership had a conversation with the
administratrix relative to the sale of the land which she had listed
with them. He explained to her that it would be necessary to have
the sale made through proceedings had in the probate court. She
stated that she did not want to go to this trouble and expense unless
she was sure the land could be sold. Serumgard thereupon assured
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her that he would see that the land was purchased at a price to net
the owners at least $25 per acre. He thereupon prepared, and the
administratrix signed and verified, a petition for license to sell such
real estate; and later sale was held pursuant thereto. In accordance
with his promise to the administratrix, Serumgard submitted a bid
for the land in the sum of $17,666.15, or about $25.97 per acre. The
defendant company, also, submitted a bid of $26.06 per acre, and was
awarded the land. At the time he submitted his bid, Serumgard had
no knowledge that the defendant had made, or was intending to make,
a bid for the land. The testimony of Lonnevik, one of the copartners,
shows that at a later date Awes recognized that his company was in-
debted to the plaintiff in connection with the acquisition by his com-
pany of the land in question.

The majority opinion is predicated upon the proposition that the
administratrix had no authority to sell or list the land for sale at any
price. It is true she could not sell it, or enter into any valid contract
to sell, except in the manner provided by law for the sale of such prop-
erty. There was no reason, however, why, before putting the estate
to the expense of obtaining license to sell and advertising the sale, she
should not endeavor to interest prospective purchasers. I do not see,
however, wherein the validity of the listing arrangement between the
plaintiffs and the administratrix makes any diffcrence as to the re-
spective rights of the parties to this action. The arrangement be-
tween the plaintiffs and the defendant was that it would pay $1 per
acre for land which it “took” from their list. It was in effect an agree-
ment to pay for service or information leading to the purchase of land.
Plaintiffs were not expected to close the deals. The defendant was
supposed to do that. That was the construction which the parties
themselves placed on their agreement, for the evidence shows that the
defendant company purchased two other tracts of land which it “took”
from plaintiffs’ list, and in both instances defendant made the deal,
and option agreements were taken direct from the owners to the de-
fendant company. In these cases the defendant company paid plain-
tiffs the agreed compensation.

In denying defendant’s motion for a new trial the trial court filed
a memorandum decision from which I quote: : '

“The defendant applies to the court for a new trial. It seems to
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the court the case turns upon the nature of the case involved, and the
real issues to be determined. Is this a case where a broker seeks to
recover commission for the sale of land, or, is this a case where one
person renders service to another for which the other promises to pay ¢
The defendant in this case treats it as if it were a case where a broker
is seeking to recover his compensation. The theory of the case is to be
determined by the complaint. It is not claimed the complaint is de-
murrable. In other words it is conceded the complaint states a cause
of action. What is the cause of action? Plaintiffs allege that they had
land listed for sale and that the defendant agreed with him that if he
took over any of that land he would pay them $1 an acre. This is
seen in T 4. True, in 9 8, plaintiffs allege they were brokers but this
is merely a description of their business. Plaintiffs do not claim to
be recovering as brokers, but it is because they were brokers they hap-
pened to have land listed. From the evidence it is clear both parties
were land brokers and that the defendant, in order to save expense to
himself and obviate the expense of maintaining an office force, agreed
that if he made use of the lists of plaintiff he would pay them $1 an
acre in case he bought any of the land. Of course this was disputed
but the jury found this way. Now, he made use of their list and
afterwards bought the land. He was not required to buy it from
plaintiffs, but they put him on the track. If he did not want to pay
them $1 an acre, he should not have made use of the information he
got from them. Whether it would have cost him a $1 an acre to have
maintained an office force and thus get in touch with the land that was
offered for sale is not the question. After finding out from them that
this land was for sale and making use of their machinery, good faith
required that he make no use of the information unless he intended to
pay them for it. Whether he paid too much in this particular case
does not concern us. We are not making the contract for the parties.
It makes no difference that he bought the land through probate pro-
ceedings. . . . Simply because the parties happen to be brokers
in land does not make this case a case of broker secking to recover his
compensation. It is a case of one broker doing service for another.
This is the cause of action, and there being evidence to sustain it, and
the jury having found in favor of the plaintiff, I see no reason why
the verdict should be disturbed.”



138 46 NORTH DAKOTA REPORTS

The memorandum decision speaks for itself. It shows that the trial
court, in denying the motion for a new trial, did not merely make a
formal ruling, but carefully considered the questions presented on such
motion. I see no reason for disturbing the findings of the jury, and
the ruling of the trial court.

Broxson, J., concurs.
On Rehearing.

Per CuriaM. A reargument was ordered. After a reconsideration
of the evidence in the light of the reargument the court adheres to the
conclusion originally announced.

It stands admitted in this case that the land was not listed by any-
one having authority to bind the seller to tell at a fixed price, and
that all parties were dealing in regard to it with knowledge that the
land would have to be sold through the probate court. It was under-
stood, however, that the administratrix was willing to sell at $25 per
acre if more could not be obtained.

If the action be regarded as one fur a commission for obtaining the
land for the defendants at a given price, it would scem clear that it
cannot be maintained; for the plaintiffs did not obtain the land for
the defendants at the price indicated. One of them testified:

“We got him (Awes) the bargain and he took it according to the

terms that we offered it to him; we brought the purchaser—iwe brought
together the owner of the land and Mr. Awes’ company as buyer, and
by that we had earned a commission.”

The evidence clearly shows that the defendant was unable to and
did not buy on the terms-on which the plaintiffs say thev had the
land listed so that they did not earn a commission by obtaining the
land for the purchaser at the price stated.

Taking the view of the case which is most favorable to the plain-
tiffs, that the contract was one whereby the defendants agreed to pav
to the plaintiffs $1 an acre for such land as they, the defendants, might
take from the plaintiffs’ lists, we are of the opinion that the evidence
is equally insuflicient to sustain a recovery in this action. There were
two witnesses who testified for the plaintiffs and both of them, as will
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be seen from the evidenee quoted below, have defined listing as includ-
ing the price at which the land could be purchased. The following
testimony of the plaintiffs’ witnesses makes this element of the con-
tract clear, and it seems to us to be equally clear that in the subsequent
dealings respecting the Mooers’s land both parties ignored the list
price. In fact, it seems to us that they did not treat this transaction
as falling within the terms of their service or commission arrange-
ment at all.

The terms of the contract appear in the testimony given by two of
the plaintiffs. Mr. Serumgard testified:

“Mr. Awes met us in the office and the question came up as to some
sort of a working arrangement. Mr. Awes had maintained an office
there the year before and had kept a man. Now, he said to us: ‘Boys,
we can just as well work this together the coming season; I won't
keep a man tf you fellows will list up land for me and get me bargains.
I will allow you—I will pay you $1 an acre for all the land I take off
your list.” At first I demurred to this, but Mr. Lonnevik told him that
would be agreeable to him, and I finally told Mr. Awes the same thing;
that he could go ahead and do that. Then he wanted to know if we had
any land listed, and I had already told him at a previous conversation
about a tract of land that we had listed known as the Mooers’s land
. .« . and owned by the estate of George Mooers; Mrs. Mooers being
the administrator. We told him that we had that and that # was a
snap, and that it was listed to us at $25 per acre; and we looked this
over. Mr. Lonnevik and Mr. Awes went into the other office and looked
it over.

“Q. What do you mean by looked it over?

“A. The listing of the land, description of the land, and the memo-
randum of the improvements and quality of the land, and the buildings,
fences, and so on. We had a memorandum of those things.”

On cross-examination he testified that by having the land listed he
meant as follows:

“Q. Mr. Serumgard, what do you mean by having the land listed 2

“A. I mean that we would arrange with the owner to have the land
for sale at a fixed price, and that is what I mean by having it listed.”

“Q. You didn’t have any agreement either with Mrs. Mooers that
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if you could get her $25 an acre for the land that you could have any-
thing more than that you obtained for it?

“A. No, sir.

“Q. That conversation between Mrs. Mooers and Mr. Hage was that
Mr. Hage asked her if her land was for sale, and she said she would
be glad to sell it if she could get $25 an acre?

“A. Yes, sir; that we could have it for sale at that figure, she would
take that for it.”

Upon redirect examination Mr. Serumgard testified that he had

another interview with Mr. Awes some time during the month of”

April; that Mr. Awes came into his officc when he was alone and
“wanted to know about whether we had any snaps, and I told him
that the biggest snap we had on our list is the Mooers land, and he told
me that as soon as Tom got back they would go out and look at it.”

Mr. Lonnevik also testified to the agrecment as follows:
“Well, Mr. Awes made us a proposition to
“Q. Tell what he said ?

“A. To list land for him. He said: ‘Heretofore I had had a man
here, but if you gentlemen will work together with me it will not be
necessary for me to keep a man here. You can list up land for me and
I will pay you $1 an acre; any land that you cannot sell, or that I can
find buyers for, any lands that I can use, I am willing to pay you
$1 an acre.

“Q. Yes, and then what?

“A. Well, we made that agrcement with him.”

He also testified to the fact of Mr. Awes going out to see the land
and to a conversation taking place there as follows:

“Q. What, if anything, did he say while you were doing this?

“A. Well, he thought it was a snap, £25 an acre.

“Q. And, now, then, did this memorandum listing that you talk
about state the minimum price that Mrs. Mooers would take for her
land or any price?

“A. T don’t remember whether it did or not.

“Q. You know what it was listed to us at, do you?

“A. Yes.

“Q. What was it?

“A. Twenty-five dollars an acre.”
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On cross-examination he testificd that they had no listing that would
bind Mrs. Mooers unless they sold it first; that “it was listed with the
right to sell if we could get $25 an acre for her.”

It appears that Mr. Serumgard, one of the plaintiffs in this action,
acted as attorney for Mrs. Mooers in securing the license to sell and
that he had an understanding with Mrs. Mooers that the land would
be sold at not less than $25 per acre. She was to get more if the land
went higher. In order not to disappoint her, he personally put in a
bid for $17,666.15, which was $25.92 per acre. The defendant on
the same day put in a bid of $26.06 per acre and the land was sold to
it. From these circumstances it will readily be seen that if the de-
fendant had put in a bid for the land at $25 per acre (at which the
plaintiffs claim it was listed with them) it (the defendant corporation)
would not have become the purchaser. The defendant bid at a com-
petitive sale and not in reliance upon any listing at a price fixed by
the seller, either to the plaintiffs or to anybody else, and the plain-
tiffs were the competing bidders at the sale.

As a further evidence that the plaintiffs and defendant had aban-
doned the listing, so far as the sale through the probate court is con-
cerned, and that they did not intend their contract to be applicable
thereto, the plaintiff who bid in the land testified that he was doing it
80 the land could be sold, and that “\Ir. Awes could have had it from
us at the price if it was sold to us.

This would have involved a change in the list price. In othor words,
if the Awes Company had not bid at the probate sale at all and the bid
of Mr. Serumgard, at $25.92, had been accepted, Awes could have had
the land at $25.92 or 92 cents per acre above the previous list price.
To have consummated the deal, however, the Awes Company, accord-
ing to the plaintiffs’ theory in this law suit, would have had to add
$1 an acre for commission to the plaintiffs, making the land cost it
$26.92 per acre, instead of $26, including commission if taken under
the so-called service contract. We are of the opinion that the contract
as proved by the plaintiffs cannot be reasonably construed to embrace
an obligation on the part of the defendant to pay a commission on a
land purchase that it might make at a probate sale where it would bid
in competition with the plaintiffs. It follows that the judgment must
be reversed and the case dismissed. It is so ordered.
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BirpzeLr, Grack, and RoBinsox, JJ., concur.

Curistianson, Ch. J. (dissenting further). The foregoing dissent-
ing opinion was prepared and filed when the views of the majority mem-
bers were expressed in the opinion written by Mr. Justice Robinson.
Afterwards a rehearing was ordered and the case reargued, and, while
the majority members adhere to the first opinion, they have decmed it
necessary, or at least desirable, to reinforce or supplement it with an
additional opinion. The additional opinion quotes certain excerpts
from the testimony as a basis for the conclusion that the plaintiffs and
defendant, so far as the sale of this particular land was concerned,
abandoned the arrangement between them, “and that they did not in-
tend their contract to be applicable thereto.”

The transcript of the evidence in this case covers some eighty-five
pages of typewritten matter, and, of course, it is impossible to get a
correct understanding of the arrangement between the parties or of
their understanding of it from a few questions and answers. The
question is: What does the entire evidence show that the agreement
was, how did the parties understand it, and what did they do under it ?

It will be noted that the last sentence in the first quotation from
Serumgard’s testimony reads thus: ‘“Mr. Lonnevik and Mr. Awes
went into the other office and looked it over.” The next question and
answer were as follows:

“Q. What do you mean by looked it over?

“A. The listing of the land, description of the land, and the mem-
orandum of the improvements and quality of the lands and the build-
ings, fences, and so on. We had a memorandum of these things.”

Lonnevik testified as follows with respeet to this matter:

“Shortly after, on that same dav, we made the agreement with Mr.
Awes, he asked me if we had any lands listed up at that time, and I
handed him this list or this deseription of that land of Mrs. Mooers.

“Q. The memorandum of the listing ¢

“A. Yes, sir.

“Q. That wasn’t signed by Mrs. Mooers, however ?

“A. T don’t think it was.

“Q. And what did Mr. Awes say then, if anything, when he took it ?

“A. Well, he read it over, and he said he was going over to see
Mrs. Mooers about it.”
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Lonnevik further testified that Awes took the memorandum with
him and that he never returned it to the plaintiffs.

This testimony most graphically presents the interpretation which
the parties themselves placed upon their agreement as applied to this
particular tract of land. The interpretation was contemporaneous with
the making of the agreement. Immediately after the agreement had
been made, Awes asked if they “had any lands listed up at that time,
and, he says, ‘I want your best snaps, that is your best decals now.””
Lonnevik thereupon handed him the memorandum of the land belong-
ing to the Mooers’s estate. There is no contention that there was any
misunderstanding as to the actual ownership of this land. Both par-
ties knew that it belonged to the Mooers’s estate, of which Mrs. Mooers
was the administratrix. They knew that Mrs. Mooers had indicated
that she was willing that the land be sold if it would bring $25 per
acre. But both parties knew that the administratrix could not fix any
definite price thereon. They knew that it could be sold only through
proceedings had in the county court; that notice of such sale must be
given; that all the world would have an opportunity to bid at the sale,
and that the land would go to the highest bidder. The defendant made
no objection to the condition of the title. He made no intimation that
the land should be excluded from the arrangement just made. He
examined the memorandum and retained it, and said he was going over
to see Mrs. Mooers about it. The evidence further shows that he did
go and see her. Not only did the defendant avail himself of the in-
formation thus given, but he also later had the plaintiffs furnish a
man and an automobile and take him out so that he could examine the
land. '

This all took place with the unquestioned knowledge on the part
of the defendant that this land belonged to the Mooers’s estate, and that
in any event title must be procured through a sale by the administratrix
in the manner prescribed by law. Can there be any reasonable room
for doubt but that when the plaintiffs called defendant’s attention to
the Mooers’ “snap,” and when the defendant looked over the so-called
list, which contained a description of the land and the buildings and
improvements thereon, that both parties assumed that this was within
the terms of the working agrecment just formulated? Can there be
any serious question but that when the defendant later availed himself
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of plaintiffs’ services in taking him out to examine the land, and locat-
ing the boundarics thereof, that both parties assumed that it was one
of the deals covered by the arrangement formerly made? I think not.
Nor do I believe that there is anything connected with the actual pur-
chase of the land by the defendant which entitles him to say that the
deal was not within the terms of the agreement, as intended and con-
strued by the parties.

It should also be remembered (as stated in the former dissent) that
in all matters arising between these parties, the defendant closed his
own deals with the owners of the lands. He did not require the plain-
tiffs to do this. He merely “took lands from their lists.” It will be
noted that in this case he took the so-called list or memorandum, and
said, “I will go and see Mrs. Mooers about it.” He did go and see
her. If the title to the property had been in her name, and if the
property had been hers to sell, he doubtless would have closed the deal,
the same as he closed other deals for lands “taken from plaintiffs’
lists.” He did, however, proceed to close the deal in the only way in
which it could be done, namely, by submitting a bid to Mrs. Mooers as
administratrix. When we consider the character of the title to this
land there is no essential difference between what defendant did in this
case, and what he did in other cases where he acquired title to lands
“taken from plaintiffs’ lists.,” -

The majority members persist in treating the relation between the
parties to this action as one between a real estate broker and a person
who employs such broker to purchase for, or obtain the sale to, him of
certain land at a stated price, on certain fixed terms. In such case,
of course, the broker has not earned the compensation stipulated to be
paid him unless he makes the purchase, or procures the sale, at the price
and on the terms stated. In other words, the broker cannot recover
the consideration agreed to be paid him for his service until he has
performed the service. DBut, as already indicated, that was not the
relation between the parties to this action, and that was not their con-
tract. Here the plaintiffs did not act as intermediaries in negotiating
the sale of land to the defendants. The defendant merely availed it-
self of the information received from plaintiffs’ lists, and whatever
gervices were incident thereto, and negotiated and closed its own deals
with the different owners. That was true of every deal that was con-
summated for land which defendant “took from plaintiff’s lists.”
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As was aptly remarked by the trial court (in the memorandum
opinion set out in the former dissent), “We are not making the con-
tracts for the parties.” The parties have the constitutional right to
make their own lawful contracts. All contracts must be so interpreted
as to give effect to the mutual intention of the partics as it existed at
the time of contracting so far as the same is ascertainable and lawful.
Comp. Laws 1913, § 5896. Even a written contract, the language of
which is ambiguous or doubtful, may be explained by reference to the
circumstances under which it was made and the matter to which it
relates. Comp. Laws 1913, § 5907. In interpreting such contracts
it is always competent to take into consideration the construction whick
the parties themselves have placed upon it. 6 R. C. L. p. 852, § 241.

Basing their argument upon the same basic error as to the nature
of the relations and contract between the partics, already referred to,
the majority members devote considerable space in the additional
opinion to the bids submitted respectively by the defendant and by
Serumgard. In this conncction it is well to note that the defendant
said nothing to Serumgard about its intention to put in a bid for the
land. He had no way of knowing that defendant would make a bid,
unless it informed him. There was, of course, no obligation on the
part of the defendant to purchase any of the lands “from plaintiffs’
lists.” The only obligation it had assumed was to pay $1 per acre
for each tract of land it “took” from such lists. While, as I construe
the contract between the parties, the bids are of no particular conse-
quence and have no material bearing on plaintiffs’ right to recover, it
will be noted that the bids of Awes and Serumgard were only a few
cents per acre apart. And the evidence shows that the land was listed
with the plaintiffs, by Mrs. Mooers, on April 3, 1916, at which time
she said she would accept $25 per acre for it. The sale was not made
until July 24th. If there were any crops on the land they most likely
were put in after the land was listed. And while there is no specific
testimony to that effect, it was assumed in questions asked upon the
trial that there were crops upon the land; and upon the oral argument
it was stated by Serumgard (who argued the case in person), in re-
sponse to questions of comments made by members of the court, that

the bid submitted by Serumgard represented $25 per acre for the land,
46 N. D—10.
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and that the amount in excess thereof represented the value of the seed
which the estate had furnished in putting some of the land into crop
that spring, and which crops were then on the land. The correctness
of that statement was not denied by appellant’s counsel.

It is stated in the supplemental opinion that Serumgard acted as
attorney for Mrs. Mooers in securing the license to sell. This state-
ment, while in a sense true, is likely to be misunderstood unless ex-
plained. Serumgard was not the attorney for the estate. He did not
act as Mrs. Mooers counsel in the probate proceedings. It is conceded
that another firm of Devils Lake attorneys were in charge of the pro-
ceedings for the probate of the Mooers’s estate. Serumgard’s only
connection with it arose out of the listing of the land with the plain-
tiffs and the proposed sale thereof. In order to make it possible to
have the land sold it was necessary to make the sale through proper
proceedings in the probate court, Mr. Serumgard, merely prepared the
petition for license to sell and the papers incidental thereto. The
record affirmatively shows that he did not even prepare the order con-
firming the sale of the administratrix’s deed.

It seems to me that the evidence in this case justified the jury in
finding that the agreement between the parties was what they said it
was. The parties contemporaneously with the making of the agree-
ment construed it as applicable to the land in controversy. The de-
fendant availed itself of the information given by plaintiffs; and (as
in other deals where it acquired lands taken from plaintiffs’ lists) it
closed the deal therefor,—closed it in the only manner in which it
could be closed. And, according to Lonnevik’s testimony (see former
dissent) Awes, after having purchased the land, recognized that the
defendant company was indebted to the plaintiffs for compensation
as a result of the acquisition by the company of the land in question.

The case was submitted to the jury, not upon the few isolated ques-
tions and answers set out in the per curiam opinion, but upon all the
evidence contained in the eighty-five pages of the transcript. The jury
saw the witnesses, and heard their story, and under proper instructions,
said that the agreement between the parties related to and embraced
the transaction in question. The learned trial court, after full re-
flection, on motion for a new trial said there was sufficient evidence to
justify the jury in arriving at this conclusion. In my opinion this
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court is not justified in saying that the conclusions of the jury and of
the trial court are contrary to, and have no substantial support in, the
evidence.

Broxson, J., concurs.

STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA EX REL. LAUREAS J. WEHE,
a Commissioner of the North Dakota Workmen’s Compensatnon
Bureau, Respondent, v.. NORTH DAKOTA WORKMEN’S
COMPENSATION BUREAU, John N. Hagan, Commissioner
of Agriculture and Labor and Ex-Officio Chairman and Member
of the North Dakota Workmen’s Compensation Bureau, and S.
8. McDonald, Commissioner and Member of the North Dakota
Workmen’s Compensation Bureau (Together with the Plaintiff
as Such Constitutes the Full Membership of Said Bureau), as
Such Members of the North Dakota Workmen’s Compensation
Bureau, Appellants.

(180 N. W. 49.)

Mandamus — in mandamus to obtain salary warrant, answer held to show
petitioner’s legal removal.

In a petition for mandamus, the petitioner sought to compel the issuance
of a salary warrant. The defendants answered, alleging that the petitioner
had been removed from office. The answer also set forth the proceedings had
to remove the petitioner. A demurrer was interposed to the answer. It is

held:
For reasons stated in the opinion, the answer sufficiently alleges the exist-
ence of legal grounds for removal and the exercise of the power,

Opinion filed November 16, 1920.

Appeal from district court of Burleigh County, Nuessle, J.

Reversed.

Foster & Baker, for appellants.

The petition is insufficient and the demurrer should be carried back
to it. Rush v. Philadelphia, 62 Pa. Super. Ct. 84; Tribune Printing

R
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& Binding Co. v. Barnes, 7 N. D. 391, 75 N. W. 904; Clay County v.
Simonsen, 1 Dak. 387, 46 N. W. 592, adopted in 2 Dak. 112, 2 N. W.
260.

The answer affirmatively shows the jurisdiction of the governor.
Re Guden, 151 N. Y. 529, 64 N. E. 451.

A public officer appointed for a fixed term subject to removal, gen-
erally for cause, may be removed without notice and hearing. People
v. Welty, 75 Ill. App. 514; Hertel v. Boismenue, 229 1ll. 474, 82 N.
E. 208; People ex rel. Platt v. Stout, 19 How. Pr. 176, 11 Abb. Pr.
17. :

Where an answer contains a denial of a material allegation essential

to plaintiff’s right to relief it is error to sustain a demurrer to tho
answer as a whole, on the ground that the answer does not state facts
suflicient to constitute a defense, although the answer contains an at-
tempted affirmative defense. Hill v. Walsh, 6 S. D. 421, 61 N. V.
182. This casc is approved in Redwater Land & Canal Co. v. Reid,
26 S. D. 466, 128 N. W. 706 ; Purdon v. Shock (Okla.) 18+ Pac. 125;
Marshall Mfg. Co. v. Dickerson (Okla.) 155 Pac. 224; Johnson v.
-J. R. Watkins Medical Co. (Colo.) 182 Pac. 879; Ray v. Shem-
well, 174 Ky. 54, 191 S. W. 662; Daugherty v. Daugherty, 152 Ky.
732, 154 S. W. 9; Tuxworth v. Barber (Ga. App.) 94 S. E. 1042;
Bostick v. Haney (Tex. Civ. App.) 209 S. W. 477.

The only sort of defense which may be attacked by demurrer is a
defense consisting of new matter. Comp. Laws 1913, § 7452 ; Onder-
donk v. Peale, Peacock & Kerr, 93 N. Y. Supp. 506; Moreley v. Cole,
38 S. D. 564, 162 N. W, 367.

i Where the averments of an answer are incomplecte, ambiguous, or
defective the remedy is a motion to make more definite and certain.
Lamoure v. Lasell, 26 N. D, 647, 145 N. W. 577,

The defendants in the case at bar are required by law to audit the
salarics and compensation of members of the bureau. N, D. Sess.
Laws 1919, § 4, 9 3, chap. 162 ; State ex rel. Butle<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>